ISSN (print) 1454-7406 ISSN (electronic) 2393-4603

"ION IONESCU DE LA BRAD" IASI UNIVERSITY OF LIFE SCIENCES (IULS)



SCIENTIFIC PAPERS VETERINARY MEDICINE

LUCRĂRI ȘTIINȚIFICE SERIA MEDICINĂ VETERINARĂ

2023

VOLUME 66

NO. 2

PUBLISHING "ION IONESCU DE LA BRAD"



Coordinators of Journal

Manager Editor: PhD, Prof. Gerard JITĂREANU - IULS Iași Assistant Editor: PhD, Prof. Liviu MIRON - IULS Iași Members:

- PhD, Assoc. Prof. Denis ŢOPA IULS Iași
- PhD, Assoc. Prof. Liviu IRIMIA IULS Iași
- PhD, Prof. Paul Corneliu BOIŞTEANU IULS Iaşi
- PhD, Prof. Mihai MAREȘ IULS Iași

Editorial BOARD of "Veterinary Medicine" SERIES

Editor-in-chief: PhD, Prof. Mihai MAREŞ - IULS Iaşi Assistant Editor: PhD, Assoc. Prof. Dragoş Constantin ANIŢĂ - IULS Iaşi

Editors:

- PhD, Prof. Abdelfatah NOUR Purdue University, SUA
- PhD, Prof. Francois CRESPEAU ENV Alfort, France
- PhD, Prof. Marc ELOIT Institut Pasteur, Paris France
- PhD, Prof. Gheorghe SAVUŢA IULS Iași
- PhD, Prof. Gheorghe SOLCAN IULS Iași
- Assoc. Prof. Dorina CARTER University of Liverpool, UK
- PhD, Prof. Gheorghe DRUGOCIU IULS Iași
- PhD, Assoc. Prof. Valentin NĂSTASĂ IULS Iași
- PhD, Lect. Mariana Grecu -IULS Iași

SCIENTIFIC Reviewers:

- PhD, Prof. Abdelfatah NOUR Purdue University, SUA
- PhD, Prof. Gheorghe SAVUȚA IULS Iași
- PhD, Prof. Liviu MIRON IULS Iași
- PhD, Prof. Gheorghe SOLCAN IULS Iași
- Acad. Ion TODERAŞ Zoology Institute, Chişinău, Republica Moldova
- Assoc Prof. Dorina CARTER University of Liverpool, UK
- PhD, Prof. Elena VELESCU IULS Iași
- PhD, Prof. Gheorghe DRUGOCIU IULS Iași
- PhD, Prof. Vasile VULPE IULS Iași PhD,
- Prof. Cornel CĂTOI USAMV Cluj-Napoca PhD,
- Prof. Gabriel PREDOI USAMV București PhD,
- Prof. Viorel HERMAN USAMVB Timişoara PhD,
- Prof. Sorin-Aurelian PAŞCA IULS Iaşi PhD,
- Assoc. Prof. Valentin NĂSTASĂ IULS Iași PhD,
- Assoc. Prof. Adriana Elena ANIȚĂ IULS Iași PhD.

CONTENTS

The impact of oxidative stress on reproductive disorders in cows – a review	5 - 11
Horațiu Rafa, Monica Irina Nan, Sanda Andrei	
"Hoof woodpecker" at coronary band and hoof wall level in forestry environement working horses Constantin Lazăr, Iulian Mihăilă, Vasile Vulpe	12 - 17
Study regarding effect of triss-based and caniplus extenders on several sperm parameters in medium-large breed of dogs Mihai Borzan, Andreas Zamani, Mihai Cenariu, Emoke Pall, Ioan Paşca, Adrian Cîmpean	18 - 21
The benefits of unconventional (homemade) food administered to dogs with digestive disorders Sorana Daina, Adrian Macri	22 - 27
Effect of storage conditions on mda levels of different class and type of dry dog food Sorana Daina, Adrian Macri	28 - 30
Practices and models for monitoring and control of the microbial residue in pigs and poultry applied in Romania Madalina Belous, Marian Mihaiu, Sorin Dan, Alexandra Tabaran	31 - 35
What's happen when pigs or poultry are delivred to slaughter prior to the end of withdrawal period? Madalina Belous, Daniel Cuca	36 - 39
A case of bilateral cryptorchidism, ultrasound diagnosis and surgical therapy in tomcat Iulian Mihăilă, Liviu-Catalin Burtan, Romelia Pop, Vasile Vulpe	40 - 43
The use of platelet-rich plasma to improve in vitro embryo production and implantation rate in mammals Silviu-Ionuț Borș	44 - 49
Learning curve of laparoscopic ovariectomy in cats – a case series Lucia Victoria Bel, Cosmina Andreea Dejescu, Iulia Melega	50 - 53
Microbiological approaches regarding the bacterial microflora in some assortments of dairy products Rita Golban	54 - 59
Bacteriological research on the incidence of bacterial microflora in some varieties of fish Rita Golban	60 - 64

Hind limbs pressure analysis in chronic osteo-aticular model of rabbits Ioan Hutu, Bianca Cornelia Lungu, Bratu Daniel, Spătaru Ioana-Irina, Torda Iuliu, Calin Mircu	65 - 68
In vitro bisphenol a effect on tfam and sirt1 gene expression in porcine oocyte mitochondria Ioana-Irina Spătaru, Oana-Maria Boldura, Bianca Cornelia Lungu, Simona Marc, Iuliu Torda, Bratu Daniel, Gabriel Otavă, Ioan Huțu, Călin Mircu	69 - 72
SARS-CoV-2 infection in cats and dogs: clinical analyses Serban Morosan, Andreea Cozma, Anca Dascalu	73 - 75
The 3RS in tumor micro-environement studies: empirical bases of the ethical regulation Serban Morosan, Andreea Cozma, Anca Dascalu	76 - 79
Dogs as sentinels for west nile virus? Iasi, Romania exposure Serban Morosan, Andreea Cozma, Anca Dascalu, Luciana Crivei	80 - 82
Pilot study regarding reproduction and growth in Saint Bernard and Caucasian Shepherds dog breeds Mihai Borzan, Zoltan Gal	83 - 88

THE IMPACT OF OXIDATIVE STRESS ON REPRODUCTIVE DISORDERS IN COWS – A REVIEW

Horațiu RAFA¹, Monica Irina NAN¹, Sanda ANDREI^{1*}

¹ Department of Preclinical Sciences, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University of Agricultural Sciences and Veterinary Medicine, Cluj-Napoca, Romania

e-mail: sandrei@usamvcluj.ro

Abstract

During the transition period dairy cattle are more susceptible to disease because many aspects of the immune system are altered by uncontrolled inflammation, a condition that has as a cause the metabolic adaptation of the cows. Inflammation and oxidative stress are interlinked, and contribute to the evolution of reproduction diseases of dairy cows. Our review highlights to light scientific data on oxidative stress and reproductive disorders in dairy cows. The information collected is significant for animal welfare and reproduction, and it will create the foundation for future research on the connection between oxidative stress, reproductive diseases, and nutrition in cows.

Key words: cows, oxidative stress, reproductive disorders

INTRODUCTION

Since dairy cows use large reserves of glucose for the synthesis of lactose in milk during the approximately six-week transition period three weeks prior to and three weeks following calving it is important to understand the relationship between oxidative stress and reproduction diseases in these animals. Ruminants can produce glucose through a process called gluconeogenesis. Propionic acid is one resource that is utilized in the production of glucose. Adipocytes release non-esterified fatty acids (NEFAs) through lipolysis, which is caused by a decrease in the secretion of insulin as a result of low blood glucose levels (Herdt, 2000).

Hypoglycemia lowers energy levels and milk production. Ketones are another type of metabolite that enter the bloodstream as a result of the liver's metabolism of fatty acids. The β -hydroxybutyrate (BHB) is the most prevalent ketonic body and can be used to assess the body's spectrum of lipid mobilization as well as negative energy balance (NEB) (Sordillo and Raphael, 2013).

Oxidative stress is caused by the generation and excessive accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) as a result of an imbalance in the prooxidants/antioxidants ratio favor in of prooxidants. Many pathological conditions, including degenerative diseases, cardiovascular diseases, immuno-inflammatory lesions, nervous system disorders, diabetes, thyroid disorders, gastric ulcers, and even viral infections, are linked to the state of oxidative stress as a cause in both

their initial development and progression. From an experimental point of view, increased concentrations of products that result from the oxidative degradation of biomolecules, lipids and lipid components, amino acids and proteins, and nucleic acids can be observed in the state of oxidative stress (Andrei et al., 2014).

Lipid mobilization and oxidative stress during the transition period

Studies of Valko et al. (2007) and Contreras et al. (2010) provide evidence in favor of the theory that a high level of lipid mobilization promotes infectious disorders including mastitis and metritis. One of the primary causes for the immune system's decreased antibacterial activity during the start of lactation is lipid metabolism (Kimura et al., 1999). Because β -hydroxybutyrate affects leukocyte and neutrophil activity, ketosis increases the risk of mastitis and other infections in cows (Sordillo and Raphael, 2013).

Neutrophils and macrophages are negatively impacted by decreased glucose concentration caused by NEB since they require glucose to maintain their antimicrobial activity (Suriyasathaporn et al., 2000; Calder et al., 2007; Sordillo and Raphael, 2013). O'Boyle et al. (2012) state that blood glucose concentration decreases during intense lipid mobilization may restrict the amount of energy required for immune cell populations to function appropriately intended.

Other production-related processes, including milk synthesis and secretion, may compete with an active inflammatory response for limited nutrients (Plank and Hill, 2000). One possible explanation for the decreased milk production of dairy cows during diseases could be the competition for an insufficient supply of glucose. Additionally, because BHB inhibits leukocyte antimicrobial activity, hyperketonemia might negatively impact a number of critical immunological systems and make transition cows more susceptible to disease (Suriyasathaporn et al. 2000).

To assess the impact of milk production and NEB on various immune parameters pregnant dairy cows were mastectomised while maintaining the endocrine changes associated with late pregnancy and parturition (Kimura et al. 1999; Kimura et al. 2002; Nonnecke et al. 2003). The mastectomised cows showed extremely low increases in NEFA during the periparturient phase in comparison to the cows with intact mammary glands. Even while immune function in cows that had their mastectomies was temporarily reduced around calving, lymphocyte and neutrophil functions were significantly diminished in cows that had their mammary glands eliminated (Kimura et al., 1999; Nonnecke et al., 2003). Additional study has shown that parturition itself, and the resulting alterations in steroid hormone levels, is not the primary immunosuppressive component in periparturient cows. According to Sordillo and Mavangira (2014), the detrimental effect on immune cell populations was most likely caused by the higher metabolic needs of early lactation.

The composition and concentration of free fatty acids in the plasma changes during lipid mobilization, which is important for immune cell activity and particularly for their structure. Thus, palmitic acid, stearic acid, and oleic acid constitute the majority of free fatty acids during parturition. On the other hand, there is a decrease in the amount of docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA). During parturition, the profile of free fatty acids may impact the cow's proinflammatory response (Douglas et al. 2007; Contreras et al. 2010; Sordillo and Raphael, 2013).

Free fatty acids modulate the inflammatory response by influencing the synthesis of eicosanoids, lipid mediators. Leukotrienes, prostaglandins, thromboxanes, resolvins, lipoxins, and proteins are examples of eicosanoids, which are largely produced by macrophages and endothelial cells. The phospholipids that compose the membranes of cells are the source of eicosanoids, which are produced from omega-3 and omega-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids. ADH and AEP are examples of the omega-3 acids that are involved in the synthesis of eicosanoids. Linoleic acid and arachidonic acid are examples of omega-6 acids. These fatty acids are substrates for lipoxygenases or cyclooxygenases that oxidize substrates enzymatically. While eicosanoids derived from omega-3 acids reduce inflammation, those derived from omega-6 acids increase the inflammatory response (Douglas et al. 2007; Serhan, 2009; Contreras et al. 2010; Sordillo and Raphael, 2013).

Inflammation and oxidative stress interact in order to produce chronic inflammation. Through the activity of reactive oxygen species (ROS), which activate nuclear factor kB and stimulate the expression of mediating lipids, oxidative stress affects the pathways of the proinflammatory response. Oxidative stress is made exacerbated by the accumulation of excess ROS in the mitochondria as a result of TNF- α exposure to endothelial cells and macrophages (Sordillo and Raphael, 2013).

Cows with moderate to severe fatty livers showed higher blood amounts of TNF- α , according to Ohtsuka et al. (2001). During the first week of lactation and the late stages of lactation, TNF- κ administrations to cows induced insulin resistance, higher liver levels of triglycerides, and elevated inflammatory markers, all of which negatively impacted the cows' health and the production of milk (Yuan et al. 2013; Sordillo and Mavangira, 2014).

Proinflammatory molecules, nitric oxide, cytokines and eicosanoids are released during inflammation, courtesy to local immune and nonimmune cells of the affected tissue, which recognize pathogens through receptors (Sordillo and Raphael, 2013). The local endothelium is affected by these inflammatory mediators, which increase blood volume and facilitate leukocyte migration to the infection site. Acute phase proteins are released from the liver, tachycardia, reduced appetite, and hyperthermia are further symptoms of a systemic inflammatory response that can be caused by cytokines and eicosanoids. The invasive infections are eliminated after the inflammatory reaction, the immune system returns to normal, and the tissues recover their typical morphology and function (Sordillo and Raphael, 2013).

A large amount of additional information indicates that an increase in infectious and metabolic disorders during the period of transition is an indicators of oxidative stress, modified energy metabolism, and impaired host defenses (Sordillo et al., 2009, Sordillo and Raphael, 2013, Sordillo and Mavangira, 2014)

Oxidative stress and reproductive disorders

Follicular cyst

When a mature follicle doesn't ovulation and continues to mature for 10 days or more, it can develop into a cyst. There are two types of cysts: luteinized and follicular cysts. Low levels of progesterone and a thin wall are characteristics of follicular cysts. Thick walls and elevated levels of progesterone are two characteristics of luteinized cysts (Douthwaite and Dobson, 2000).

Nutritional deficits are the main factor causing ovarian follicular cyst formation in the early postpartum period. Ovarian follicular cyst incidence is associated with the length and/or severity of the negative energy balance (Vanholder et al., 2006).

The ROS level dropped between 36 and 84 hours after PGF2a was given to a cow with a cystic ovary. Conversely, cows with cysts had higher levels of antioxidants than other cows with regular ovulation. The physiological processes that lead to ovulation could have been disturbed by the imbalance between oxidants and antioxidants, which promotes the development of ovarian cysts (Talukder et al., 2014).

According to Brodzki et al. (2019), cows with luteal cysts displayed higher levels of TNF-a and IL-6 than cows with other ovarian structures. Moreover, cows with multiple types of ovarian cysts have been shown to have elevated levels of IL-10. Additionally, both forms of cysts in cows were associated with high levels of acute phase proteins, haptoglobin [Hp] and serum amyloid A [SAA]; however, the concentrations of both proteins were higher in cows with follicular cysts. Inhibiting the local inflammatory response and preventing an autoimmune reaction to the tissues is an essential function of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10. Leukocyte passage into the ovarian follicle, proinflammatory cytokines, chemokines, and enzymes actively involved in ovulation are released during the preovulatory period since ovulation is considered as an inflammatory event. IL-10 levels at that point may have an impact on immunosuppressive activity and ovulation suppression.

Metritis

An infection called metritis can develop in a cow's uterus during the postpartum period. Typically, this is a gram-negative anaerobic bacterial infection caused on by bacteria that entered the uterus via iatrogenic means or colonized the vagina. It has been demonstrated that immunosuppression during the postpartum period, starting 1-2 weeks before to calving, predisposes cows to metritis. Metritis was shown to be 2.58 and 4.32 times more prevalent in cows with dystocia than in animals who had a normal calving. A possible approach in order to counteract this prepartum immunosuppression is modifying the duodenum's omega-6: omega-3 fatty acid ratio. It appears that the functional properties of mononuclear cells can be enhanced in multiparous cows before calving by raising the n-6 : n-3 ratio. Research has indicated that consuming a diet high in omega-3 to omega-6 fatty acids (15:1) or more, may improve reproductive health during the period of lactation (Cargile and Tracy, 2015).

In relation to the development of postpartum uterine infections in zebu cows. Baithalu et al. (2016) noticed changes in peripheral concentrations of total antioxidant capacity (TAC), malondialdehyde (MDA), and nitric oxide in association with the endometrial expression of genes encoding antioxidant enzymes. In the peripartum period, low serum TAC and high levels of MDA and nitric oxide can affect the expression of antioxidant genes in the endometrium, compromising uterine health and leading to the development of postpartum puerperal metritis and clinical endometritis in cows. Consequently, postpartum uterine infection in cows can occur due to the elevated level of oxidative stress during the prepartum and postpartum periods as well as immediately after calving.

According to a study by Kizil et al. (2010), there was a decrease in glutathione peroxidase (GPx) and catalase (CAT) activity simultaneously with an increase in plasma MDA concentration in cows with puerperal metritis compared to the control group. The amplification of oxidative stress during metritis was confirmed by the rise in MDA concentrations and the suppression of antioxidant enzyme activity. The group of cows with puerperal metritis exhibited significantly lower plasma concentrations of vitamin A, E, C, and β carotene on an individual level compared with the control group.

Postpartum hypocalcemia

Clinical or subclinical hypocalcemia in cows during the periparturient period increases the incidence of secondary diseases like metritis, dystocia, uterine prolapse, and placental retention. Hypocalcemia can result from a number of factors, including as insufficient calcium in the prepartum diet, high dietary phosphorus levels, low magnesium levels, and older age. Fatigue, cold extremities, and a weak, quick pulse are the most typical symptoms of milk fever that are seen during stage 2 of calving. It is thought that the pathognomonic diagnosis of hypocalcemia in cattle is serum total calcium of less than 8.0 mg/dL. Reducing the amount of calcium consumed prior to calving so that the animal's total daily absorption of calcium is less than 20 g is the conventional strategy for reducing the frequency of hypocalcemia. As a result, more calcium is reabsorbed from the bone and the production of bovine parathyroid hormone is stimulated (Cargile and Tracy, 2015).

Research indicates that some feed management strategies, such as the differentiated cation-anion diet (DCAD), which includes negatively charged anionic minerals in the diet of the cows, can be used to reduce the risks associated with calving. Calcium induces a hormonal response in the postpartum period, preventing calcium insufficiency and preparing the animal for a high demand for calcium during this time. The ideal time to employ anionic diets is 21 days prior to calving, as this leads to a permanent mobilization of calcium regulating systems and prevent hypocalcemia (Albani et al., 2017).

Meyer and Harvey (2004) suggest that during calving, oxidative stress occurs in cells due to high muscle effort and high calcium demand, making the animal more vulnerable to disorder such as hypocalcemia, placental retention, and postpartum metritis.

Dairy cows who receive an anionic diet prior to calving experience positive health effects. This diet generally lowers the generation of free radicals, lowers lipid peroxidation during the postpartum period, and avoids subclinical hypocalcemia. The constant increase in sulfur and chlorine concentrations, as well as the decrease in potassium and sodium levels during the last three weeks of gestation, are evidence of the effects of anionic diets, which may significantly reduce hypocalcemia in cows. The DCAD diet, which results in a slower decrease in calcium and a faster mobilization of it, is the source of the appearance of a faster calcium homeostasis (Peacock, 2010). The total levels of protein, albumin, globulin, triglycerides, cholesterol. urea. aspartate aminotransferase (ASAT), alanine aminotransferase (ALAT), and gamma-glutamyltransferase (GGT) were not significantly affected by the anionic diet. However, during the transition period, the majority of these variables exhibited These modifications occurred modifications. because the body needs a lot of nutrients at this precise moment in order to produce colostrum and milk (Albani et al., 2017).

Fetal membrane retention

The main cause of fetal membrane retention is the fetal cotyledon's villi failing to separate from the mother crypts of the caruncle. The process of separation ends approximately eight hours post calving, depending on the animal's age and parity. In general, between 0.5–12 hours after calving, all components of the allantochorion and amniosis should be removed (Peter, 2015).

Placental retention can be caused by a number of conditions, including dystocia, malnutrition, higher parity, and hormonal defects. Furthermore, a lack of certain vitamins and minerals may result in placental retention. The deficiency of microelements and the negative energy balance indicate synergism regarding the oxidative stress during the prepartum phase. In addition, the increased metabolic requirements of late pregnancy, calving, and lactation may exacerbate the generation and the accumulation of ROS (Elsayed et al., 2020).

The naturally detached and retained placenta exhibited altered antioxidant enzyme activity shortly after parturition, particularly for the enzymes GPx, superoxide dismutase (SOD), glutathione transferase (GSH-Tr), and catalase (CAT), Additionally, lipid peroxidation was shown to be higher in the placental tissues of cows with retained fetal membranes than in control cows. This was demonstrated by the accumulation of conjugated dienes, hydroperoxides, and MDA. Formylokinurenine and bityrosine levels, two indicators of the intensity of protein oxidation processes, were higher in cows with placental retention than in those that had the placenta eliminated. The parameter used to determine the extent of DNA oxidation, hydroxyguanine (80HdG), was shown to be higher in cows with retained placenta. (Kankofer et al., 1996; Kankofer, 2001a; Kankofer, 2001b; Kankofer, 2001c; Kankofer, 2002).

Data from the literature indicated that there was a distinct pattern during time for cows with and without placental retention when it came to total antioxidant capacity and vitamin A. In general, only cows without placental retention exhibited the prepartum increase in total antioxidant capacity, and those animals' values were slightly greater after parturition and one week after delivery than those from cows with placental retention. The placental tissue's total antioxidant capacity (TAC) was determined right after delivery. Compared to healthy cows, the tissues of cows with placental retention exhibited higher levels of TAC. Compared to cows without placental retention, cows with placental retention showed lower concentrations of vitamin C and SOD, but higher levels of GPx and CAT activities. The decreased values for TAC in the blood of placental retention-affected cows may point to a redistribution of the total antioxidant capacity in the placental tissue of these cows (Kankofer et. al, 2010).

Vitamin A levels have been demonstrated to increase antepartum and then decrease after one week in cows without placental retention. The vitamin A content in cows with placental retention remained unchanged. Retinol concentrations have been shown to be reduced in postpartum nonretentive cows than in placental retained cows. The different time variations in TAC and Vitamin A in cows with and without retained fetal membranes may indicate that the latter require more antioxidants in order to deal with specific oxidative stress in the placenta, which may have an impact on the placental membranes' proper release (Kankofer et. al, 2010).

CONCLUSION

The scientific literature regarding oxidative stress and reproductive diseases in dairy cows has been highlighted by our review. We believe this information is significant because it is applicable to the areas of animal welfare and reproduction, and it will serve as a basis for future studies that investigate the relationship between oxidative stress, reproduction diseases, and nutrition in the same group of cows.

REFERENCES

- Albani, K. D., Da Silva, A. S., Machado, G., Bottari, N. B., Alves, M. S., Campigotto, G., Fritzen A., Schetinger M. R. C., Morsch V. M., Zaboot R., Lopes, L. S. (2017). Acta Scientiae Veterinariae, 45(1517), 1-10.
- Andrei, S., Bunea, A., & Pintea, A. (2014).
 In Stresul oxidativ şi antioxidanţi naturali (pp. 73-75). Cluj-Napoca: AcademicPres.
- Baithalu, R., Singh, S., Kumaresan, A., Mohanty, A., Mohanty, T., Kumar, S., . . . Agarwal, S. (2016). Transcriptional abundance of antioxidant enzymes in endometrium and their circulating levels in Zebu cows with and without uterine infection. Animal Reproduction Science, 177, 79-87.
- Brodzki, P., Brodzki, A., Krakowski, L., Dąbrowski, R., Szczubiał, M., & Bochniarz, M. (2019). Levels of selected cytokines and acute–phase proteins in the serum of dairy cows with cystic ovarian disease and those in follicular and luteal

phases of normal ovarian cycle. Research in Veterinary Science, 123, 20-25.

- Calder, P. C., Dimitriadis, G., & Newsholme, P. (2007). Glucose metabolism in lymphoid and inflammatory cells and tissues. Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care, 10(4), 531-540.
- Cargile, B., & Tracy, D. (2015). Interaction of Nutrition and Reproduction in the Dairy Cow. In 911038752 716987881 R. M. Hopper (Author), Bovine reproduction (pp. 283-289). Ames, IA: John Wiley & Sons.
- Contreras, G., O'Boyle, N., Herdt, T., & Sordillo, L. (2010). Lipomobilization in periparturient dairy COWS influences the composition of plasma NONESTERIFIED fatty acids and leukocyte phospholipid fatty acids. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 93(6), 2508-2516.
- Bouglas, G., Rehage, J., Beaulieu, A., Bahaa, A., & Drackley, J. (2007). Prepartum nutrition alters fatty acid composition in plasma, adipose tissue, and liver lipids of periparturient dairy cows. Journal of Dairy Science, 90(6), 2941-2959.
- Douthwaite, R., & Dobson, H. (2000). Comparison of different methods of diagnosis of cystic ovarian disease in cattle and an assessment of its treatment with a progesterone-releasing intravaginal device. Veterinary Record, 147(13), 355-359.
- Elsayed, D. H., Abdelrazek, H. M., El- Azzazi, F. E., Ismail, S. A., & Mahmoud, Y. K. (2020). Hormonal and metabolic profiles related to placental retention with emphasis on oxidative stress and serotonin receptors in pluriparous buffaloes. Reproduction in Domestic Animals, 55(4), 469-478.
- Herdt, T. H. (2000). Ruminant Adaptation to Negative Energy Balance. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Food Animal Practice, 16(2), 215-230.
- 12. Kankofer, M. (2001a). The levels of lipid peroxidation products in bovine retained and not retained placenta. Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids (PLEFA), 64(1), 33-36.
- Kankofer, M. (2001b). Protein Peroxidation Processes in Bovine Retained and Not-retained Placenta. Journal of Veterinary Medicine Series A, 48(4), 207-212.

- Kankofer, M. (2001c). Antioxidative Defence Mechanisms Against Reactive Oxygen Species in Bovine Retained and Not-Retained Placenta: Activity of Glutathione Peroxidase, Glutathione Transferase, Catalase and Superoxide Dismutase. Placenta, 22(5), 466-472.
- 15. Kankofer, M. (2002). Placental Release/Retention in Cows and its Relation to Peroxidative Damage of Macromolecules. Reproduction in Domestic Animals, 37(1), 27-30.
- 16. Kankofer, M., Albera, E., Feldman, M., Gundling, N., & Hoedemaker, M. (2010). Comparison of antioxidative/oxidative profiles in blood plasma of cows with and without retained fetal placental membranes. Theriogenology, 74(8), 1385-1395.
- Kankofer, M., Lipko, J., & Zdunczyk, S. (2005). Total antioxidant capacity of bovine spontaneously released and retained placenta. Pathophysiology, 11(4), 215-219.
- Kankofer, M., Podolak, M., Fidecki, M., & Gondek, T. (1996). Activity of placental glutathione-peroxidase and superoxidedismutase in cows with and without retained fetal membranes. Placenta, 17(8), 591-594.
- Kimura, K., Goff, J. P., & Kehrli, M. E. (1999). Effects of the Presence of the Mammary Gland on Expression of Neutrophil Adhesion Molecules and Myeloperoxidase Activity in Periparturient Dairy Cows. Journal of Dairy Science, 82(11), 2385-2392.
- 20. Kimura, K., Goff, J. P., Kehrli, M. E., Harp, J. A., & Nonnecke, B. J. (2002). Effects of MASTECTOMY on composition of peripheral BLOOD MONONUCLEAR cell populations In periparturient dairy cows. Journal of Dairy Science, 85(6), 1437-1444.
- Kizil, O., Akar, Y., Yuksel, M., & Saat, N. (2010). Oxidative stress in cows with acute puerperal metritis. Revue De Medecine Veterinaire, 161(7), 353-357.
- 22. Meyer, D. J., & Harvey, J. W. (2004). Veterinary laboratory medicine: Interpretation and diagnosis. St. Louis, MO: Saunders.
- 23. Nonnecke, B., Kimura, K., Goff, J., & Kehrli, M. (2003). Effects of the mammary gland on functional capacities of blood mononuclear leukocyte populations from

periparturient cows. Journal of Dairy Science, 86(7), 2359-2368.

- O'Boyle, N., Contreras, G., Mattmiller, S., & Sordillo, L. (2012). Changes in glucose transporter expression in monocytes of periparturient dairy cows. Journal of Dairy Science, 95(10), 5709-5719.
- 25. Ohtsuka, H., Koiwa, M., Hatsugaya, A., Kudo, K., Hoshi, F., Itoh, N., Yokota H., Okada H., Kawamura, S. (2001). Relationship between Serum TNF activity and insulin resistance in dairy cows affected with naturally Occurring fatty liver. Journal of Veterinary Medical Science, 63(9), 1021-1025.
- 26. Peter, A. T. (2015). Retained Fetal Membranes. In 911062589 717002254 R. M. Hopper (Author), Bovine reproduction (p. 431). Ames, IA: John Wiley & Sons.
- 27. Plank, L. D., & Hill, G. L. (2000). Sequential metabolic changes following induction of systemic inflammatory response in patients with severe sepsis or major blunt trauma. World Journal of Surgery, 24(6), 630-638.
- Raphael, W., & Sordillo, L. (2013). Dietary polyunsaturated fatty acids and inflammation: The role of phospholipid biosynthesis. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 14(10), 21167-21188.
- 29. Serhan, C. N. (2009). Systems approach to inflammation resolution: Identification of novel anti-inflammatory and pro-resolving mediators. Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis, 7, 44-48.
- 30. Sharma, N., Singh, N. K., Singh, O. P., Pandey, V., & Verma, P. K. (2011). Oxidative Stress and Antioxidant Status during Transition Period in Dairy Cows. Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences, 24(4), 479-484.
- 31. Sordillo, L. M., & Raphael, W. (2013). Significance of Metabolic Stress, Lipid Mobilization, and Inflammation on Transition Cow Disorders. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Food Animal Practice, 29(2), 267-278.
- 32. Sordillo, L. M., Contreras, G. A., & Aitken, S. L. (2009). Metabolic factors affecting the inflammatory response of periparturient dairy cows. Animal Health Research Reviews, 10(1), 53-63.
- 33. Sordillo, L., & Mavangira, V. (2014). The nexus between nutrient metabolism, oxidative stress and inflammation in transition cows. Animal Production Science, 54(9), 1204.

- 34. Suriyasathaporn, W., Heuer, C., Noordhuizen-Stassen, E. N., & Schukken, Y. H. (2000). Hyperketonemia and the impairment of udder defense: A review. Veterinary Research, 31(4), 397-412.
- 35. Talukder, S., Ingenhoff, L., Kerrisk, K., & Celi, P. (2014). Plasma oxidative stress biomarkers and progesterone profiles in a dairy cow diagnosed with an ovarian follicular cyst. Veterinary Quarterly, 34(2), 113-117.
- 36. Valko, M., Leibfritz, D., Moncol, J., Cronin, M. T., Mazur, M., & Telser, J. (2007). Free radicals and antioxidants in normal physiological functions and human disease. The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology, 39(1), 44-84.
- Vanholder, T., Opsomer, G., & Kruif, A. D. (2006). Aetiology and pathogenesis of cystic ovarian follicles in dairy cattle: A review. Reproduction Nutrition Development, 46(2), 105-119.
- 38. Yuan, K., Farney, J. K., Mamedova, L. K., Sordillo, L. M., & Bradford, B. J. (2013). Tnf α altered inflammatory responses, impaired health and productivity, but did not affect glucose or lipid metabolism in early-lactation dairy cows. PLoS ONE, 8(11).

"HOOF WOODPECKER" AT CORONARY BAND AND HOOF WALL LEVEL IN FORESTRY ENVIRONEMENT WORKING HORSES

Constantin LAZĂR¹, Iulian MIHĂILĂ¹, Vasile VULPE,

e-mail: margivet_srl@yahoo.com

Abstract

Hoof woodpeckers or penetrating foreign bodies in the hoof are frequently found in working horses. A special pathology is encountered in horses that work in forestry environment. Unlike the metalic foreing body (so called clou de rue) that just penetrate the sole, the wood goes in by hammering (by sudden pressure). Movement between the hoof and the 3rd phalanx causes the foreign body to advance in depth.

The study was carried out on a number of 54 working horses in the forestry environment, males, aged between 4 and 14 years. The diagnosis was established on the basis of the clinical examination and the history, the radiological examination being inconclusive.

As a particularity, the fragmentation of wooden foreign bodies does not occur at the time of extraction but at the time of hammering through the hard tissues due to the forces that determine the change of the penetration trajectory.

Restraint was achieved by physical and chemical means (sedation and anesthesia). The wound was cleaned and then the hole in the hoof wall was widened with the help of the hoof knife. The foreign body was extracted using a thick forceps or a dental extraction forceps.

The dressing was changed every 48h until healing. The wound had been washed with potassium permanganate solution (KMnO4) or betadine 10%.

Key words: wood foreign body, hoof woodpecker, horse

INTRODUCTION

A special situation is encountered in the case of horses working in the sylvatic environment. During movement among branches, when the horse lifts its leg to move forward, the leg can get trapped in branches. When the leg is pulled up, splinters can implant at the level of the crown or horn box, between the 3rd phalanx and the horn box separating the dermal lamella from the epidermal lamellae of the hoof wall.

Unlike the metal foreign body that just penetrate the horn box, the wood goes in by knocking (by sudden pressure). Movement between the horn box and the 3rd phalanx causes the foreign body to advance in depth. Because of this, we will call this type of foreign body hoof woodpecker because they peck into the hoof and can get deeper and deeper as the horse is walking.

These accidents are characterized by the fact that the animal manages to break the foreign body. Always the foreign body breaks off at the external limit, the hole being then covered or masked by the coronal or furcal elastic tissue which returns to its place, often leaving only the penetrating wound with the foreign body under the horn box. Because horses are used for heavy

work, they often do not express acute pain. Lameness usually appearing after the animal is allowed to take a break.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Within the MARGIVET veterinary clinic in Marginea commune, Suceava county, over a period of 20 years, a total number of 1500 horses were presented, one third of which were working horses in the forestry environment. From the 502 forest horses, a number of 54 horses included in this study because they presented wood foreign body at the level of the hoof(Hoof woodpeckers).

From the total number of cases, only the horses that worked in the forest and presented foreign bodies at the level of the limbs were considered.

In all cases, only males were presented, and of the 54 horses, only 2 were stallions. For work in the forest, horses that have reached physical maturity are preferred because they have to carry heavy loads. Geldings are preferred because they are more docile than stallions. The age of the horses was between 4 and 14 years averaging 8 years.

During clinical examination, penetrating wounds were observed on the limping limb in all cases. The wounds are small, often covered by hair or soil. In many cases the wounds were also

¹ USV Iasi

covered with blue antibiotic spray because the owner thought it was laminitis. The size of the wound is directly proportional to its location.

Wounds located in the hoof or crown region are small in size, marked by the presence of blood and local sensitivity. Wounds located proximal to the body are large, easy to notice.

The radiological examination was inconclusive. There is a radiological similarity of the appearance of the wood to the surrounding tissues making it hard to distinguish between the two. The exam can be used with the introduction of contrast material to highlight the depth of the wound, but this technique favors greater contamination of the wound.

Following the clinical examination, after locating the entry point of the foreign body, surgical extraction was advised.

Depending on the severity of the wound, the anesthetic protocol required restraint or sedation and local anesthesia or general anesthesia. The affected limb was restrained with a rope tied at the level of the fetlock, which was then passed through a metal ring that was tied to the horse's tail.



Figure 1 - Gelding 5 years hoof woodpecker at the level of the pastern, lateral aspect of the left pelvic limb. Blood stains are secondary to the entrance wound

In figure 1 and figure 2 you can see the entry wound of the foreign body, evident in these cases due to the blood staining of the hair.



Figure 2 – Gelding 8 years hoof woodpecker at the level of the fetlock, lateral aspect of the right pelvic limb. Blood stains are secondary to the entrance wound

Unlike figures 1 and 2, figures 3 and 4 show the discrete appearance of wounds that are difficult to see on clinical examination. In figure 3 the entrance wound is tremendously small and it is extremely easy to miss during the clinical inspection. In this cases the horse will show pain during palpation and this will help to pinpoint the hoof woodpecker. In figure 4 the hoof woodpecker is also easy to miss. Although it is penetrating the hoof and is a different color, it is coverd by hair making it difficult do see upon inspection.



Figure 3 – Gelding 11 years hoof woodpecker at the level of the hoof, medial aspect of the left pelvic limb. There are no blood stains to help the finding of the foreign body



Figure 4 – Gelding, 7 years hoof woodpecker at the level of the hoof,medial aspect of the left pelvic limb. There are no blood stains to help the finding of the foreign body

To widen the entrance wound, the hoof knife was used at first. Figure 5 shows the hoof after the hoof knife was used to expand the hoof woodpecker wound. In some cases, when the widening of the entrance with the hook knife wound would not suffice, a bone chisel was used.



Figure 5 – Gelding, 11 years hoof woodpecker at the level of the hoof, medial aspect of the left pelvic limb. The entrance wound after beeing expanded with a hoof knife



Figure 6 – Gelding, 9 years hoof woodpecker at the level of the hoof,medial aspect of the right pelvic limb. The hoof woodpecker after it was removed from the hoof with a forceps

Figure 6 shows the removal of the foreign body with forceps. The characteristic of this surgery is that because of the fragility of the wood and its ability to be lodged in the adjacent tissues through chips, extreme care must be employed. For this reason, the technique requires debridement with the help of a hook knife and a bone chisel around the foreign body.

Pulling on the visible end of the splinter without looseing it at first is not recommended as it will cause pain to the animal and will result in the splintering of the wood piece that anchors as an arrowhead.

Equine dental extraction forceps or a thick forceps are preferred for extraction. Hemostatic forceps usually break.

In figure 7, the foreign body can be seen after it was completely removed. The entery wound is visible behind the hoof woodpecker. In this case, because the wound was in the hoof, no clipping of the hair was needed. It is enough to clean the hoof. In this case the hoof knife was not used. Instead, a small bone chisel was used to release the hoof woodpecker. The chisel was introduced between the wood and hoof tisues to make sure there will be no splinters left. Also, when using a chisel you can lever the hoof woodpecker in order to remove it from the depth of the wound.



Figure 7 - Gelding, 7 years hoof woodpecker at the level of the hoof,medial aspect of the left pelvic limb. Hoof woodpecker taken out altogether

Foreign bodies were also found at the level of the fetlock or pastern.

In this case, the pre-operative preparation required trimming the area as shown in figure 7. After clipping of the hair, the surgical area was washed using potassium permanganate solution (KMnO4) or betadine 10%.



Figure 7 - Gelding 5 years hoof woodpecker at the level of the pastern, lateral aspect of the left pelvic limb. Hairclipping as preparation for surgery

In order to be able to remove the foreign body from the feetlock or the pastern, it was necessary to widen the woodpecking entrance wound with the help of a scalpel and to make a surgical incision on the other side of the limb to extract the tip of the foreign body.



Figure 8 - Gelding 5 years hoof woodpecker at the level of the pastern, lateral aspect of the left pelvic limb. Widening the woodpecking entrance wound by scapel



Figure 9 – Hoof woodpecker, 7 cm long, comprised of 3 pieces that broke off upon entering the pastern

Figure 8 shows the contaminated appearance of the wound after the removal of the foreign body. In this case the foreign body was removed on 2 different days. In figure 9, you can see that the woodpecker was long enough, about 7 cm, and it split into 3 pieces. Two large pieces that were removed on the first day, one by one. The larger piece of wood was removed using dental

extraction forceps and the medium-sized piece was removed through a surgical incision on the opposite side. The smallest piece was removed 2 days after the surgery at the time of washing the wound and changing the dressing. The dressing was changed every 24h until healing. The wound was washed with potassium permanganate solution (KMnO4) or betadine 10%.

Antibiotic and cicatrizing ointment was applied locally. The wound was protected by a dressing that was changed every 24 hours.

Figure 9 shows the foreign body after it was completly removed and that it is comprised of 3 pieces.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

Foreign body removal is a surgical emergency. If it is not intervened, overtime, a local infectious process occurs that will lead to the appearance of paronychia, then to deungulation and the removal of the horse from work forever. It can also progress to septicemia.

In 50 (92.6%) cases out of 54, the animals were brough in on the day of the accident for clinical examination. In four cases the animals were brought to clinic on the second or third day for examination when the lameness had reached grade 5.

Out of the total of 54 cases, 32 (59.26%) cases presented the foreign body at the level of the crown or hoof. In the remaining 22 (40.74%) cases, the foreign body was located either at the level of the cannon, knee, hock, forearm, gaskin or even higher.

Of the total cases, 30 (55.56%) were at the level of the thoracic limbs and 24 (44.44%) at the level of the pelvic limbs. The increased incidence at the level of the thoracic limbs is due to horses walking through fallen branches and through areas where there are no trails. The horse presses with more weight with its forelimbs, which would cause them to sink deeper into the branches.

In 34(62.96%) cases the penetrating foreign body was on the lateral of the limb and 20(37.04%) cases brought in the foreign body on the medial aspect of the limb. The high incidence of wounds on the lateral face is explained by the fact that when stepping, horses bring the leg eccentrically as they lift it off the ground and then bring it back concentrically. During the step, they can hook foreign bodies.

Thirteen (24.07%) cases brought in the clinic had the foreign body penetrating on the palmar/plantar aspect and the remaining 41 (75.93%) had the foreign body implanted on the dorsal aspect of the leg. The higher incidence of injuries on the dorsal aspect of the leg suggests that these accidents occur due to advancing through

branches and woody debris. Horseshoes also help by raising the hoof and breaking branches when stepped on. The freshly broken branches are sharp and can enjure the leg.

Removal was performed only after restraint by tying a rope at the level of the fetlock of the limb. Animal anesthesia or local sedation and anesthesia was performed as needed.



Figure 10 – schematic representation of the forces(blue arrows) that take place inside the hoof and lead to a deeper impaling from the woodpecker(green)

Figure 10 shows the trajectory of the forces(blue arrows) that develop while the horse is stepping on it's leg and help to move the wood foreign body(green) deeper into the tisues.

Because wood foreign bodies are fragile, they usually break at the level of the skin or hoof. The fragmentation of wood foreign bodies does not occur at the time of removal, but at the time of penetration through the hard tissues due to the forces that change the penetration trajectory. Initially they penetrate concentrically, and then change their trajectory and advance eccentrically. Penetration forces are high because the horse steps on the branches and sinks the hoof between the branches. When he lifts his leg the branches will penetrate the limb. removal of the hoof woodpecker foreign body requires widening the entrance port, either by incising the skin or by using the hoof knife to thin and remove portions of the hoof. The use of a bone chisel was necessary to free the inflamed tissues around the wood body. Chips protruding from the wood body makes extraction impossible without chipping the wood.

Local therapy required dressing changes until wound healing every 48 hours and lavage with KMnO4 (potassium permanganate) or 10% betadine solution.

Usually, general treatment was carried out by antibiotic therapy and tetanus prophylaxis.

CONCLUSIONS

Working horses in the sylvatic environment are specimens that have common features associated with the type of work they perform. They are males, usually geldings, aged between 4 and 14 years, with an average of 8 years.

Hoof woodpeckers are unique in the way they behave. Once they penetrated between the hoof and the 3rd phalanx they make headway between two hard planes. They can break into pieces between the 2 planes due to the change in trajectory and usually break at the entery wound.

To extract them, debridement of the area is needed with the help of the hoof knife and the orthopedic chisel. Extraction is usually done with horse tooth extraction pliers or thick forceps.

Post-operative treatment consists of tetanus prophylaxis, general antibiotic therapy, dressing change every 48 hours and wound washing.

REFERENCES

- Backhaus S., KrauB M., 2019 Monorchism in a tomcat, Tierarztliche Praxis. Ausgabe K, Kleintiere/heimtiere. 2019 Jun;47(3):202-208. DOI: 10.1055/a-0886-0854. PMID: 31212353.
- Carbonari, A.; Lillo, E.; Cicirelli, V.; Sciorsci, R.L.; Rizzo, A. 2022 - The Use of Abdominal Ultrasound to Improve the Cryptorchidectomy of Pigs. Animals 2022, 12, 1763. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani12141763
- Rudresh G.N., Sandeepa K.H, Sahadev A., Sudha G., Sarkar Debajyothi, Vishwanath S., 2018 -Unilateral cryptorchidism in a cat and its surgical management, Indian Journal of Canine Practice Volume 10 Issue 2, December, 2018 141-142
- Villalobos-Gomez, J., Del-Angel-Caraza, J., Tapia-Araya, A.; Brandao, F.; Hernández-López, C.A., Martínez-Gomariz, F.,Botero-Crespo, C.E.; Properzi, R., 2023 - Retrospective Study of Laparoscopic Cryptorchidectomy in 19 Cats with Intra-Abdominal Testes. Animals 2023, 13, 181. <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.3390/ani13010181
- O'Neill H., O'Meara, B. 2010 Diagnosis and treatment of penetrating injuries of the hoof in horses. In Practice, 32: 484-490. https://doi.org/10.1136/inp.c6671
- Smith P., 2015 Penetration injuries to the equine hoof capsule, Equine Health, 10.12968/eqhe.2015.25.20, 2015, 25, (20-23), (2015).

Article https://doi.org/10.61900/SPJVS.2023.02.03

STUDY REGARDING EFFECT OF TRISS-BASED AND CANIPLUS EXTENDERS ON SEVERAL SPERM PARAMETERS IN MEDIUM-LARGE BREED OF DOGS

Mihai BORZAN¹, Andreas ZAMANI¹, Mihai CENARIU¹, Emoke Pall¹, Ioan PAȘCA¹, Adrian Cîmpean¹

e-mail: mihai.borzan@usamvcluj.ro

Abstract

The study was carried out in different breeds of dogs owned by breeders in the city of Cluj Napoca. Mostly medium-large breeds were used and all the participating animals have been in good health during the time of acquiring the samples. The purpose of the study was to make a comparison between our own Tris-based extender and the commercial extender CANIPLUS CHILL in accordance with semen parameters with particular regards to motility, progressive motility, and length of survival of the spermatozoa. The evaluation has been done using the Computer Aided Sperm Analysis (CASA) system at the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine of Cluj-Napoca.

We have found that in medium large size breeds the commercia CaniPlus extender have shown better results on the majority of the parameters over the Tris-based extender and has the ability to preserve the integrity is spermatozoa more efficiently over time compared to Tris extender. Furthermore we identified an improvement in all parameters when comparing samples on the day of collection between large breed dogs and medium-large breed dogs in both extender types.

Additionally, we had results shown increase values of most parameter in tris extender when comparing it with CaniPlus extender in medium-large size breeds on the day of collection.

Key words: Semen Extender, canine, Artificial Insemination, CASA, CANIPLUS CHILL, TRIS

Introduction

Al is widely applied to a wide range of species. Furthermore, AI needs fresh or wellpreserved semen, and the majority of AI is accomplished using preserved semen. (Raheja N. et al., 2018; Malik A., et al., 2018) Thus, an optimum medium is needed to maintain its adequate quality. Accordingly, it is necessary to develop and evaluate semen extenders used preserve semen during chilling to or cryopreservation. Semen extenders were discovered and developed to protect sperm from harmful factors such as cold and osmotic shock, oxidative stress (Mousavi S.M., et al. 2019), and cell injury by ice crystals. Semen extenders preserve sperm by stabilizing its properties, including sperm morphology, motility, viability, and membrane, acrosomal, and DNA integrity. Semen extenders need to have a favorable pH (Liu C.H., et al, 2016), provide energy (Mohamed M.Y., et al, 2019); adenosine triphosphate, anti-cooling and antifreeze shock properties (Amirat-Briand L., *et al*, 2010; Tariq, A. *et al*, 2020) and antioxidant activity to keep the quality of the sperm high enough for fertilization.

the initial In stages of semen preservation, early formulations encompassed uncomplicated solutions such as milk (Filho, I.C.B., et al, 2018), saline, or egg yolk (Chaudhari D.V., et al, 2015), which offered a degree of protection but yielded restricted efficacy. (Layek S.S., et al, 2021) Over the course of time, researchers have made improvements to these compositions by integrating a range of additives, antioxidants, cryoprotectants (Johnston, S.D., et al, 2012), and antibiotics in order to augment the viability and reproductive capacity of sperm (Schulze et al, 2020).

Tris(tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane) exhibited enhanced buffering capacity, thereby effectively sustaining the requisite pH levels conducive to the viability of sperm. This significant advancement resulted in enhanced semen preservation techniques, enabling the successful transportation of sperm samples over long distances (Bustani & Baiee, 2021).

Today, semen extenders are an irreplaceable instrument in modern reproduction and have highly sophisticated formulations, tailored to the specific needs of different animal species (Alm-Kristiansen & Dalen, 2018). They have been extensively studied and optimized for factors such as osmolality, pH regulation, energy sources, and antimicrobial properties. Cryopreservation techniques have improved, and the addition of cryoprotectants like glycerol or dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) has made semen extenders even better for long-term storage and artificial insemination (Watson P.F., 2000)

The compatibility of semen extenders may vary among different animal species and between individuals of the same species, with some showing enhanced responses when exposed to extenders containing animal proteins, while others may demonstrate comparable performance (Bencharif D., et al, 2012) The cost and availability of semen extenders can also vary, depending on the and geographical proximity. brand In summary, the selection between CaniPlus and TRISS depends on factors such as the specific requirements of sperm cells, the intended scientific substantiation, species, costaccessibility effectiveness. and of the extenders.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

This study compares two semen extenders, CaniPlus chill - a commercially available product containing vegetable proteins, and TRISS - an extender containing animal proteins. The composition and ingredients of each product are crucial when analyzing their properties and characteristics. CaniPlus chill is a commercially available semen extender that incorporates vegetable proteins, while TRISS includes animal proteins, which are typically obtained from egg yolk or milk-derived products.

The method used to analyze the semen samples was through Computer Cssisted Sperm Analysis (CASA) that allows wide range of function and programs that allow detailed analysis of all the important parameters of sperm.

The samples were collected by manual stimulation from **16** dogs, all in good state, clinically healthy and fully mature between the age

of 2 and 7 years old. The breeds that have taken place in the research are 1 Bull Terrier, 5 Tibetan Mastiff, 2 Cane Corso, 1 Rottweiler and 7 Central Asian Shepherds.

The semen samples were collected in special "sperm friendly" tubes, which was preheated by friction to reduce the shock on spermatozoa by the abrupt change in temperature. The sample collected was split in 2 equal parts. Next, they were diluted separately with each type of extender.

Dilution for both extenders was performed at 1:3 parts, 1 part being the semen sample and 3 parts the extender, additionally the dilution was made at the same temperature- 38° C (the extenders were preheated to this temperature in a marine bath). The dilution was chosen due to the official recommendation of the producer, and it was done the same for both extenders used. After dilution, the sampling tubes with each extender were differentiated and placed in a water-bath at 37° C, slides were heated to 37°C as well. With the help of micropipette, a drop of the sample was placed on the pre-heated slide and examined to the microscope that is connected to the CASA system.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

The results obtained by comparison of the effect of the Triss -based extender and CaniPlus Chill extender on the time of collection show overall improvements by the commercial CaniPlus Chill extender in all parameters of motility, progressive motility, non-progressive motility, and total immotile spermatozoa.

While the values concerning concentration, motility have shown small difference between the two extenders used, differences were registered in the progressive motility, non-progressive motility, and immobile cells.

The average results for the medium-large breeds, after 24h from of collection showed a difference for the two extenders with the motility of the spermatozoa being more noticeable, and for the other parameters studied maintaining their values in the CaniPlus extender compared to the Triss based extender.

In the evaluation of progressive motility for medium large breeds, on the day of collection, we registered a difference: at CaniPlus extender we registered a progressive motility with 15.29% higher compared with the one diluted with Triss based extender. For non-progressive motility the difference registered was minimal, the CaniPlus showing a value with only 0.51% higher compared to Triss extender and for the parameter of mobility there was a difference of 16.00% in favor of CaniPlus extender.

The results of rapid velocity registered a value of 13.48% for Triss -based extender and a value of 29.38% for the CaniPlus, thus a 15.89% difference. For medium velocity we have a value of 12.51% for Triss -based extender and a value of 11.73% for the CaniPlus, thus a 0.77% difference. For slow velocity we have a value of 28.23% for Triss - based extender and a value of 29.11% for the CaniPlus thus a 0.88% difference.

The results in percentage after 24h hours of collection in medium large breeds registered for progressive motility a difference of 6.54% in favor of the CaniPlus extender and for nonprogressive motility, we have a 15.40% difference in favor of CaniPlus extender. For motility we observed a difference of 21.77% with Triss having the lower motility value.

The value registered for rapid velocity at 24 hours after collection were 6.53% for Triss -based extender and 15.04% for the CaniPlus. For medium velocity similar values were registered for both extenders used (7.8%). For slow velocity there is a difference of 13.32% for the CaniPlus extender (26.66% vs 13.32%).

An experimental sample for the comparison of the two types of extenders in the day of the collection, 72 hours after and on day five was made to see the progress further than 24 hours.

For the Triss -Based extender we observed the following: progressive motility was reduced from 22% from day 1 to 11.66% after 72 hours. Non-progressive motility went from 47.4% on day 1 to 30.04% in 72 hours. Motility decreased from 70.38% on day 1 to 41.7% after 72 hours. Rapid velocity was reduced from 11.31% - day 1, to 10.09% after 72 hours. Medium velocity was reduced from 13.82% to 4.48% after 72 hours. Slow velocity was reduced from 45.24% to 27.13%. Finally, immotile spermatozoa where increased from 29.62% to 58.3% after 72 hours. On day 5 there was no motility identified and as such it was considered 100% mortality of the spermatozoa.

For the CaniPlus extender the following values Progressive motility where obtained: decreased from day 1 to 72 hours to day 5 16.63% from 44.01%, to and 2.3% respectively. Non-progressive motility had a decrease from day 1 to 72 hours and day 5 from 36.09%, to 34.03% to 25.96% respectively. Motility decreased from 80.1% on day 1 to 50.67% after 72 hours and further decrease of 18.26% on day 5. Immotile spermatozoa increased from day 1 to 72h and 5 days after collection from 19.9% to 49.33% and 81.74% respectively. Rapid velocity decreased from day 1 to 72 hours to day 5 41.99% to 14.72% and 1.42% from respectively. Medium velocity was increased from 4.48% on day 1 to 12.24% after 72 hours and decreased to 1.24% after 5 days. Slow velocity was decreased from 1 day on to 72 hours and day 5 from 33.73% to 30.98% and 15.6% respectively.

CONCLUSIONS

Results on the comparison on the effect of CaniPlus Chill extender and Triss extender day 1 and 24 hours.

In the group of medium-large size breeds on day of collection we have satisfactory results in the samples with the CaniPlus extender in all fields with an improve of 15.29% on progressive motility, which is one of the most important factors taken in consideration in semen evaluation.

A minimal difference was noted for nonprogressive motility with a 0.51% in favor of CaniPlus and finally a difference of 16.002% in the parameters of motility and immobility.

After 24 hours the re-evaluation revealed the superiority of CaniPlus in all fields researched. A reduced difference is showed for the progressive motility with a difference of 6.54%, while the difference increased in nonprogressive motility and motility/immobility with values 15.40% and 21.77% respectively, all the values in the advantage of CaniPlus over Triss based extender.

Overall CaniPlus has given improved result over Triss-based on day one and 24 hours later with the value of overall motility having the greatest significance in values with 18.89% overall improvement, followed by overall progressive motility of 10.91% and finally 7.96% overall improvement in non-progressive motility.

For the sample evaluated on the day of collection, 72hours and 5 days later the results showed at 72 hours an insignificant percentage loss of 1.32% in progressive motility in favor of CaniPlus, a higher improvement by a difference of loss of percentage 12.68% by CaniPlus and a 13.02% difference of loss of percentage in the parameter of motility in favor of the CaniPlus showing a moderate overall improvement over the Triss-based extender.

Loss of progressive motility at 72 hours to day 5 for the CaniPlus was 14.33%, for nonprogressive motility was 8.07% and for motility was 13.02%. The Triss extender sample showed no viability after 5 days, thus we considered to be inefficient in this sample.

This fairly constant improvement between the 2 extenders could indicate a significance in the individual, genetic or environmental influence since it contradicts the results of comparison on the day of collection by the medium-large size breeds between the 2 extenders.

REFERENCES

- Alm-Kristiansen, A. H., & Dalen, G. 2018 Semen extender and the relationship between seminal plasma composition and post-thaw sperm quality in canine semen. Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica, 60(1), 33
- Amirat-Briand, L., Bencharif, D., Vera-Munoz, O., Pineau, S., Thorin, C., Destrumelle, S. and Tainturier, D. 2010 - In vivo fertility of bull semen following cryopres ervation with an LDL (lowdensity lipoprotein) extender: Preliminary results of artificial inseminations. Anim. Reprod. Sci., 122(3-4): 282-287.
- Bencharif D., Amirat L., Pascal O., Anton M., Schmitt E., Desherces S., Delhomme G., Langlois M.L., Barrière P., Larrat M. & Tainturier D., 2008 -The Advantages of Combining Low-Density Lipoproteins with Glutamine for Cryopreservation of Canine Semen Reproduction in Domestic Animals, V. 45, Available at: <u>The advantages of combining low-density lipoproteins with glutamine for cryopreservation of canine semen - PubMed (nih.gov)</u>
- Bustani G. S., Baiee F. H., 2021 Semen extenders: An evaluative overview of preservative mechanisms of semen and semen extenders, Veterinary World, EISSN: 2231-0916 Available at www.veterinaryworld.org/Vol.14/May-2021/21.pdf
- Chaudhari, D.V., Dhami, A.J., Hadiya, K.K. and Patel, J.A., 2015 - Relative efficacy of egg yolk and soya milk-based extenders for cryopreservation (-196°C) of buffalo semen. Vet. World, 8(2): 239-244.

- Filho, I.C.B., Pederzolli, C.D., Sgaravatti, A.M., Gregory, R.M., Filho, C.S.D., Jobim, M.I.M. and Mattos, R.C., 2018 - Skim milk-egg yolk based semen extender compensates for non-enzymatic antioxidant activity loss during equine semen cryopreservation. Anim. Reprod., 6(2): 392-399
- Johnston, S.D., Zee, Y.P., López- Fernández, C. and Gosálvez, J., 2012 - The effect of chilled storage and cryo preservation on the sperm DNA fragmentation dynamics of a captive population of koalas. J. Androl, 33(5): 1007-1015.
- Layek, S.S., Mohanty, T.K., Kumaresan, A. and Parks, J.E., 2021 - Veterinary World, EISSN: 2231-0916 1228 Available at www.veterinaryworld.org/Vol.14/May-2021/21.pdf (2016) Cryopreservation of bull semen: Evolution from egg yolk based to soybean-based extenders. Anim. Reprod. Sci., 172(9): 1-9.
- Liu, C.H., Dong, H.B., Ma, D.L., Li, Y.W., Han, D., Luo, M.J. and Tan, J.H., 2016 - Effects of pH during liq uid storage of goat semen on sperm viability and fertilizing potential. Anim. Reprod. Sci., 164(1): 47-56.
- Malik, A., Jaelani, A., Widaningsih, N., Ni'Mah, G.K. and Sasongko, N., 2018 - Effect of different concentrations of fish oil in skim milk-egg yolk extenders on post-thawed semen qualities of Kalang swamp buffalo bull. Asian Pac. J. Reprod., 7(3): 139-142
- Mohamed, M.Y., Abd El-Hafeez, A.M. and Shaarawy, A.M., 2019 - Influence of adding different energy sources to the bull and ram spermatozoa exposed to different refrigerating times. Egypt. J. Sheep Goats Sci., 14(2): 1-18.
- Mousavi, S.M., Towhidi, A., Zhandi, M., Amoabediny, G., Mohammadi-Sangcheshmeh, A., Sharafi, M. and Hussaini, S.M.H. 2019 Comparison of two different anti oxidants in a nano lecithinbased extender for bull sperm cryopreservation. Anim. Reprod. Sci., 209(10): 106171. 62.
- Raheja, N., Choudhary, S., Grewal, S., Sharma, N. and Kumar, N., 2018 - A review on semen extenders and addi tives used in cattle and buffalo bull semen preservation. J. Entomol. Zool. Stud., 6(3): 239-245.
- Schulze, M., Nitsche-Melkus, E., Hensel, B., Jung, M. and Jakop, U., 2020 - Antibiotics and their alternatives in arti ficial breeding in livestock. Anim. Reprod. Sci., 220(9): 106284 Semen extenders: An evaluative overview of preservative mechanisms of semen and semen extenders (veterinaryworld.org)
- Tariq, A., Ahmad, M., Iqbal, S., Riaz, M.I., Tahir, M.Z., Ghafoor, A. and Riaz, A., 2020 - Effect of carboxylated poly I-Lysine as a cryoprotectant on post-thaw quality and in vivo fertility of Nili Ravi buffalo (Bubalus bubalis) bull semen. Theriogenology, 144(4): 8-15.
- Watson, P. F., 2000 The causes of reduced fertility with cryopreserved semen. Animal Reproduction Science. 60-61, 2000, Vols. 481-492

THE BENEFITS OF UNCONVENTIONAL (HOMEMADE) FOOD ADMINISTERED TO DOGS WITH DIGESTIVE DISORDERS

Sorana DAINA¹, Adrian MACRI¹

e-mail: sorana.matei@usamvcluj.ro

Abstract

Homemade dog food preparation for dogs with digestive problems can be worth the time and effort if the owner owns a dog that suffers from regular digestive disorders. Digestive disorders in dogs are quite common problems that veterinarians regularly have to deal with. Patients with digestive disorders often present with similar clinical signs, such as vomiting, diarrhea, constipation, lack of apathy, and abdominal pain. Nutritional modification is an integral part of gastrointestinal disease management, both in preventing recurrence and reducing clinical signs. Once a patient is evaluated from both nutritional and medical perspectives, the general nutritional case approach can be followed to select an appropriate diet and feeding plan for the dog. The objectives were to develop nutritionally balanced homemade food recipes with specific ingredients for digestive disorders in dogs. The recipes were personalized, made of specific ingredients for digestive problems.

Key words: dogs, digestive disorders, home-made food

Many dogs occasionally experience digestive issues. Digestion, nutrition absorption, motility, and fecal evacuation are the four basic processes of the digestive system (Lenox C., 2021). Excessive drooling, diarrhea, constipation, vomiting or regurgitation, appetite loss, bleeding, abdominal pain and bloating, straining to urinate and dehydration are all indications of digestive system disorders (Cave N., 2012). Frequently, the issues are transitory and may result from a single incident of eating something that was in the trash or something that just doesn't agree with his system. However, digestive problems in your canine companion may also be indicators of more serious disorders or an indication that the diet he consumes regularly isn't right for him (Rudinsky A.J. et al, 2018). Experts in dog nutrition and veterinarians are becoming more aware of issues with many of the commercial dog feeds on the market today. Dogs are experiencing the repercussions, both in terms of immediate issues and long-term health (Hang et al, 2012).

There is no one food that works best for all dogs with sensitive stomachs, just like there is no one food that works best for people with sensitive stomachs. Finding the best food for our dog takes time and patience (Kienzle E. *et al*, 2006). Patients

with GI disease should be treated as individuals, because not all dietary strategies work for all patients with similar disease processes (Rudinsky A.J. et al, 2018). Both in terms of reducing clinical symptoms and preventing recurrence, nutritional adjustment is crucial in the management of GI illnesses. The patient's nutritional assessment, clinical signs, history and physical examination findings, laboratory findings, imaging, medication history, and other considerations must be taken into account when choosing a nutritional plan for a dog or cat with GI disease (Chan D.L., Freeman L.M., 2006). After a patient has been assessed medically and nutritionally, a suitable diet and feeding schedule for the dog or cat can be chosen using the general nutritional case approach (Herstad K.M et al, 2017).

Not every sensitive stomach can be resolved by a commercial die, but also with the help of homemade diets. Homemade diets can offer complete and balanced nutrition when formulated and administered properly, but they can also put the animal at great risk, because homemade diets have a higher risk of dietary deficiencies, excesses, and imbalances (Joba H.A.O. *et al*, 2020; Streiff E.L. *et al*, 2002; Pedrinelli V. *et al*, 2017). Therefore, at the request of owners of dogs with digestive problems and taking into account the frequency of digestive system disorders in dogs, especially related to poor nutrition, imbalances that occur in the body following the administration of commercial diets and the lack of information on homemade food, the main objective was to develop some recipes of homemade food for dogs with digestive problems.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Homemade dog food preparation for dogs with digestive problems can be worth the time and effort if the owner owns a dog that suffers from regular digestive disorders. These disorders can have different causes: food, infections, poisoning, inflammatory diseases, cancer, etc.

Digestive problems in dogs are fairly common occurrences that most vets see on a regular basis. Considering the frequency of digestive system disorders in dogs, mainly related to poor nutrition, imbalances in the body caused by commercial diets and lack of information about homemade food, we decided to share some facts about the benefits of homemade diets for dogs with digestive problems.

The patients in the study were represented by a number of 7 dogs, of different ages, breed, sex, activity level, who presented to the practice with digestive problems, having different symptoms (vomiting, lethargy, dehydration, abdominal pain, hemorrhagic diarrhea. halitosis. diarrhea. constipation, stool with excessive mucus) dogs that at the owners' wish were switched on homemade food diets for digestive problems. 4 of the patients were fed commercial dry diets, which were changed frequently, and 3 were fed homemade food diets. without nutritionist's а recommendations.

The diets we recommend have been formulated with the help of a software (BalanceIT), using ingredients indicated in different digestive problems in dogs. After the formulation of the diets they were analyzed in terms of analytical composition (dry matter, crude protein, crude fat, fiber, ash, carbohydrates), and the estimation of vitamin D and calcium levels was carried out using software - HYBRIMIN® Futter 5. After а formulating the diets and analyzing them, the caloric level as well as the food requirement/day for each patient was determined according to their weight, age, physiological status, taking into account whether the patients were neutered or not, which influenced the caloric value and nutrient requirement of each dog.

The 5 homemade food recipes included different ingredients that are fed to dogs as follows: R1 - chicken breast, chicken liver, salmon, carrots, green beans, sweet potato, sweet, pumpkin, apple, omega 3, turmeric, vitamin-mineral supplements, probiotics; R2 - turkey meat, brown rice, sweet potato, green beans, broccoli, pumpkin, cranberries, turmeric, parsley, coconut oil, vitamin-mineral supplements, probiotics; R3 - ground beef, brown rice, oats, sweet potato, broccoli, apple, turmeric, coconut oil, vitamin-mineral supplements, supplements, brown rice, oats, sweet potato, broccoli, apple, turmeric, coconut oil, vitamin-mineral supplements, broken beans, broccoli, apple, turmeric, coconut oil, vitamin-mineral supplements, turmeric, broken beans, broccoli, apple, turmeric, coconut oil, vitamin-mineral supplements, broken beans, broccoli, apple, turmeric, coconut oil, vitamin-mineral supplements, broken beans, broccoli, apple, turmeric, coconut oil, vitamin-mineral supplements, broken beans, broccoli, apple, turmeric, broken beans, broccoli, apple, turmeric, broken beans, broccoli, broken beans, broccoli, apple, turmeric, broken beans, broccoli, broken beans, broccoli, apple, turmeric, broken beans, broken beans, broccoli, broken beans, broken beans, broccoli, apple, turmeric, broken beans, broken probiotics; R4 - chicken breast, brown rice, oats, sweet potato, green beans, pumpkin, turmeric, omega 3, spirulina, turmeric, vitamin-mineral supplements, probiotics; R5 - chicken breast, beef, oats, green beans, pumpkin, broccoli, yoghurt, coconut oil, spirulina, turmeric, vitamin-mineral supplements, probiotics; R6 – beef, brown rice, sweet potato, green beans, pumpkin, carrots, banana, parsley, turmeric, omega 3, vitaminmineral supplements, probiotics; R7 - salmon, sweet potato, green beans, oats, pumpkin, cranberries, turmeric, omega 3, spirulina, turmeric, vitamin-mineral supplements, probiotics.

The trick to proper nutrition is to provide a balanced diet that provides all the essential nutrients (protein, fat, carbohydrates, fiber, minerals, vitamins) in the right proportions with the goal of digestive disorders.

In our study we used calories as the unit of measurement, (Castrillo C. *et al*, 2009), and the energy value per 100 g produced was calculated according to the equation (NRC, 2006).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

All 7 dogs taken in the study, who presented to the practice with digestive problems, having various symptoms, were clinically examined, and underwent investigations in terms of biochemical analysis as well as a faecal analysis. Our aim was to formulate cooked food diets at the request of dog owners with digestive disorders.

For better and accurate guidance on changing the diet, adding ingredients and supplements or administering ingredients for treatment purposes, laboratory analyses were performed on all 7 patients. Based on the data collected from hematology analyses, 5 out of 7 patients suffered considerable changes due to dehydration and loss of fluid. Hematocrit together with hemoglobin showed an increase due to dehydration, while in other patients these two parameters decreased, showing anemia. Slight inflammation due to white cell changes was also evident in 4 out of 7 patients. Changes in biochemistry showed low values in some patients, confirming gastrointestinal problems, and slightly increased values in others, showing dehydration. globulin indicates inflammatory Increased conditions, urea and amylase reveal significant protein loss from the digestive tract, and cholesterol and triglycerides had higher values in weight. patients above ideal Electrolyte measurements showed auite considerable decreases due to diarrhea episodes of the patients.

If we compare the values obtained for the 7 recipes of unconventional homemade food formulated for dogs with digestive problems with the Nutritional Guide for Complete and Complementary Food for Companion Cats and Dogs (FEDIAF, 2018) recommendations for maintenance (as units/100 g SU), we can say that none of the recipes had protein and fat values below the minimum recommendations given by FEDIAF (18% protein/100 g SU and 5.5 g fat/100 g SU) (*Figure 1*). In the case of fibre, carbohydrates and ash there are no minimum or maximum recommendations in the FEDIAF legislation for dogs and cats (*Figure 1*).

Many cases described in the literature show that there are numerous deficiencies or even excesses of certain nutrients in dogs or cats fed a home-prepared or commercial diet, highlighting the importance of a complete and balanced diet for pet health (Marks A.L. *et al*, 2011).

In a study conducted by Pedrinelli V. *et al* in 2017 on 116 home-prepared diets for dogs and cats, they obtained values below the FEDIAF recommendations in a total of 60 samples for calcium and a total of 61 samples for vitamin D.

Another study by De Fornel-Thibaud P. et al in 2007, shows a case of osteopenia developed as a result of calcium and vitamin D deficiencies in a dog fed cooked food without the addition of a mineral-vitamin supplement, which led to a syndrome called - rubber jaw syndrome. Since dogs depend exclusively on food sources of vitamin D, it can be considered an essential constituent of the canine diet and requires regular dietary intake, regardless of the season. Because vitamin D is present in only a few food sources, home-prepared diets are often deficient according to NRC, AAFCO and FEDIAF (European Pet Food Industry Federation) standards (Weidner N. and Verbrugghe A., 2017). NRC recommendations

on vitamin D in dogs have been made with regard to the prevention of bone abnormalities.

Badwaik P.Y. *et al*, in a 2020 study, show the importance of vitamin D in dogs fed cooked food by explaining the metabolism, status, role, sources, and requirements of these vitamins as recommended by AAFCO (The Association of American Feed Control Officials). Because of these considerations, in our study we dosed the calcium and vitamin D levels in the prescriptions taken in the study. The highest value obtained was 0.92 g/1000Kcal calcium in recipe 7, 26.4% less than the minimum required according to FEDIAF recommendations, and the lowest value was recorded in recipe 3, 0.25 g/1000 Kcal, i.e. 80% less than the minimum required according to FEDIAF recommendations.

In terms of calcium levels in the 7 homemade food recipes, the values were below FEDIAF recommendations - 1.25 - 6.25 g/1000 Kcal.

Regarding the vitamin D level, dosed from the 7 recipes, only 2 of them showed a value of 0.88 IU/1000 Kcal - recipe 2, and 13.15 IU/1000 Kcal - recipe 4. In the case of recipes 1,3,5,6 and 7 the vitamin D level was 0. The results showed that the vitamin D level was below the minimum limit allowed in the FEDIAF recommendations - 125 IU/1000 Kcal - 800 IU/1000 Kcal. Taking into account the below limit values for calcium and vitamin D, vitamin-mineral supplements were added to all seven recipes.



Figure 1 Analytical composition of low cost commercial dog dry food according to label data and concentration of carbohydrates after calculation



Figure 2 Caloric value and daily requirements for the 7 types of homemade diets formulated



Figure 3 Fecal score results



Figure 4 - Appearance of faeces of dogs with digestive problems

The caloric value of each diet was different, taking into account the different ingredients from which the recipes were made. Depending on the caloric value of each diet and the characteristics of each patient, in the Figure 2, we can see the quantities required to be administered per day to each patient. It is essential to regularly monitor the colour of your pet's faeces. The colour of the faeces can give clues as to the general state of health and can signal potential diseases. A Fecal Scoring Chart can be used to interpret and control dog faeces. This scale ranges from 1 to 7. A score of one represents a very hard, solid stool, while seven equates to extremely severe, almost entirely liquid diarrhea. Ideally, your dog's faeces should fall into the 3 range. This will vary from time to time, depending on the food given (Figure 3).

In our study we monitored the appearance of the faeces of 7 patients before and after administration of diets developed with specific ingredients for digestive disorders, and we observed that the appearance, consistency and colour improved in some dogs even 2 days after diet administration began (*Figure 4*).

CONCLUSIONS

Nutritional modification is integral to the management of digestive disorders, both in preventing relapses and reducing clinical signs. Although most resolve within a few days, some dogs need long-term nutritional management because they have regular or ongoing digestive problems. Food can have a significant impact on the health of the dog's gastrointestinal tract. Several different nutritional approaches are recommended, depending on the specific diagnosis and symptoms. The main goal is to alleviate symptoms of vomiting and/or diarrhea, so the dogs should be fed a food that is highly digestible to help prevent irritation of the stomach and sensitive intestines. Also, foods high in soluble and insoluble fiber combined with moderate levels of fat help support the dog's gut to function properly.

Although there are many factors to consider when managing dogs with digestive disorders of different causes, the most important things to keep in mind are the top priorities for the patient and that an individualized approach must be taken for all patients. Not all patients with 1 disease process are given only one diet. There are many dietary options for digestive diseases, as different patients benefit from different diets and nutritional strategies.

REFERENCES

- Cave N., 2012 Nutritional management of gastrointestinal diseases. In: Fascetti AJ, Delaney SJ, editors. Applied veterinary clinical nutrition. Ames (IA): John Wiley & Sons, p. 175– 220.
- Association of American Feed Control Officials 2016 - AAFCO.
- Rudinsky A.J., Rowe J.C., Parker V.J., 2018 -Nutritional management of chronic enteropathies in dogs and cats. J Am Vet Med Asso, 253(5):570–8.
- Kienzle E., Biourge V., Schonmeier A., 2006 -Prediction of energy digestibility in complete dry foods for dogs and cats by total dietary fiber. J Nutr;136(7 Suppl): 2041S–4S.
- Chan D.L., Freeman L.M., 2006 Nutrition in critical illness. Vet Clin North Am Small Anim Pract;36(6):1225–41, v–vi.
- NRC.National Research Council. Energy. In: Nutrient requirements of dogs and cats. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 2006. p. 28–48.
- Lenox C.E., 2021 Nutritional Management for Dogs and Cats with Gastrointestinal Diseases. Vet Clin Small Anim 51, 669–684
- Mueller S.C., Teuber L.R., 2007 Alfalfa Growth and Development. In: Summers C.G. and Putnam D.H., (eds), Irrigated alfalfa management for Mediterranean and Desert zones, Chapter 3, University of California Agriculture and Natural Resources Publication 8289.
- Herstad K.M.V., Gajardo K., Bakke A.M., Moe L., Ludvigsen J., Rudi K., Rud I., Sekelja M., Skancke E., 2017 - A diet change from dry food to beef induces reversible changes on the faecal microbiota in healthy, adult cleint-owned dogs, BMC veterinary research. BMC Vet Res. 2017; 13: 147.
- Hang I., Rinttila T., Zentek J., Kettunen A., Alaja S., Apajalahti J., Harmoinen J., M de Vos M., Spillmann T., 2012 - Effect of high contents of dietary animal-derived protein or carbohydrates on canine faecal microbiota, BMC veterinary research. BMC Vet Res 26;8:90. doi: 10.1186/1746-6148-8-90.
- Streiff E.L., Zwischenberger B., Butterwick R., et al., 2002 - A comparison of the nutritional adequacy of home-prepared and commercial diets for dogs. J Nutr 132, 1698S–1700S.
- Pedrinelli V., Gomes M.O.S., Carciofi A.C., 2017 -Analysis of recipes of home-prepared diets for dogs and cats published in Portuguese. Journal of Nutritional Science, vol. 6, e33, page 1 of 5.
- Fédération Européenne de L'industrie des Aliments Pour Animaux Familiers, 2014 - Nutritional Guidelines for Complete and Complementary Pet Food for Cats and Dogs. Brussels: FEDIAF.
- Joba H.A.O., Şahmanb M.A., İnal F., 2020 Cost Optimization of Homemade Diet for Dogs. International Journal of Applied Mathematics, Electronics and Computers 8(4): 236-240.
- Castrillo C., Hervera M., Baucells M.D., 2009 -Methods for predicting the energy value of pet foods. R. Bras. Zootec., v.38, p.1-14.
- Marks A.L., Lipsitz D., Vernau K.M., et al., 2011 -Reversible encephalopathy secondary to thiamine deficiency in 3 cats ingesting commercial diets. J Vet Intern Med 25, 949–953.

- De Fornel-Thibaud P., Blanchard G., Escoffier-Chateau L., Segond S., Guetta F., Begon D. et al., 2007 - Unusual case of osteopenia associated with nutritional calcium and vitamin D deficiency in an adult dog. Journal of the American Animal Hospital Association 43, 52–60.
- Weidner N., Verbrugghe A., 2017 Current knowledge of vitamin D in dogs. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 2017 Dec 12;57(18):3850-3859. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2016.1171202.
- Badwaik P.Y., Ashar J.M, Bhojne G.R., 2020 -Importance of Vitamin D in Dogs Fed Homemade Diet: A Brief and Systematic Review. Int.J.Curr.Microbiol.App.Sci (2020) 9(11): 2562-2568.

Article https://doi.org/10.61900/SPJVS.2023.02.05

EFFECT OF STORAGE CONDITIONS ON MDA LEVELS OF DIFFERENT CLASS AND TYPE OF DRY DOG FOOD

Sorana DAINA¹, Adrian MACRI¹

e-mail: sorana.matei@usamvcluj.ro

Abstract

The aim of this study was the determination of malondialdehyde (MDA) changes of 20 dry types of premium (P) and economic class (E) commercial dog foods at different stocking temperatures (4 0C, 20 0C, 35 0C) and different stocking times (3, 6, and 12months). At the time of purchase, MDA concentrations of premium dry type foods were lower than those of economic class. The MDA concentrations of dog food increased with the progress of stocking times at increasing temperatures. In the 10th month of stocking, the MDA levels was significantly higher, up to 6 times at a temperature of 35 and a storage time of 10 months compared to the concentration at the time of purchase. Malondialdehyde, often known as MDA, is the result of the oxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids in food during cooking and storage. Cellular proteins can react with MDA from the body and from ingested sources and the reaction products are considered harmful.

Key words: dry dog food, MDA concentration, storage condition

To meet their dogs' optimal nutrient-energy needs and to ensure their long-term health, dog owners select the best food possible (Heinze C.R., 2016). The storage conditions affect a commercial pet food's capacity to keep the best nutritional quality and flavor (Kara K., 2021; Koppel K., 2014).

Even though there is a difference between dog foods in terms of shelf life, the shelf life of unopened dry extruded dog food ranges from 4 months to 3 years, depending on the information on the label. However, manufacturers typically claim that the shelf life of the majority of dry extruded dog foods is roughly one year as stated on the label (Case L. et al, 2011; Hillestad K., 2018).

During the storage of commercial dry dog food, various processes can take place that affect its natural properties (Usuga A. *et al*, 2023). One of these is lipid peroxidation (Marchi M., et al, 2014). This process can lead to rancidity of the food and therefore a reduced shelf life. (Błaszczyk A. et al, 2013). Antioxidant additions, either natural or synthetic, are used to stop lipid peroxidation, which is a sign of shelf life (Case L. et al, 2011; Glodde F. et al, 2018).

One of the main causes of the deterioration of animal feed with high levels of polyunsaturated fatty acids and their shortened shelf life is lipid oxidation. Products of oxidation alter the flavor of food and the fatty acid composition (Stadtman E.R. and Levine R.L., 2003). Malondialdehyde (MDA) is a final oxidation product of lipids, and is used as a barometer of lipid oxidation levels. The determination of MDA is one of the oldest methods of assessing the degree of lipid oxidation and one of the most widely used markers of oxidative stress (Verk B. *et al*, 2017).

Malondialdehyde is the result of the oxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids in food during cooking and storage. MDA can develop in both human and animal bodies. Cellular proteins can react with MDA from the body and from ingested sources and the reaction products are considered harmful (Beynen A.C., 2022)

The aim of this study was the determination of malondialdehyde (MDA) changes of 20 dry types of premium (P) and economic class (E) commercial dry dog foods. Different stocking temperatures (4 ^oC, 20 ^oC, 35 ^oC) and different storage times (3, 6, and 10 months) were examined.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

MDA (Malondialdehyde) concentration was determined in 20 brands of dry dog food. The dog foods consisted of 10 premium classes (P) and 10 economic classes (E), collected from various veterinary shops. Analyses were carried out at the time of purchase of the food, and then at storage intervals of 3, 6 and 10 months, and at different storage temperatures (4 °C, 20 °C and 35°C). The

¹ USAMV CLUJ-NAPOCA

dog food was stored at 4 °C in a refrigerator and. Stocking of dog food at 21 °C and 35 °C was carried out in two different thermostatic control cabinets. Dry foods in pellet form were milled after each different stocking condition. The quantity of MDA was measured using an assay test kit, spectrophotometric. MDA is condensed with thiobarbituric acid (TBA) to form a red product with maximum absorption peak at 532nm. After colorimetry, the content of lipid peroxide in the sample can be estimated, and the same time absorbance at 600 nm is measured. The amount of MDA was calculated using the difference in absorbance at 532nm and 600 nm.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

Following the analyses carried out we noticed that MDA concentrations of dog food stocked at different temperatures increased significantly with increased stocking times. The presented study shows individual differences between commercial companies in terms of MDA values of commercial dog foods at the time of purchase. At the time of purchase, the concentrations of MDA (29 mg/kg) in dry-type premium dog foods were lower than those concentrations of dry type economic foods (35 mg/kg) (*Table 1*). The dog food type was effective changing the MDA concentration of the dog food according to the stocking conditions. MDA concentrations of the dog foods at 3, 6, and 10 months stocking times were similar for P and E dog foods. From *Table 1* we can see the increased level of MDA with increasing temperature and storage time. The increase of MDA levels was progressive. The MDA concentration increased from 29 mg/kg feed at the time of purchase to 65 if the food was kept at a temperature of 4 0C for 10 months, and even to a level of 215 when the temperature was 35 degrees for a period of 10 months, in the case of economic classes dry food. if we are referring to the premium classes, here we can also observe a gradual increase from 29 mg/kg food at the time of purchase to a level of 196 mg/kg food in samples kept for 10 months at 35 0 C.

The extrusion process applied in pet food production as well as the storage time of the food are the main conditions that cause lipid oxidation in these foods (Chanadang S. *et al*, 2016). There are studies showing that the extrusion process has a negative effect on antioxidants (Case L.*P et al*, 2011).

Oxidation products that form, is evidenced by changes in the taste and smell of food. In the present study, it was found that the increase in the concentration of MDA, which is the indicator of the density of its final oxidation products, reveals that the oxidation duration is different between food classes. Premium classes foods had lower concentrations in terms of oxidation end products (MDA) than economic foods. It is possible that premium foods include high levels of antioxidants and no use of oxidized raw materials (animal fat, vegetable oil, etc.) in the formula, but differences in extrusion processes may occur (Ahlstrom Q. et al, 2004). Increases in MDA levels due to increased storage temperatures up to 35 °C in the present study were consistent with those in the literature. In the present study, MDA that increased with increasing storage times and temperatures were similar to the results of increased lipid peroxidation of dried dog food stored for 7 months at 21 °C by Holda K. and Glogowski R. (2016). However, it is believed that storing dry food for more than 6 months at high temperatures will adversely affect the food consumption of dogs by increased lipid peroxidation of the food.

CONCLUSIONS

The MDA and concentrations of dog dry food increased with the progress of stocking times at increasing temperatures. Stocking dog food at 35 ^oC for up to 3, 6 and 10 months had a significant effect on lipid peroxidation. It can be seen that the typical storage of dry dog kibbles has an effect on the lipid fraction properties.

Table 1

The effect of stocking at different temperatures and different times on the average concentration of MDA (mg/kg food) in dog foods

	Temperture	Time of purchase	3 months	6 months	10 months
Economic food	4 °C	35	38	52	65
	20ºC	35	58	85	105

	35ºC	35	65	110	215
Premium food	4ºC	29	32	40	45
	20ºC	29	35	42	86
	35ºC	29	48	86	196

REFERENCES

- Ahlstrom Q., Krogdahly A., Vhile S.G., Skrede A., 2004 - Fatty acid composition in commercial dog foods. J Nutr. 134: 2145–2147.
- Beynen A.C., 2022 Malondialdehyde in petfood. Bonny Canteen, 3: 278-288.
- Błaszczyk A., Augustyniak A., & Skolimowski J. 2013 -. Ethoxyquin: Anantioxidant used in animal feed. International Journal of Food Science,1–12.
- Case L.P., Daristotle L., Hayek M.G., Raasch M.F., 2011 - Canine and Feline Nutrition: A Resource for Companion Animal Professionals. 3rd ed. USA: Mosby Elsevier. https://www. sciencedirect.com/book/9780323066198/canineand-felinenutrition.
- Chanadang S., Koppel K., Aldrich G., 2016 The impact of rendered protein meal oxidation level on shelf-life, sensory characteristics, and acceptability in extruded pet food. Animals. 6(8):44.
- Glodde F., Gunal M., Kinsel M.E., Ghazaleh A.A. 2018 - Effects of natural antioxidants on the stability of omega-3 fatty acids in dog food. Journal of Veterinary Research. 62(1): 103–108.
- Heinze CR., 2016 Premium pet foods are they worth the premium price? http://vetnutrition.tufts.edu/2016/10/should-youbuy-premium-petfood/.

- Hillestad K., 2018 Shelf life of pet food. https://www.petcoach.co/article/shelflife-of-petfood/
- Holda K, Glogowski R. 2016 Selected quality properties of lipid fraction and oxidative stability of dry dog foods under typical storage conditions. J Therm Anal Calorim. 126:91–96.
- Kara K., 2021 Effect of stocking conditions on fatty acid composition and oxidation capacities of different class and type dog food. Italian Journal of Animal Science, Vol. 20, No. 1, 1042–1053 https://doi.org/10.1080/1828051X.2021.1939805
- Koppel K. 2014 Sensory analysis of pet foods. J Sci Food Agric. 94(11):2148–2153.
- Marchi M., Righi F., Meneghesso M, Manfrin D, Ricci R. 2018 - Prediction of chemical composition and peroxide value in unground pet foods by nearinfrared spectroscopy. J Anim Physiol Anim Nutr (Berl). 102(1):337–342.
- Stadtman E.R., Levine R.L. 2003 Free radicalmediated oxidation of free amino acids and amino acid residues in proteins. Amino Acids. 25(3-4):207–218.
- Usuga A., Rojano B.A., Duque J.K., Mesa C., Restrepo O., Gomez L.M., Restrepo G., 2023 -Dry food affects the oxidative/antioxidant profile of dogs. VetMed Sci. 2023;9:687–697.
- Verk B., Nemec Svete A., Salobir J., Rezar V., Petrič A.D., 2017 - Markers of oxidative stress in dogs with heart failure. Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation, Vol. 29(5) 636–644

Article https://doi.org/10.61900/SPJVS.2023.02.06

PRACTICES AND MODELS FOR MONITORING AND CONTROL OF THE MICROBIAL RESIDUE IN PIGS AND POULTRY APPLIED IN ROMANIA

Madalina BELOUS¹, Marian MIHAIU², Sorin DAN², Alexandra TABARAN²

e-mail: madalina.belous@spiruharet.ro

Abstract

Withdrawal periods after antimicrobial treatment have been defined as preventing in meat the presence of residues above the maximum residue limits (MRLs). However, errors can lead to residues above MRLs (Alban et al., 2023). The aim of the study was to perform a microbial risk assessment on pork and broiler carcasses. In the European Union (EU), the antimicrobial is prescribed by a veterinarian and the prescription contains information about the withdrawal period needed before the animal can be sent for slaughter (EU Parliament and Council, 2019). (Background:) Study wants to investigate the best practices applied in our country for monitoring microbial residues in pork and poultry carcasses. Procedures are in place to help avoid delivery of milk to the dairy processor or animals to the abattoir prior to the end of the withdrawal period. Still, residues can occasionally be present in animals sent for slaughter, with potential consequences along the whole meat chain (Arsène et al., 2022). (Methods:) Research was based on a qualitative analysis based on two questionnaires, one for business operators, the other to competent authority distributed to pigs and poultry abattoirs and competent authority. A statistical method was carried out for questionnaires analysis. (Results:) The results showed a variation in small or big facilities, abattoirs placing meat on national markets or to be traded and exported. Two best practices models were developed equal applied for pork and poultry production.

The European Commission (2017) has encouraged a very precise use of antimicrobials to limit the residues in food products and antimicrobial resistance (AMR) in human and animal health. Thus, the farmers, the basic on the food chain needs in some occasions treatments with antimicrobial for livestock treatments. The AM is prescribed by a veterinarian and the prescription contains information about the withdrawal period needed before the animal can be sent for slaughter (EU Parliament and Council, 2019). Compliance with the withdrawal periods is required to ensure that residues of prescribed AM will be below the established maximum residue limits (MRLs) in meat (EU Commission, 2010).

Procedures are in place to help avoid delivery of milk to the dairy processor or animals to the abattoir prior to the end of the withdrawal period. Still, residues can occasionally be present in animals sent for slaughter, with potential consequences along the whole meat chain (Arsène et al., 2022). This can happen, e.g., if the treated animal was not properly marked, registration was inadequate, a human error occurred leading to wrong use of a medicine mixer, or there was a miscommunication between the person treating the animal and the person sending the animal for slaughter (Alban et al., 2014). In the EU, the General Food Law Regulation 178/2002 states that food such as meat should not contain residues (EU Parliament and Council, 2002), continuing the policy of the former EU Residue Directive 96/23 (EU Council, 1996).

То document the compliance with acceptable levels of residues of medicinal products in target tissues, monitoring should be conducted. Monitoring can be established and run by the Cas in accordance with legislation (EU Commission, 2022a), or by the abattoirs in the form of their own check programmes if their hazard analysis so indicates. Some parts of a programme can be run as a surveillance programme, e.g., when the release of a tested carcass is pending a negative test result. in line with the definition of surveillance suggested by Hoinville et al. (2013). The question is how the practices related to routine detection and handling of AM residues are applied in Romania and what the best practices may consist of, when balancing consumer safety with the EU policy on minimising food waste. The research topic was originally investigated by the RIBMINS COST Action network how detecting and handling or control are applied in different 28 countries, and what the best practices may be, when balancing consumer safety with EU policy on minimizing food waste.

The present study shows Romanian example with the expanded studied in pork production applied for poultry industry.



Figure1. . Model for questions followed the elements that form part of risk-based surveillance as described in RISKSUR and SANTERO projects (Alban et al. 2018)

Table 1 Ranked list of objectives for monitoring, where 5 = the most important objective, and 1 = the least important, divided into CA and FBO, and sorted by average value

Objective of monitoring	Average value		Average value		
	CA	No. of answer	FBO	No. of answers	
Detect and handle positive samples	4.3	8	3.7	10	
Show compliance with legislation Asse	4.1	8	3.6	10	
Assess prevalence in pig / poultry meat	3.6	8	3.4	10	
Show pig / poultry producers that monitoring is in place in abattoir	2.9	8	3.4	10	
Other objectives	2.1	8	3.2	10	

Handling of the tested carcass

Table 2

When a sample is taken from pig / poultry carcass, how is carcass handled?						
	Carcass detained, until result becomes available	Carcass not detained	Other handling	l do not know	No. of answers	No. of respondents
CA	NA	8	1	1	8	8
FBO	NA	10	2	2	10	10

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Two questionnaires were developed, targeting the competent authority (CA) and the food business operator (FBO). The survey was undertaken in spring 2022 then in spring 2023 was completed with poultry answers.

Questionaries consists of 1) a general description, 2) a description of the monitoring/surveillance programme in force, 3) Food chain information and 4) a special case when a pig or poultry producer contacts the abattoir because one or more pigs have been sent in before the end of the withdrawal period. Romanian study case involved 12 respondents. The statistical analysis was carried out with the statistical software programme SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute, Inc., Cary, North Carolina, USA). For quantitative questions, the chisquare test was used (or Fisher's test, if one or more of the cells in the contingency table had an expected cell count of <5) to determine statistical differences between the CA and FBO responses. Unless mentioned specifically, the group of answers saying "I do not know" was not included in the analyses. For qualitative questions, the text was condensed to produce a short summary using grounded theory (Creswell & Poth, 2017). Two different models for a set of best practices for detecting and handling in relation to AM residues in pigs were developed. In the next step of the research the models were expanded to poultry industry. The development was inspired by the general principles of the microbiological criteria for foodstuffs (EU Commission. 2005). The questionnaires were based on previous research developed in RISKSUR project. a set of guidelines developed by Codex Alimentarius were used, which present the principles for the design and implementation of food safetv assurance programmes associated with the use of veterinary drugs (Codex Alimentarius, 2014). The general principles of the microbiological criteria for foodstuffs (EU Commission, 2005) were a base line for developing the models of the best practice. In that Regulation, a distinction is made between a requirement for immediate action, such as a recall because of a perceived food safety risk, and a requirement for investigating the process due to an observed deviation that raises suspicion the procedures in place were not employed correctly (Alban at al. 2023)

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

In total, 18 responses to the questionnaires were received during the collection period. Of these, 8 were from CA representatives and 10 from FBO representatives (Table1).

In original study applied in and outside Europe, two different approaches were used for detection and handling, where the first was based on not retaining the tested carcass (monitoring approach) whereas the second was based on detaining the carcass until a negative test result would be become available (surveillance approach).

Based on the original questionnaires and upon the answers (78 answers from 28 countries), two models for best practices were developed showing that the surveillance objectives differ substantially between the individual abattoirs / countries. The first model (monitoring), based on cheap biological laboratory methods can be used followed by chemical verification. The limitation of the method implies the results are delivered in 6 to 8 weeks. The matrix needs to be kidney for pork and liver for poultry because biological methods have a low sensitivity.

For the second model (surveillance), it is important that the results become available fast, because the release of the carcasses is pending a negative test result. This implies that direct chemical verification is used, which is more expensive than the biological methods, but with a higher sensitivity. The meat may be used like matrix for both species pork and poultry, reflecting a more appropriate exposure for the real consumer case.

In monitoring model, a detection of residues above MRL s may be interpreted like a process hygiene criterion, with focus on the process. This implies that a visit would be made to the pig or poultry farm, from which the positive animal originated, but the carcass tested would not be detained and meat will be recall if possible but in most of the cases when the results become available the meat could be already consumed with an impossibility of recalled.

In surveillance model, findings would be interpreted as a food safety criterion implying a visit to the farm as well as detaining the carcass to be tested to avoid expensive call-backs and food waste for a sustainable environment.

In Romania, the carcasses are not detained until MRL result becomes available, but if tests prove positive results a call- back through Rapid Alert System for Food and Feed (RASFF) system in line with Article 50–52 in the EU General Food Law Regulation 178/2002.

This approach reflects the view that detection and handling of meat/carcasses with residues is one of the main objectives for a safe product to the customer. Table 2 illustrates the image of our country.

Model of monitoring could reflect abattoirs mainly placing meat on the national market, whereas Model of surveillance could reflect abattoirs with main parts of meat traded and exported. In specific Romanian case main export is represented by poultry meat, for pork some restrictions being in place due to Swine Fever.

Problems may arise if the FBO interprets the system as monitoring, but the competent authority interprets it as surveillance. Because with the arrival of test results weeks to months after slaughter, meat from the slaughter day may have been distributed widely, complicating withdrawals. Therefore, there should be an agreement between FBO and CA regarding which system is in place. The food safety level is low in both models, because the proportion of carcasses tested is very low.

In Romania national surveillance programme implies tests annually and private standards monitoring up to 2 times per year. This implies that the testing should more be seen as a verification of the procedures in place of which compliance with withdrawal periods is the most important and main responsibility is on the farm level or antemortem inspection. The questionnaires showed another limitation – the withdrawal period may differ widely in between countries for the same drug and concentration.

CONCLUSIONS

Based on the surveillance, we -have shown there is a plethora of ways to undertake routine monitoring and control of AM residues in pigs and poultry. The main difference in the systems in place in Europe relates to whether the tested carcass is detained (the least common) or not (the most common). The two models developed were based on the approach used in the EC Regulation on microbiological criteria for foodstuffs. When not detained, the system can be characterized as monitoring, where the only corrective action in case of a positive sample > MRL is to visit the farm of origin. In contrast, when the tested carcass is detained, the system can be characterized as surveillance,

involving condemnation of the tested carcass if the test results indicate that the concentration is above MRL. Problems arise when the two model are mixed, e.g., the FBO sees it as monitoring and the CA interprets it as surveillance and if positive results above MRL are found require product withdrawal (Alban et al., 2023)

The outcome of this study could act as a basis for more evidence-based and harmonised procedures in the future to improve decisionmaking regarding condemnation of carcasses and by-products that contain (or might contain) AM residues above the MRLs. With a recommendation of surveillance model to be applied in Romania, too to reduce food waste (in case of expensive callback) without jeopardizing consumer safety, which is in line with the EU ambition to ensure more sustainable and climate friendly food production.

ACKNOWLEGMENTS

The original work was undertaken by a working group (WG 1) within the European COST Action, RIBMINS CA18105. RIBMINS is an acronym for riskbased meat inspection and integrated meat safety assurance. Please see https://ribmins.com/ for more information. In this paper, the aims were to: collect information about current ways of monitoring the presence of AM residues in pigs and pork and develop best practices depending upon the objective of monitoring and control in the individual country. Later, the research was completed with poultry study case applied in Romanian framework.

REFERENCES

Arial, 10, B, Center, All Caps

- Alban, L., Pacheco, G., & Petersen, J.V. (2014) Riskbased surveillance of antimicrobial residues – Identification of potential risk indicators. Prev. Vet. Med. 114, 88-95.
- Alban, L., Rugbjerg, H., Petersen, J.V., & Nielsen, L.R. (2016) - Stochastic scenario tree modelling of cost-effectiveness of risk-based antimicrobial residue monitoring in Danish pork. Prev. Vet. Med. 128, 87-94.
- Alban, L., Léger, A., Veldhuis, A., & Schaik, G.V. (2018) - Modernizing the antimicrobial residue monitoring programs for pig meat in Europe - the balance between flexibility and harmonization. Food Control, 86, 403-414
- Alban, L., Olsen, A.-M., Dresling, A., & Petersen, J.V. (2020) - Surveillance for prohibited substances and environmental contaminants in pig meat – evaluating the effect of changing sampling schedule. Fleischwirtschaft, 3, 100-106.
- L. Alban, B. Antunović, M. Belous, S. Bonardi, R.M. García-Gimeno, I. Jenson, A.H. Kautto, M. Majewski, D. Oorburg, I. Sakaridis, A. Sirbu, M. Vieira-Pinto, I. Vågsholm, A. Bērziņš, J.V. Petersen, (2023)- - Mapping ways of detecting and handling antimicrobial residues in pigs and pig meat in- and outside Europe, Food Control, Volume 153. (2023) 109899, ISSN 0956-7135, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2023.109899.
- Lis Alban, Boris Antunovic, Madalina Belous, Aivars Bērziņš, Silvia Bonardi, Rosa Maria García-Gimeno, Ian Jenson, Arja Helena Kautto, Michał Majewski, Derk Oorburg, Ioannis Sakaridis, Alexandrina Sirbu, Madalena Vieira-Pinto, Ivar Vågsholm, Jesper Valentin Petersen, (2023) - Accidental delivery of pigs for slaughter prior to end of withdrawal period for antimicrobial treatment - Ways of handling, Food Control, Volume 154, 2023110000, ISSN 0956-7135,

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2023.11000.

Ars'ene, M. M. J., Davares, A. K. L., Viktorovna, P. I., Andreevna, S. L., Sarra, S., Khelifi, I., & Sergueïevna, D. M. (2022. - The public health issue of antibiotic residues in food and feed: Causes, consequences, and potential solutions. Veterinary World, 15 (3), 662–671.

- Creswell, J., & Poth, C. N. (2017) Qualitative inquiry and research design – choosing among five approaches (4th ed.). SAGE Publications, Inc.. ISBN: 9781506330204.
- EFSA. (2022a) Food safety in the EU: Report. Publications Office of the European Union, 2022 https://zenodo.org/record/7112932#.ZEuvQc7P2 5c
- EFSA. (2022b)- Report for 2020 on the results from the monitoring of veterinary medicinal product residues and other substances in live animals and animal products. EFSA Supporting publication 2022. https://doi.org/10.2903/sp.efsa.2022.EN-7143. EN- 714
- EU Commission. (2005) EU Regulation 2073/2005. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32005R2073& from=EN.
- EU Commission. (2009) EU Regulation 1069/2009. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32009R1069& from=en.
- EU Commission. (2010) EU Regulation 37/2010. https://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ: L:2010:015:0001:0072:en:PDF.
- **EU Commission. (2017)** A European one health action plan against antimicrobial resistance. https://health.ec.europa.eu/system/files/2020-01/amr_2017_action-plan_0.pdf.
- EU Commission. (2019) EU Regulation 2019/2090. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32019R2090& from=EN.
- EU Commission. (2022a) EU Regulation 2022/1644. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32022R1644& qid=1673356746675&from=EN.

- **EU Commission. (2022b)** Farm to fork strategy. For a fair, healthy and environmentally friendly food system. https://food.ec.europa.eu/horizontal-topics/farm-fork-strategy_en.
- EU Commission. (2022c) EU Regulation 2022/1646. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-
- content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32022R1646. EU Council. (1996).- Council Directive 96/23/EC. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:31996L0023& gid=1682346226416.
- EU Parliament and Council. (2002) EU Regulation 178/2002. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:02002R0178-20210526&from=EN.
- EU Parliament and Council. (2004) EU Regulation 853/2004. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32004R0853& from=EN.
- EU Parliament and Council. (2017) EU Regulation 2017/625. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32017R0625& from=EN.
- EU Parliament and Council. (2019) EU Regulation 2019/6. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32019R0006& from=EN.
- FAO. (2023) The impact of veterinary drug residues on the gut microbiome and human health– a food safety perspective (Vol. 20). Rome: Food Safety and Quality Series. https://doi.org/10.4060/cc5301en
- Hoinville, L. J., Alban, L., Drewe, J. A., Gibbens, J. C., Gustafsson, L., H¨asler, B., Saegerman, C., Salman, M., & St¨ark, K. D. C. (2013)-Proposed terms and concepts for describing and evaluating animal-health surveillance terms. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 112, 1–12.

Article https://doi.org/10.61900/SPJVS.2023.02.07

WHAT S HAPPEN WHEN PIGS OR POULTRY ARE DELIVRED TO SLAUGHTER PRIOR TO THE END OF WITHDRAWAL PERIOD?

Madalina BELOUS¹, Daniel CUCA¹

e-mail: madalina.belous@spiruharet.ro

Abstract

The withdrawal period after treatment with microbials is established to minimize the concentration of residues in meat of treated pigs or poultry.

Even Food Chain has very precise rules about sending or not animals to slaughter before withdrawal period thus human errors may occur. In a prior study two questionnaires was distributed to food business operator (FBO) and competent authority (CA) involving 28 countries in and outside Europe (Romania included), involving pig meat production. Then in the second part of the study, the questionnaires were distributed for poultry meat production. The models developed in the previous study were applied for poultry industry and Romanian study case.

Key words: Microbial residues, consumer safety, sustainable environment.

Surveys about consumer perceptions have shown that European consumers are increasingly concerned about the quality of their food. Three out of 10 Europeans mentioned chemical residues from pesticides (31%), antibiotics (30%) and pollutants like mercury and dioxins (29%) as risk to be "very worried" about - according to a European survey about consumer perception about food safety (TNS, 2010).

Antimicrobials (AM) are widely used to treat clinical livestock diseases or even ass animal growth promoters (Landers et al., 2012). The primary producers are very aware about using antimicrobials, thus some AM residues exceeding maximum residue limits (MRLs) the are occasionally detected in monitoring programmes Commission, 2010). Tetracyclines (EU and sulfonamides are the most commune antimicrobial classes among animal production throughout the world (World Organization, 2016). The presence of antibiotic residues in foods of animal origin, combined with a failure to comply with the instruction for their use, particularly dose and withdrawal period, combined with wrong livestock production practices, may conduct to serious problems for consumer health (Stella et al., 2020).

Antimicrobials in food animals and poultry are used for three main purposes: therapeutic, prophylactic and growth promotions.

Persistence of antimicrobial residues might cause direct toxicity, allergic reactions, disturbance of the normal microbiota or marrow disorders (Menkem et al., 2019). According to Stella et al. (2020) the emergence of antibiotic resistant bacteria may be linked to antibiotic resistance.

It is believed that low residue concentrations of AMs in foods are not ascribed to any public health issues (Baynes et al., 2016). Hence, focus should be on maintaining a low prevalence of such incidents and on low concentrations. According to Arsène et al. (2022), the toxic consequences can be divided into two groups – direct and indirect.

In Europe, negative human health consequences related to AM residues after consumption of contaminated meat or products thereof are rarely reported. This may be because of the low concentration of the AM in the raw meat. The case reports found in the literature deal mainly with allergies due to the presence of residues of beta-lactam antibiotics in meat as shown by Baptista et al. (2010). The last reported case dates to 2001 and refers to a person who had eaten beef and subsequently developed anaphylactic shock.

Thermal processes like cooking, roasting or boiling lead to a change in the properties of proteins, fats, water content, and reduce the food safety risk related to the AM residues by decreasing their concentration, as well as modifying their chemical structure or solubility (Rana et al., 2019; Almashhadany, 2020).

Usually, a pig or poultry producer would know when a batch of pigs or treated chickens has reached slaughter weight and would be ready to be shipped to the abattoir. A correct withdrawal period is applicable for the study cases. Correct marking and registration of the treatments make

¹ Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Spiru Haret University, Bucharest, Romania
sure that pigs are poultry are not delivered to slaughter prior to the withdrawal period. Thus, finishing pigs or poultry may be sent to slaughter by mistake before the end of the withdrawal period, as shown by Alban et al. (2014) and Baptista et al. (2012).

In this situation, the pig pr poultry producer may contact the abattoir after the delivery of the animals or birds for slaughter to report the unintentional shipment of treated animals. If the animals or birds have not yet been slaughtered, they will be identified, kept aside, and handled by the authorities in accordance with the Regulation 2019/2090 (EU Commission, 2019).

If slaughtering has taken place, the question is how the carcass and offal of a treated pig should be handled. Regulation (EU) 2019/2090 does not give guidance for that situation (EU Commission, 2019).

A condemnation policy simply based upon a pig producer's information about premature delivery of animals for slaughter could lead to excessive food waste perhaps without any real need to protect consumer safety. This would contradict the EU policy of reducing food waste as outlined by the European Parliament Resolution (European Parliament, 2017) to reduce food waste in the European Union by 30 and 50% in 2025 and 2030.

The question is how to handle the situation when a farmer reports the accidental delivery of one or more treated pigs or poultry to the abattoir prior to the end of the withdrawal period. Moreover, would it be possible to develop best practices based upon the surveillance objective?

Table	1
-------	---

Questionnaires distribution				
Poultry production		Pork Production		
CA answers	6	CA answers	4	
FBO answers	6	FBO answers	7	
Total answers	12	Total answers	10	
Total 22 answers				



Figure 1. FBO's decision about de-classification, recalling from market is based upon a risk assessment.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

In the first part of the study, a questionnaire was developed by a project group with RIBMINS. The first parts dealt with routine detection and handling of AM residues in pigs delivered to an abattoir. That work is published separately (Alban at al., 2023). The original questionnaire dealt with the situation when a pig producer contacts the abattoir, because one or more pigs have been sent for slaughter by mistake before the end of the withdrawal period. For this study we analyzed the answers from Romania, and we distributed the 2 versions of the questionnaire for poultry industry, too. The two versions were designed for competent authority (CA) and food business operator (FBO).

It was explained to the respondents that the case dealt with a pig or poultry producer who had provided Food Chain Information (FCI) indicating compliance with the withdrawal periods.

A farmer later informed the abattoir that one or more pigs or birds had been sent before the end of the withdrawal period. The respondents were asked seven questions regarding ways of handling the situation, depending upon the time interval between the moment the animals were treated with AM and the moment the animals were slaughtered (Figure 1).

Two hypotheses were investigated. The first dealt with the potential difference in views between the CA and the FBO. The second dealt with the potential difference between facilities with a major part of their meat being traded or exported and others with minor exports of meat.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

In this specific case of Romanian example, presented in this paper, a total of 22 answers was collected. Of these, 10 represented CA and 12. represented FBO. Likewise, 10 are represented by pig production and 12 by poultry production. Please see Table 1 for questionnaires distribution.

Based on the questionnaires we identify the following current practices when a farmer is calling abattoir about a batch of animas or poultry prior to withdrawal period: 1) the existence of procedures to handle such a situation and who should manage the case, 2) the situation where the individual animal has not yet been slaughtered and can be identified easily, 3) the animal has not yet been slaughtered, thus, it cannot be identified individually as it is part of a batch, 4) the animal has been slaughtered and the carcass cut, deboned and packed, traceability has been reduced to a lot, but the products have not left the abattoir, 5) the traceability has been reduced to a lot, and edible parts have left the abattoir and been placed on the market, 6) the animal by-products belonging to a lot, including blood, have already been placed on the market, 7) meat or a meat product is placed on a market.

When a meat producer (pork or poultry) contacts the abattoir regarding delivery of pigs prior to the end of the withdrawal periods the delivered animals or birds can be alive or slaughtered and subjected to an official control including positive meat inspection decision and health marking in accordance with relevant legislation. If slaughtered and health marked, the carcass can be cut into three parts or more and deboned. The longer the time is between the delivery of the animals or birds and the farm producer contacting the abattoir, the more complicated the situation becomes.

There is some disagreement both within and between CA and FBO responders as to what the EU legislation allows regarding use of risk assessment and testing. Some CA treat the animals or birds in the same way as before the legislative change came into force in 2019 deleting the possibility of using testing.

When a producer reports that legal AMs have been used, testing is undertaken post slaughter and before the final meat inspection decision is done. This may be in cases where the withdrawal period has almost been complied with. This means that official veterinarians are focused on animal welfare and therefore following the regulations for killing without undue delay (EU Council, 2009).

CONCLUSIONS

The future EU Directive about monitoring for residues of antimicrobial origin should focus on the objective of residue monitoring: to demonstrate compliance with legislation regarding MRL for legal antimicrobials and absence of use of prohibited antimicrobials. Moreover, standards for monitoring should be set to ensure a basic level of monitoring that can enable a comparison of results, acting as an incentive to reduce the prevalence of residues.

A best practices model which can be used both when the delivered and treated animals or birds are still alive and when it has been slaughtered, and the carcass is health marked. The best practice model involves a risk assessment, to be undertaken by the FBO and verified by the CA. The model consists of a risk-assessment approach that can be performed within one day, based on easily available data. This approach will likely lead to less food waste in line with the European Green Deal.

ACKNOWLEGMENTS

The original work was undertaken by a working group (WG 1) within the European COST Action, RIBMINS CA18105. RIBMINS is an acronym for risk-based meat inspection and integrated meat safety assurance. Please see https://ribmins.com/ for more information. In this paper, the aims were to: collect information about current ways of monitoring the presence of AM residues in pigs and pork and develop best practices depending upon the objective of monitoring and control in the individual country. Later, the research was completed with poultry study case applied in Romanian framework.

REFERENCES

- Alban, L., Pacheco, G., & Petersen, J.V. (2014) Riskbased surveillance of antimicrobial residues – Identification of potential risk indicators. Prev. Vet. Med. 114, 88-95.
- Lis Alban, Boris Antunovic, Madalina Belous, Aivars Bērziņš, Silvia Bonardi, Rosa Maria García-Gimeno, Ian Jenson, Arja Helena Kautto, Michał Majewski, Derk Oorburg, Ioannis Sakaridis, Alexandrina Sirbu, Madalena Vieira-Pinto, Ivar Vågsholm, Jesper Valentin Petersen, (2023) - Accidental delivery of pigs for slaughter prior to end of withdrawal period for antimicrobial treatment - Ways of handling, Food Control, Volume 154, 2023110000, ISSN 0956-7135,

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2023.11000.

- Almashhadany, D. A., (2020).- Monitoring of Antibiotic Residues among Sheep Meat in Erbil City and Thermal Processing Effect on their Remnants. Iraqi J. Vet. Sci., 34(2), 217-222. doi: 10.33899/ijvs.2019.125814.1161
- Ars`ene, M. M. J., Davares, A. K. L., Viktorovna, P. I., Andreevna, S. L., Sarra, S., Khelifi, I., & Sergueïevna, D. M. (2022). - The public health issue of antibiotic residues in food and feed: Causes, consequences, and potential solutions. Veterinary World, 15 (3), 662–671.

Baptista, F.M. Alban, L., Olsen, A.M., Petersen, J.V., & Toft, N., (2012).- Evaluation of the antibacterial residue surveillance programme in Danish pigs using Bayesian methods. Prev. Vet. Med. 106, 308-314.

European Parliament (2017). - Cutting Food Waste. Press Release 20170509IPR73930. Available online at: <u>http://www.europarl.europa.eu/news/en/press-</u> room/20170509IPR73930/cutting-food-waste **EU Commission. (2009)** - EU Regulation 1069/2009. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-

content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32009R1069&from=e n

- EU Commission. (2010) EU Regulation 37/2010. https://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ: L:2010:015:0001:0072:en:PDF.
- EU Commission, (2019).- Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/2090 of 19 June 2019 supplementing Regulation (EU) 2017/625 of the European Parliament and Council regarding cases of suspected or established noncompliance with Union rules applicable to the use pharmacologically or residues of active substances authorised in veterinary medicinal products or as feed additives or with Union rules applicable to the use or residues of prohibited or unauthorised pharmacologically active substances. Official Journal of the European Union, 317 (L), 28-37. https://eurlex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32019R2090& from=EN
- Landers, T.F.; Cohen, B.; Wittum, T.E.; Larson, E.L.(2012) - A Review of Antibiotic Use in Food Animals:
- Perspective, Policy, and Potential. Public Health Rep. 2012, 127, 4–22.
- Menkem ZE, Ngangom BL, Tamunjoh SSA, Boyom F F (2019).- Antibiotic residues in food animals: Public health concern. Acta Ecologica Sinica, 39 (5): 411–415.
- Rana, M.S., Lee S.Y., Kang H.J., & Hur S.J., (2019). -Reducing Veterinary Drug Residues in Animal Products: A Review. Food Sci. Anim. Resour.. 39, 5, 687-703. doi: 10.5851/kosfa.2019.e65. Epub 2019 Oct 31. PMID: 31728441; PMCID: PMC6837901.
- Stella O-I O, Ezenduka EV, Anaelom NJ (2020).-Screening for tylosin and other antimicrobial residues in fresh and fermented (nono) cow milk in Delta state, South-South, Nigeria. Veterinary World, 13(3): 458–464.
- **TNS. (2010)**.- Special eurobarometer 354-Food-related risks. TNS Opinion & Social, 168 pp <u>http://ec.europa.eu/commfrontoffice/publicopinion</u> /archives/ebs/ebs_354_en.pdf.
- World Organization for Animal Health. OIE (2016)-Annual Report on the Use of Antimicrobial Agents in Animals— Better Understanding of the Global Situation; OIE: Paris, France, 2016; pp. 1–67.

Article https://doi.org/10.61900/SPJVS.2023.02.08

A CASE OF BILATERAL CRYPTORCHIDISM, ULTRASOUND DIAGNOSIS AND SURGICAL THERAPY INTOMCAT

Iulian MIHĂILĂ1, Liviu-Catalin BURTAN¹, Romelia POP², Vasile VULPE¹

e-mail: mihailaiulian@uaiasi.ro

Abstract

Bilateral cryptorchidism is seldom in tomcats. Clinical diagnosis is challenging because the testicles can be located in the abdominal cavity, a situation in which they cannot be palpated, or in the inguinal region, a situation in which they are difficult to identify due to the subcutaneous fat layer.

Ultrasound is the most available imaging method for diagnosing this pathology. The testicles have a characteristic structure that is easy to recognize. Ultrasound localization of the testicles allows the approach through a smaller incision, and the use of a castration hook to extract the testicle from the abdominal cavity.

The blood vessels and ductus deferens can be ligated with absorbable suture material, but can also be sealed with bipolar forceps. The reason why vascular sealing with bipolar forceps was chosen was to reduce surgical time and to reduce the amount of embedded foreign material. From a histopathological point of view, coagulation necrosis was observed on both blood vessels and ductus deferens.

The suture of the abdominal wall was made in a continuous pattern. Skin staples were used to save time.

Key words: Cryptorchidism, castration, electrosurgery

INTRODUCTION

Cryptorchidism is the pathology with genetic determinism most frequently found in tomcats. It can be unilateral or bilateral. When it is unilateral cryptorchidism only one testicle reaches the scrotum. When both testicles do not reach the scrotum it is called bilateral cryptorchidism. They can get stuck in the abdominal cavity, in the inguinal region or in the prescrotal region. Testicular dehiscence must occur within the first months of life. (Villalobos-Gomez, J. Et al., 2023).

Cryptorchidism incidence is lower in tomcats than in dogs. Unilateral cryporchidism has a higher incidence than bilateral cryporchidism (Rudresh G.N. Et al., 2018).

Bilateral cryptorchidism must be differentiated from monorchidism (Backhaus S. Et al., 2019).

Orchidectomy is the treatment of choice. Cryptorchid testicles produce testosterone and carry the risk of neoplasia.

Surgical tratment requires laparotomy on the white line in the pre-pubic region.

Ultrasound is the imaging techniques of choice for intra-abdominal testicles localization. To identify the testicles in the inguinal and prescrotal region, palpation and ultrasound can be used to confirm the diagnosis (Carbonari A. et.al. 2022).

Several methods can be used to achieve hemostasis on the testicular cord, including vascular sealing.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

A 3-year-old tomcat was presented because he impregnated queen cats and the owner was aware that no testes were present in the scrotal sacs. The penis had cornified papillae.

Following the clinical examination, a mass was identified in the inguinal region by palpation.

In figure 1, the inguinal area is prepared for surgery and the presence of a formation in the midline region can be observed.

Numerous injuries associated with tomcat fights were also noted.



Figure 1 - Tomcat, 3 years. Inguinal area being prepared for surgery and showing the presence of a foreing mass

Hematological and biochemical blood tests did not show any changes in the blood parameters. Following the ultrasound examination, both testicles were identified. The left one (figure 2) was identified in the inguinal region, and the right one was identified in the abdominal cavity, on the right side, caudal to the intestines (figure 3).

In figure 2, you can see the left testicle with a Doppler signal on the testicular vein and artery. It is framed by the musculature of the limbs and below it is the shadow cast by the bones of the pelvis.



Figure 2 - Tomcat, 3 years. Transverse ultrasound of the inginal area showing the left testicle. Doppler imaging is showing the testicular artery and vein.

The right testicle appears in the vicinity of the intestines (figure 3). Both testicles presented a typical ultrasound appearance: oval shape, hypoechoic parenchyma with reduced areas where Power Doppler signals could be observed, and with hyperechoic mediastinum.



Figure 3 - Tomcat, 3 years. Sagital ultrasound of the right caudal quarter of the abdomen showing the right testicle located caudally of the intestines.

Ultrasound images were obtained using a 13 MHz linear probe.

After locating the testicles, it was decided to perform the orchidectomy surgery.

Anesthesia was achieved using the triad of Dexdomitor, ketamine and buprenorphine administered intramuscularly. Additionally, an oxygen mask was fitted to maintain a good oxygen saturation.

The patient was placed in the dorsal recumbent position and connected to the patient monitor.

The operating field was prepared with alcohol. After evaporation of the alcohol, a self-adhesive surgical drapes were applied.

Skin was incised on the midline of the abdomen, in the prepubic region. The laparotomy was performed prepubically, on the white line, with a length of 15 mm. It was desired to make an incision as small as possible.

A hook was used to extract the testicle from the abdominal cavity (figure 4).



Figure 4 - Tomcat, 3 years. Right testicle being extracted by hook from the abdominal cavity



Figure 5 - Tomcat, 3 years. Vascular sealing of the tesicular blood vessels and vas deferens on the right testicle

Hemostasis was achieved using a bipolar forceps (figure 5,6) and radiofrequency current. In both figure 5 and 6 the area where the forceps was used turned white, that beeing a good indicator that there is no blood circulating in that area. On the other hand, in picture 6 the testicular cord turned yellow, that beeing an indicator that the bipolar forceps was used for too long.



Figure 6 - Tomcat, 3 years. Vascular sealing of the tesicular blood vessels and vas deferens on the left testicle



Figure - 7 Tomcat, 3 years. Coagulation necrosis is marked with *

From a histopathological point of view, the transversally sectioned vas deferens and testicular

blood vessels are showing coagulation necrosis that is suggestive of cauterization (figure 7). Coagulation necrosis is marked with * in figure 7.

The peritoneum, abdominal muscle wall and subcutaneous layes were sutured using 2/0 PGA (polyglycolic acid) thread and a simple suture pattern (Figure 8).



Figure 8 - Tomcat, 3 years. Suture of the subcutaneous layer

Skin was sutured using 8 metal staples (figure 9).



Figure 9 - Tomcat, 3 years. Skin suture

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

Bilateral orchidectomy is the treatment of choice for cryptorchid males. If the testicles are located in the subcutaneous region, they can also fulfill their role in spermatogenesis.

Among the imaging methods, the most frequently used is ultrasound because the testicles have a specific appearance and anatomically the areas where they can be found are known: either in the abdominal cavity or on the inguinal path. By using the ultrasound exam, the testicles can be located precisely.

The length of the surgical incision could be reduced because the precise location of the testicles was known, this allowing the use of a hook and the "fishing" of the testicle, thus minimizing the manipulation of the viscera and the surgical trauma.

Sealing vessels using bipolar forceps offers the advantage of reducing the amount of foreign body implanted, as well as reducing the duration of surgery.

The use of skin staples shortens surgical times. The disadvantage of this method is the risk of the animal removing the staples, especially when it licks itself off. Figure 9 shows the appearance of the surgical wound after removing the staples after 7 days. It is noted that in the middle of the wound the animal managed to remove the staples, and in the cranial part (right of the image) the place where the staples were implanted shows an inflammatory aspect.



Fig. 9 Tomcat, 3 years. Surgical wound 7 days after surgery.

CONCLUSIONS

Cryptorchid tomcats are a challenge both from the point of view of diagnosis and treatment.

The location of the testicles should be done as accurately as possible to aid in surgical planning.

Surgical therapy can be done minimizing operative trauma, anesthesia duration and postoperative pain by using diagnostic imaging, especially ultrasound imaging.

Unlike the classic ligature, vascular sealing offers the advantage of reducing the execution time of the surgery but also the advantage that it does not require the implantation of foreign material in the body.

REFERENCES

- Backhaus S., KrauB M., 2019 Monorchism in a tomcat, Tierarztliche Praxis. Ausgabe K, Kleintiere/heimtiere. 2019 Jun;47(3):202-208. DOI: 10.1055/a-0886-0854. PMID: 31212353.
- Carbonari, A.; Lillo, E.; Cicirelli, V.; Sciorsci, R.L.; Rizzo, A. 2022 - The Use of Abdominal Ultrasound to Improve the Cryptorchidectomy of Pigs. Animals 2022, 12, 1763. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani12141763
- Rudresh G.N., Sandeepa K.H, Sahadev A., Sudha G., Sarkar Debajyothi, Vishwanath S., 2018 -Unilateral cryptorchidism in a cat and its surgical management, Indian Journal of Canine Practice Volume 10 Issue 2, December, 2018 141-142
- Villalobos-Gomez, J., Del-Angel-Caraza, J., Tapia-Araya, A.; Brandao, F.; Hernández-López, C.A., Martínez-Gomariz, F.,Botero-Crespo, C.E.; Properzi, R., 2023 - Retrospective Study of Laparoscopic Cryptorchidectomy in 19 Cats with Intra-Abdominal Testes. Animals 2023, 13, 181. <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.3390/ani13010181

Review https://doi.org/10.61900/SPJVS.2023.02.09

THE USE OF PLATELET-RICH PLASMA TO IMPROVE IN VITRO EMBRYO PRODUCTION AND IMPLANTATION RATE IN MAMMALS

Silviu-Ionuț Borș

Research and Development Station for Cattle Breeding, 707252 Dancu, Iași, Romania

bors.ionut@yahoo.com

Abstract

It has been demonstrated that platelet-rich plasma (PRP), a preparation of plasma enriched with a platelet level above the baseline, is essential for the process of tissue regeneration. Over the past ten years, PRP has drawn more attention as an unusual form of therapy. Applications of PRP in animals have demonstrated varying degrees of efficacy in treating a wide range of medical conditions, ranging from ovarian insufficiency to musculoskeletal ailments. Although there are currently few therapeutic PRP uses in farm animals, the encouraging findings of a number of research will likely lead to a rise in interest in PRP use among farmers and veterinarians. In animal reproduction, PRP can be used to enhance follicular growth, oocyte competence, and the uterine environment to boost the implantation rate of the embryos.

Keywords: mammals, reproductive medicine, platelet-rich plasma, embryos

1. Introduction

The history of platelet-rich plasma (PRP) began with the first publication in Nature magazine (Kingsley, 1954), followed by the first article about ten years later to describe the use of PRP in a therapeutic approach (Levin et al., 1964). Plateletrich plasma has already been used clinically in humans and animals for its healing properties related to increased concentrations of autologous growth factors (Foster et al., 2009). Notable growth factors released from platelets that are involved in the healing process include plateletderived growth factor (PDGF), transforming growth factor (TGF- β), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), epidermal growth factor (EGF), basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), and insulin-like growth factor (IGF-1) (Wu et al., 2016). Platelets also release chemicals that promote tissue repair and significantly impact the reactivity of vascular and other blood cells in angiogenesis and inflammation. Apart from the storage pools of growth factors they contain cytokines including proteins such as PF4 (platelet factor 4) and CD40L (Anitua et al., 2004).

In reproductive medicine of dairy cows, platelet-rich plasma (PRP) has recently been used and is based on the knowledge that platelet growth factors can improve the endometrial environment, which is abundant of growth factor receptors, adhesion molecules, cytokines, lipids, and other factors that improve endometrial and embryonic growth. Despite the progress in the field of assisted medical conditions, with usually acceptable results (Molina et al., 2018).

This review offers a brief description of PRP and summarizes what the literature has so far provided of using PRP in reproductive medicine of mammals.

reproductive technology (ART) multiple embryos

is rich in growth factors. Since PRP is an

autologous preparation, and thus non-toxic and

non-allergenic, it can be used as an adjuvant

therapy for traditional treatment under different

PRP is simple to obtain, with low cost and

fail to implant (Gonçalves et al., 2019).

2. Definition of Platelet-rich plasma (PRP)

Platelet-rich plasma (PRP) is a biological product known as a portion of the autologous blood plasma fraction with a platelet level above the baseline (Alves and Grimalt, 2016), enriched in platelet-rich growth factors (GFs), chemokines, cytokines, and other plasma proteins (Lynch and Bashir, 2016). Also, PRP provides not only a high platelet level, but also the clotting factors, which usually remain at their normal physiological levels (Wroblewski et al., 2010).

PRP have been used as an adjuvant for various indications for more than 30 years, resulting in considerable interest in the potential of autologous PRP in regenerative medicine (Everts et al., 2020). Despite its substantial use for therapy in various fields, no standardized procedure has been yet set up for the preparation of PRP. A multitude of protocols is available, implying a simple or double centrifugation (Figure 1), and all



Figure 1. Schematic representation of the Platelet-rich plasma protocol. In the bovine reproductive medicine the PRP can be use to potentiate the mastitis conventional therapy, to treat endometritis and to improve the follicular development, oocyte competence and uterine environment for increasing the embryos implantation rate. Adapted from Gonçalves et al., (2019).

concentration allowing a therapeutic effect (Croisé et al., 2020). However, one must be aware that significant differences in components are observed in different separation methods and may have specific results on treated tissue (Mazzocca et al., 2012). Grossly elevated concentrations of plateletreleased GFs may also have inhibitory effects on healing (Collins et al., 2021). Each preparation method is intended to create an end product with a particular bioaction, and consequently, with a specific clinical application and not just one single final blood derivate containing plasma and high concentrations of platelets (Bos-Mikich et al., 2018). Briefly, PRP is a prepared product from blood collected on anticoagulant via a one- or twostage centrifugation protocol. The collected blood is submitted to a soft spin centrifugation to separate the red blood cells (lower layer, approx. 45%) from the rich in platelets plasma (upper layer, approx. 55%). In between there will be a leucocyte layer (buffy coat, <1%). The upper level can be sampled and used as it is, or submitted to a second, hard spin centrifugation to obtain a platelet concentrated plasma or pure PRP, made of granules, which is represented by the lower layer. This coat is in general subsequently homogenized with plasma (Croisé et al., 2020). There are a range of commercial kits available to ease PRP preparation (Dhurat and Sukesh, 2014).

Growth factors are released from platelets during physiological wound healing as a consequence of activation of the clotting cascade. Most protocols support platelet activation ex vivo to induce growth factor release. The addition of calcium chloride or thrombin, which induces the degranulation of platelets and the release of growth factors, can accomplish this. Degranulation happens instantly and thus quickly after the activation phase. It is important to use triggered PRP soon after preparation (Dohan et al., 2009).

In veterinary medicine, the therapeutic use of PRP is inferior to human medicine. It has been used to promote equine tendon repair (Rindermann et al., 2010), to treat intestinal wound healing in pigs (Fresno et al., 2010), or to cure large cutaneous lesions in dogs (Kim et al., 2009). In the cattle industry, its beneficial effects have been tested against bovine mastitis (Lange-Consiglio et al., 2014), in repeat breeder cows (Lange Consiglio et al., 2015), for the improvement of embryo recovery in Holstein cows treated by intra-ovarian platelet-rich plasma before superovulation (Cremonesi et al., 2020a, Borş et al. 2022a) and in bovine ovarian hypofunction (Cremonesi et al., 2020b).

3. The PRP use to improve embryo production and embryo implantation in mammals

In the field of assisted reproductive technologies, promising results were confirmed by Sills et al., (2018), who performed intraovarian administration of autologous activated PRP in the human ovarian senescence and provided the first clinical data on IVF cycle characteristics following this intervention.

Ovarian senescence is a complex physiological process involving the interaction and gradual accumulation of several factors, of which the most important aspects are the reduction in the number and quality of ovarian follicles (de Vet et al., 2002; Turola et al., 2015). In this context it seems plausible to consider using autologous PRP to improve the ovarian microenvironment – and even interacting with putative ovarian germline stem cells (GSCs) – warrants serious consideration (Sills et al., 2018).

The study of Sills et al., (2018) proposes a new hypothesis in which the PRP-related growth signals established communication with uncommitted ovarian stem cells and provided the

of them have shown an increase in the platelet

appropriate environment needed to induce differentiation of the new oocytes. In this study the \pm 25 months with 5 ml of autologous PRP for each ovary under ultrasound guidance via the transvaginal route. A total of 5.3 \pm 1.3 mature oocytes were reported at metaphase stage 2 following an in vitro fertilization program, and all patients developed at least one blastocyst appropriate for cryopreservation.

Thibodeaux et al., (1993) used in their study an in vitro culture system of oviductal cells and platelets to establish if any possible effect occurs in vivo during early embryonic development. An interesting aspect of this study is that oviductal cells seem to produce plateletderived growth factor that stimulates embryonic women with proven infertility were treated for 60

development. Furthermore, the other endometrial cells and even the embryo may produce plateletactivating factors which stimulate the PRP production (Thibodeaux et al., 1993).

In reproductive medicine of dairy cows, Cremonesi et al., (2020a) used for the first time the autologous PRP inside the bovine ovary to improve embryo recovery from eight superovulated donor cows. In according with the results of Pantos et al., (2016) and Sills et al., (2018), the studies of Cremonesi et al., (2020a), Vo et al 2020 and Borş et al. (2022a, b) indicates that PRP has a very important impact on follicular development (Figure 2).



Figure 2. The roles of growth factors involved in PRP in folliculogenesis (Borş et al., 2022b; Vo et al., 2020).

Only few studies described the effects of PRP on morula and blastocysts in vitro production (Thibodeaux et al., 1993; Lange-Consiglio et al., 2015; Ramos-Deus et al., 2020). In the study of Lange-Consiglio et al., (2015) two different percentages of PRP were used (respectively 5% and 10%), as a partial or complete replacement of fetal calf serum (FCS). The blastocyst rate and the total cells number of the blastocysts were statistically increased in the culture medium with 5% PRP when compared to both the control and medium with 10% PRP (Lange-Consiglio et al., 2015; Ramos-Deus et al., 2020). These interesting results were assigned to the growth factors released by the PRP, including FGF, transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β), PDGF and EGF (Siess, 1989; Whal et al., 1989) that can stimulate bovine embryo development (Larson et al., 1992a, Larson et al., 1992b). Munson et al., (1992) demonstrated that TGF-β and PDGF can promote proliferation of both bovine trophoblastic cells and endometrial

epithelial cells during in vitro culture. However, the low blastocyst rate obtained in the medium with 10% PRP, compared with control, might be influenced by the excess of growth factors that may have had an inhibitory effect on the embryo development (Lange-Consiglio et al., 2015). The addition of PRP into the oocyte maturation medium is not beneficial (Ramos-Deus et al., 2020).

In 2015, Chang et al., tested for the first time the effect of using PRP to improve endometrial thickness in patients undergoing IVF From five patients with treatment. poor endometrial response after standard IVF protocol, four had a successful pregnancy after PRP infusion, 1-2 times in each cycle. In the next year, Farimani et al., (2016) evaluated the effect of PRP intrauterine infusion on pregnancy rates after frozen-thawed embryo transfer. In this trial, from nine women with a history of recurrent implantation failure, six were diagnosed pregnant (pregnancy rate was 66.6%). Furthermore, in 2017 Farimani et al., reported a successful pregnancy after administration of autologous PRP to improve endometrial receptivity, in a 45 years old woman with primary infertility and two failed IVF cycles. The next two studies confirmed the effect of using autologous PRP in order to improve the endometrial quality and implantation rates in patients with refractory endometrium (with poor response to conventional therapy) (Zadehmodarres et al., 2017; Molina et al., 2018). These promising results ask for further studies in order to evaluate the PRP effect on dairy cow follicular recruitment, oocyte competence, in vitro fertilization and embryo development. Also, it is necessary to evaluate the presumptive effect of IVF media supplementation with autologous activated PRP on blastocyst formation. The results could offer a new strategy for using the PRP in future embryo transfer programs in human and veterinary medicine, with the aim of improving the embryo production and implantation rates (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Potential mechanisms of PRP on endometrial receptivity in assisted reproductive technology. PRP might improve the endometrial receptivity through the improvement of cell proliferation, vascularisation, antiinflammatory properties, and the reduction in the degree of fibrosis, with the help of the concentrated peptides, GFs and cytokines in PRP (Borș et al., 2022b)

CONCLUSIONS

Veterinarians and farmers should show more interest in autologous platelet-rich plasma (PRP) once its effectiveness in tissue regeneration processes is shown, either in conjunction with other therapies or on its own. PRP is an easily available and reasonably priced therapeutic substance derived from blood components.

The lack of standardization concerning preparation techniques hinders consensus on PRP bio-formulations and their application.

While PRP's therapeutic benefits are widely recognized, there are still a number of unanswered concerns regarding its molecular process.

REFERENCES

- Anitua, E., Andia, I., Ardanza, B., Nurden, P., Nurden,
 A.T., 2004. Autologous platelets as a source of proteins for healing and tissue regeneration. Thromb. Haemost. 91, 4–15. https://doi:10.1160/TH03-07-0440.
- Alves, R., Grimalt, R., 2016. A randomized placebocontrolled, double-blind, half-head study to assess the efficacy of platelet-rich plasma on the treatment of androgenetic alopecia. Dermatol. Surg. 42, 491–497. https://doi:10.1097/DSS.00000000000665.
- Borş S.-I., Dascălu D.-L., Borş A., Fahmy H.M., Kandil O.M., Abdoon A.S.S. 2022a. Intraovarian Injection of Reconstituted Lyophilized Growth-Promoting Factor Extracted from Horse Blood

Platelets(L-GFequina)IncreasesOocytesRecoveryandInVitroEmbryoProduction inHolsteinCows.Animals.;12(19):2618.https://doi.org/10.3390/ani12192618.

- *medicine: Prospective and applications*, Reproduction in Domestic Animals, 57(11): 1287-1294, https://doi.org/10.1111/rda.14213.
- Bos-Mikich, A., de Oliveira, R., Frantz, N., 2018. Platelet-rich plasma therapy and reproductive
- Int. J. Clin. Exp. Med. 8, 1286–1290. https://PMCID: PMC4358582.
- Collins, T., Alexander, D., Barkatali, B., 2021. Platelet-rich plasma: a narrative review. EFORT Open Rev. 6, 225–235. https://doi:10.1302/2058-5241.6.200017.
- Cremonesi, F., Bonfanti, S., Idda, A., Lange-Consiglio, A., 2020a. Improvement of embryo recovery in Holstein cows treated by intraovarian platelet rich plasma before superovulation. Vet. Sci. 7, 16. https://doi:10.3390/vetsci7010016
- Cremonesi, F., Bonfanti, S., Idda, A., Lange-Consiglio, A., 2020b. Platelet rich plasma for regenerative medicine treatment of bovine ovarian hypofunction. Front. Vet. Sci. 7, 517. https://doi:10.3389/fvets.2020.00517.
- Croisé, B., Pare, A., Joly, A., Louisy, A., Laure, B., Goga, D., 2020. Optimized centrifugation preparation of the platelet rich plasma: Literature review. J. Stomatol. Oral Maxillofac. Surg. 121, 150–154.

https://doi:10.1016/j.jormas.2019.07.001.

- de Vet, A., Laven, J.S.E., de Jong, F.H., Themmen, A.P.N., Fauser, B.C.J.M., 2002. Antimullerian hormone serum levels: a putative marker for ovarian aging. Fertil. Steril. 77, 357–362. https://doi:10.1016/s0015-0282(01)02993-4.
- Dhurat, R., Sukesh, M., 2014. Principles and methods of preparation of Platelet-rich Plasma: a review and author's perspective. J. Cutan. Aesthet. Surg. 7, 189–197. https://doi: 10.4103/0974-2077.150734.
- Dohan Ehrenfest, D.M., Rasmusson, L., Albrektsson, T., 2009. Classification of platelet concentrates: from pure platelet-rich plasma (P-PRP) to leucocyte- and platelet-rich fibrin (L-PRF). Trends. Biotechnol. 27, 158–167. https://doi:10.1016/j.tibtech.2008.11.009.
- Everts, P., Onishi, K., Jayaram, P., Lana, J.F., Mautner, K., 2020. Platelet-rich plasma: new performance understandings and therapeutic considerations in 2020. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 21, 7794. https://doi:10.3390/ijms21207794.
- Farimani, M., Bahmanzadeh, M., Poorolajal, J., 2016. A new approach using autologous platelet-rich plasma to treat infertility and to improve population replacement rate. J. Res. Health. Sci. 16, 172–173. https://PMCID: PMC7191021.
- Farimani, M., Poorolajal, J., Rabiee, S., Bahmanzadeh, M., 2017. Successful pregnancy and live birth after intrauterine administration of autologous platelet-rich plasma in a woman with recurrent implantation failure: A case report. Int. J. Reprod. Biomed. 15, 803–806. https://PMCID:PMC5816241.
- Foster, T.E., Puskas, B.L., Mandelbaum, B.R., Gerhardt, M.B., Rodeo, S.A., 2009. Platelet-Rich Plasma: From Basic Science to Clinical

Borş S.-I., Ibănescu I., Borş A., Abdoon A.S.S., 2022b - Platelet-rich plasma in animal reproductive

> *medicine*. J. Assist. Reprod. Genet. 35, 753–756. https://doi:10.1007/s10815-018-1159-8.

- Chang, Y., Li, J., Chen, Y., Wei, L., Yang, X., Shi, Y., Liang, X., 2015. Autologous platelet-rich plasma promotes endometrial growth and improves pregnancy outcome during in vitro fertilization. Applications. Am. J. Sports Med. 37, 2259– 2272. https://doi:10.1177/0363546509349921.
- Fresno, L., Fondevila, D., Bambo, O., Chacaltana, A., García, F., Andaluz, A., 2010. Effects of platelet-rich plasma on intestinal wound healing in pigs. Vet. J. 185, 322–327. https://doi:10.1016/j.tvjl.2009.06.009.
- Gonçalves, N.J.N., Frantz, N., de Oliveira, R.M., 2019. Platelet-rich plasma (PRP) therapy: An approach in reproductive medicine based on successful animal models. Anim. Reprod. 16, 93–98. https://doi:10.21451/1984-3143-AR2018-093.
- Kingsley, C.S., 1954. Blood coagulation; evidence of an antagonist to factor VI in platelet-rich human plasma. Nature. 173, 723–724. https://doi:10.1038/173723a0.
- Kim, J.H., Park, C., Park, H.M., 2009. Curative effect of autologous platelet-rich plasma on a large cutaneous lesion in a dog. Vet. Dermatol. 20, 123–126. https://doi:10.1111/j.1365-3164.2008.00711.x.
- Larson, R.C., Ignotz, G.G., Currie, W.B., 1992a. Transforming growth factor and basic fibroblast growth factor synergistically promote early bovine embryo development during the fourth cell cycle. Mol. Reprod. Dev. 33, 432–435. https://doi:10.1002/mrd.1080330409.
- Larson, R.C., Ignotz, G.G., Currie, W.B., 1992b. Platelet derived growth factor (PDGF) stimulates development of bovine embryos during the fourth cell cycle. Development. 115, 821–826. https://PMID:1425356.
- Lange-Consiglio, A., Spelta, C., Garlappi, R., Luini, M., Cremonesi, F., 2014. Intramammary administration of platelet concentrate as an unconventional therapy in bovine mastitis: First clinical application. J. Dairy Sci. 97, 6223–6230. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.3168/jds.2014-7999.
- Lange-Consiglio, A., Cazzaniga, N., Garlappi, R., Spelta, C., Pollera, C., Perrini, C., Cremonesi, F., 2015. Platelet concentrate in bovine reproduction: effects on in vitro embryo production and after intrauterine administration in repeat breeder cows. Reprod. Biol. Endocrinol. 13, 65. https://doi:10.1186/s12958-015-0064-6.
- Levin, R.H., Freireich, E.J., Chappell, W., 1964. Effect of storage up to 48 hours on response to transfusions of platelet rich plasma. Transfusion. 4, 251–256. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1537-2995.1964.tb02867.x.
- Mazzocca, A.D., McCarthy, M.B., Chowaniec, D.M., Cote, M.P., Romeo, A.A., Bradley, J.P., Arciero, R.A., Beitzel, K., 2012. Platelet-rich plasma differs according to preparation method and human variability. J. Bone. Joint. Surg. Am. 94, 308–316. https://doi: 10.2106/JBJS.K.00430.
- Molina, A., Sánchez, J., Sánchez, W., Vielma, W., 2018. Platelet-rich plasma as an adjuvant in the

endometrial preparation of patients with refractory endometrium. JBRA. Assist. Reprod. 22, 42–48. https:// doi: 10.5935/1518-0557.20180009.

- Munson, L., Wilkinson, J.E., Bechtel, M., 1992. *Transforming growth factor-β and platelet derived growth factor (PDGF) are synergistic mitogens for bovine trophoblastic and endometrial epithelial cells.* Biol. Reprod. 46 Suppl. 1: S67.
- Pantos, K., Nitsos, N., Kokkali, G., Vaxevanoglou, T., Markomichali, C., Pantou, A., Grammatis, M., Lazaros, L., Sfakianoudis, K., 2016.
 Ovarian rejuvenation and folliculogenesis reactivation in peri-menopausal women after autologous platelet-rich plasma treatment.
 Abstracts, ESHRE 32nd Annual Meeting; 3–6 Jul 2016; Helsinki, Finland. Hum. Reprod. 1, i 301.
- Ramos-Deus, P., Santos Nascimento, P., Vieira, J.I.T., Chaves, M.S., Albuquerque, K.A., Ferreira-Silva, J.C., Grázia, J.G.V., Santos Filho, A.S., Batista, A.M., Teixeira, V.W., Oliveira, M.A.L., 2020. Application of plateletrich plasma in the in vitro production of bovine embryos. Trop. Anim. Health. Prod. 52, 2931– 2936. https:// doi: 10.1007/s11250-020-02307-5.
- Rindermann, G., Cislakova, M., Arndt, G., Carstanjen, B., 2010. Autologous conditioned plasma as therapy of tendon and ligament lesions in seven horses. J. Vet. Sci. 11, 173– 175. https://doi:10.4142/jvs.2010.11.2.173.
- Sills, E.S., Rickers, N.S., Li, X., Palermo, G., 2018. First data on in vitro fertilization and blastocyst formation after intraovarian injection of calcium gluconate-activated autologous platelet rich plasma. Gynecol. Endocrinol. 34, 756–760. https://doi: 10.1080/09513590.2018.1445219.
- Thibodeaux, J.K., Del Vecchio, R.P., Broussard, J.R., Dickey, J.F., Hansel, W., 1993. Stimulation of development of in vitro-matured and in vitro-fertilized bovine embryos by platelets. J. Anim. Sci. 71, 1910–1916. https://doi:10.2527/1993.7171910x.

- Turola, E., Petta, S., Vanni, E., Milosa, F., Valenti, L., Critelli, R., Miele, L., Maccio, L., Calvaruso, V., Fracanzani, A.L., Bianchini, M., Raos, N., Bugianesi, E., Mercorella, S., Di Giovanni, M., Craxi, A., Fargion, S., Grieco, A., Camma, C., Cotelli, F., Villa, E., 2015. Ovarian senescence increases liver fibrosis in humans and zebrafish with steatosis. Dis. Model. Mech. 8, 1037–1046. https://doi:10.1242/dmm.019950.
- Whal, S.M., McCartney-Francis, N., Mergenhager, S.E., 1989. Inflammatory and immunomodulatory roles of TGF-β. Immunol. Today. 10, 258–261. https://doi: 10.1016/0167-5699(89)90136-9.
- Wroblewski, A.P., Melia, H.J., Wright, V.J., 2010. Application of platelet-rich plasma to enhance tissue repair. Oper. Tech. Orthop. 20, 98–105.
- Wu, P.I., Diaz, R., Borg-Stein, J., 2016. Platelet-Rich Plasma. Phys. Med. Rehabil. Clin. N. Am. 27, 825–853. https://doi:10.1016/j.pmr.2016.06.002.
- Zadehmodarres, S., Salehpour, S., Saharkhiz, N., Nazari, L., 2017. Treatment of thin endometrium with autologous platelet-rich plasma: a pilot study. JBRA. Assist. Reprod. 21, 54–56. https://doi:10.5935/1518-0557.20170013.

LEARNING CURVE OF LAPAROSCOPIC OVARIECTOMY IN CATS – A CASE SERIES

Lucia Victoria BEL¹, Cosmina Andreea DEJESCU¹, Iulia MELEGA¹

¹ General Surgery and Intensive Care Department, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, USAMV, Cluj-Napoca, Romania

e-mail:lucia.bel@usamvcluj.ro;

Abstract

Minimally invasive surgery is constantly improving and breaking grounds due to its benefits such as, fast recovery and less pain. But these procedures need a lot of effort from the surgeon, more than an opened technique, since the focus becomes a monitor and not a directly visible organ.

In cats two procedures can be performed for spaying, ovariectomy and ovariohisterectomy. The first one can be performed using a two port laparoscopy technique.

This study describes the surgical approach for a laparoscopic two port ovariectomy and emphasizes on the time needed for the procedure, taking into study 8 young healthy short hair cats and a veterinary surgeon with limited experience in laparoscopy, but with some little experience in using the laparoscopic instrumentation.

None of the surgeries needed conversion. In one case we observed a wound dehiscence, that healed by secondary healing. The surgeon's time of surgery improved as the number of cases increased.

Key words: laparoscopic ovariectomy, cats, learning curve

A laparoscopic spay, also known as laparoscopic ovariectomy or laparoscopic-assisted spay, is a minimally invasive surgical technique used to remove either ovaries or both ovaries and uterus in female dogs and cats [Dupres, 2009]. The learning curve for laparoscopic spay refers to the process through which a surgeon becomes proficient in performing this procedure.

Regarding the learning curve in laparoscopic spay there are several key points to be taken into account [Freeman, 2011]. First, the initial training: Veterinarians or surgeons who want to perform laparoscopic spays typically undergo specialized training to learn the technique. This training often includes didactic education, hands-on experience with simulators, and observation of experienced laparoscopic surgeons. Then, skill development: Like any surgical procedure, laparoscopic spay requires the development of specific skills. Surgeons must become proficient in using laparoscopic instruments, camera systems, and maintaining a stable and clear view of the surgical field on the monitor.

Also important is case experience [Rouge, 2013].

The learning curve involves gaining experience by performing actual laparoscopic spays on live patients. As with any surgical procedure, the more cases a surgeon completes, the more skilled and efficient they become. Over time, surgeons tend to become faster and more efficient at performing laparoscopic spays, which can reduce surgical time and minimize the time the patient is under anesthesia and reduce pain [Brad, 2011].

As for other procedures there are challenges and possible complications. Laparoscopic spay can be technically challenging because it involves working in a limited space, using long, slender instruments, and coordinating movements with a camera system [Freeman, 2011; Lansdowne, 2012, Philip, 2011]. Surgeons must also become skilled at creating pneumoperitoneum (inflating the abdominal cavity with carbon dioxide) and managing insufflation pressures. Part of the learning curve also includes being able to recognize and manage complications that can arise during the procedure. These may include bleeding, organ injury, and other surgical risks. Maintaining a commitment to patient safety and well-being is paramount throughout the learning process [Sherisse, 2018].

This case series describes the learning curve of a limited experienced surgeon in minimally invasive surgery, for two port laparoscopic ovariectomy in cats.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

8 female European Shorthair cats were included in the study. Out of the 8 cats, 7 were 8 months old, and one cat was 2 years old, and their average weight did not exceed 3 kg. The surgeon performing the surgeries had limited experience in minimally invasive surgeries. Nevertheless the surgeon was able to coordinate and knew instrumentations and techniques valid for the procedure.

The patients were assessed from an anesthetic perspective through clinical examination, including inspection and palpation, heart and lung auscultation, rectal temperature measurement, evaluation of dehydration level, and assessment of body mass. Additionally, venous blood was collected for blood gas analysis. All patients were considered clinically healthy and suitable for laparoscopic ovariectomy, falling into ASA class 1, meaning low anesthetic risk and associated mortality risk of 0.1%. General anesthesia was performed using Medetomidine at 10 µg/kg and Buprenorphine at 20 µg/kg administered intramuscularly in premedication. After the cats were lightly sedated, a peripheral venous catheter was placed in the antebrachial cephalic vein. Diazepam at 0.25 mg/kg and Ketamine at 3 mg/kg were administered intravenously. The cats were then intubated and the abdomen was prepared for the surgical procedure. Once clipping on both flank sides was performed antisepsia was accomplished, and using Clorhexidine and Alcohol, each cat was moved in the surgical room where they were connected to the anesthetic machine and inhalatory anesthesia, using Isoflurane for maintenance at 1%.

Each cat was placed in dorsal recumbency and a transparent surgical field was then placed on the animal. Using a scalpel blade, an incision was through the skin and subcutaneous made connective tissue, measuring 0.5 cm in length, in the ventral abdominal region, at a distance of 0.5 cm cranila from the umbilical scar. A piece of adipose tissue, 2-3 mm in size, was excised using surgical scissors. Near the incision site, an anchoring suture was applied, followed by gentle dissection of the abdominal wall. A stab incision was then performed to create an opening into the peritoneal cavity, where the first trocar was secured. It was carefully introduced into the abdominal cavity, through direct visualization, to avoid injuring abdominal organs. Once the first trocar was in place, the anchoring suture became a purse-string suture to achieve a better seal.

The first 5 mm trocar was then connected to a source of CO2 and the pneumoperitoneum was

created. The 5 mm 30° angle telescope was inserted into the first trocar, and the abdominal cavity was briefly explored to check for possible visceral injuries.

A second incision was made through the skin and subcutaneous connective tissue, 2-3 cm caudal to the first incision, on the linea alba and the scalpel blade was then directly introduced through the abdominal wall, while under direct visualization with the laparocopic camera. The length of this incision was 0.5 cm, the size of the second 5 mm trocar. Once the two trocars are secured, with the first one located near the umbilicus and intended for the telescope, and the second one positioned 2-3 cm caudal to the first one, intended for forceps and electrocautery devices (Figure 1), the cat was rotated towards the surgeon to obtain better visibility if the renal area where the ovaries would be found. While observing on the monitor, we proceeded to identify the left uterine horn along with the left ovary, in proximity to the kidney.



Figure 1. Placement of ports for the two port ovariectomy in cats

Once the uterine horn was identified, it was brought to the median plane and suspended in contact with the abdominal wall. Using a suture thread and guided by the telescope, the ovary was transcutaneously suspended (Figure 2). Once the ovary was suspended, the forceps could be removed and bipolar scissors could be inserted through the same port. Once the ovary is removed through cauterization (Figure 3) of the suspensor ligament, ovarian vein and artery and the uterine horn junction, the cats are repositionded in straight dorsal recumbency, the surgical team changes side and the same procedure is repeaded for the right ovary. The two ovaries are removed through the laparoscopic ports.



Figure 2. A. Intraabdominal view of suspending the ovary; B.External view of the ovary being suspended



Figure 3. A. Cauterization of the ovarian artery and vein; B. Cauterization of the ovarian uterine junction

Once the instruments are removed, 2 mg/kg bupivacaine is injected intraabdominally and the abdominal wall, subcutaneous tissue and skin are closed with simple cruciate sutures, using a 4.0 monofilament suture material. Postoperatively the animals received Meloxicam at 0.1 mg/kg, for 2 days.

In each case, the surgeries were timed, starting from the moment of the first incision and finishing with the skin suture. There were key moments during surgery when the patients' vital signs were recorded, such T1: as T2: pneumoperitoneum; suspension of the right/left uterine horn; T3: sectioning of the right/left ovary; T4: suspension of the left/right uterine horn; T5: sectioning of the left/right ovary; T6: abdominal wall closure.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

Mean total time for the surgical procedure was 58 minutes. As can be observed in Figure nr.4 The duration of the procedure became shorter with increase experience of the surgeon.

The long duration for patient nr 4 was due to difficulties in obtaining hemostasis, the cat was the 2 year old cat that was in estrus, making the procedure a bit riskier. Other complications that were observed were wound dehiscence in one case, but the administration of Amoxiciline and clavulanic acid at 20 mg/kg BID for 7 days, decreased any risk of infection.



Figure 4. Variations in duration of the surgical procedure for each animal

The duration of laparoscopic the ovariectomy is not reduced compared to the classical approach and the purpose of this study was not to demonstrate that, but to show the evolution in time once the surgeon becomes more used to the procedure. The preparation of the laparoscopy equipment requires an average time of 10-15 minutes [Monet, 2003; Pope, 2013]. Here, we are referring to simply starting the equipment, including the optical unit, light source, CO2 source, ensuring the connection to the CO2 cylinder, and operating the image processing unit...

In any surgical technique, complications can arise. The rate of complications in these interventions is low, and some authors report it as being zero. Complications are categorized based on their timing, intraoperative and postoperative. One of the most common intraoperative complications is the trauma to abdominal organs due to the placement of ports, and the spleen is most commonly affected. Spleen trauma resulting from port placement is associated with intraabdominal bleeding in 5-19.7% of all cases. The bleeding is directly proportional to the severity of the injuries and can be controlled by inflating and increasing intraabdominal pressure. Any accumulation of blood in the abdominal cavity can make it challenging to identify the ovaries. It's crucial to note that the magnifying effect of the telescope can create the impression of massive bleeding. [Boel and Mayhew, 2015].

Other intraoperative complications include bladder puncture, pedicle hemorrhage, loss of the ovary in the abdominal cavity, and they have been reported in about 10% of cases; peritoneal burning injury (VSD), CO2 leakage through cannulas into the subcutaneous space in about 5%. Another study suggests that pedicle hemorrhage is more commonly reported when sutures or clips are used (40%) as opposed to VSD (10%). Intraoperative conversion to laparotomy is not a complication in itself and is considered a consequence of other complications explained in this chapter. One situation where conversion should be considered is uncontrollable bleeding of splenic or pedicular origin. Another situation would be the inability to locate a lost ovary in the abdominal cavity. One study supports a conversion rate to laparotomy of 5%, primarily due to splenic laceration when attempting prophylactic gastropexy. Discovering a diaphragmatic hernia is another indication for conversion, regardless of the frequency of operations or experience abundance. Owners must be informed of the potential risk of conversion. [Boel and Mayhew, 2015].

We have not reported these types of complications, but have seen dehiscence in one of the cases.

Other postoperative complications include seromas, hematomas at the site of the trocar entry, incision site infection, intermittent bloody vaginal discharge, omental hernia at the incision site. Statistical calculations suggest that the occurrence of postoperative complications ranges from 3.9%

ACKNOWLEGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Andrei Onac, a vet student at the time of the surgeries, that was responsible for the initial idea around this subject.

REFERENCES

- **Case Brad**, Sarah J. Marvel, P. Boscan, E. L. Monet, 2011, Surgical time and severity of postoperative pain in dogs undergoing laparoscopic ovariectomy with one, two, or three instrument cannulas, JAVMA, vol 239, no 2.
- Dupre Gilles, Valentina Fiorbianco, Monika Skalicky, N. Glultiken, S. Serhat Ay, M. Findik, 2009, Laparoscopic Ovariectomy in Dogs" Comparison Between Single Portal and Two-Portal Access, Veterinary Surgery 28, pag 818-824.
- Fransson Boel, P. D. Mayhew, 2015, Small Animal Laparoscopy and Thoracoscopy, Wiley Blackwell, 3-99, 207-217
- Freeman Lynetta, E. Y. Rahmani, R. C. F. Burgess, M. Al-Haddad, D. Selzer, S. Sherman, P. Constable, 2011, Evaluation of the Learning Curve for Natural Orifice Transluminal Endoscopic Surgery: Bilateral Obariectomy, Veterinary Surgery 40, pag. 140-150.
- Lansdowne J. Jennifer, S. J. Mehler, L. P. Boure, Minimally Invasive Abdominal and Thoracic Surgery: Techniques, 2012, Compendium: ontinuing Education for Veterinarians. Vetlearn.com

to 31% of reported cases. [Boel and Mayhew, 2015].

CONCLUSIONS

The field of laparoscopy in veterinary surgery continues to evolve, and new techniques and equipment are developed. Surgeons must stay upto-date with the latest advances and continue to refine their skills. The learning curve for laparoscopic spay can vary from one individual to another. Some surgeons may become proficient more quickly than others, depending on their background, experience, and the amount of training they receive. It's essential for veterinary professionals to seek proper training and mentorship and to continue learning and improving their skills to provide safe and effective laparoscopic spay procedures for their patients.

- Mayhew Philipp, 2011, Developing minimally invasive surgery in comparison animals, The Veterinary record.
- Monnet Eric, D.C. Twedt, 2003, Laparoscopy. Vet Clin North Am Small Anim. Pract 33, 1147-1163
- Pope Juliet Frances Anne, T. G. Knowles, 2012, Retrospective Analysis, of the Learning Curve Associated With Laparoscopic Ovariectomy in Dogs and Associated Perioperative Complication Rates, Veterinary Surgery 43, pag. 668-677.
- Runge J. Jeffrey, R. Boston, Sharona B. Ross, Dorothy C. Brown, 2014, Evaluation of the learning curve for a board-certified veterinary surgeon performing laparoendoscopic single-site ovariectomy in dogs, JAVMA, Vol 245, No.7.
- Sakals Sherisse, Clarence A. Rawlings, J. Laity, E. H. Hofmeister, MaryAnn G. Radlinsky, 2018, Evaluation of a laparoscopically assisted ovariectomy technique in cats, The American College of Veterinary Surgeons, Veterinary Surgery.

MICROBIOLOGICAL APPROACHES REGARDING THE BACTERIAL MICROFLORA IN SOME ASSORTMENTS OF DAIRY PRODUCTS

Rita GOLBAN¹

e-mail:golbanrita@gmail.com

Abstract

In the present research were investigated some microbiological aspects of the microflora of some assortments of dairy products regarding the involvement of microbial species in fermentation processes in various periods of refrigeration according to the scheme of laboratory microbiological conduct.

The registered results through the evaluations of the number of colonies in dairy products determined by the species Streptococcus lactis, in various refrigeration periods regarding the quantitative study as well as its importance in the lactic fermentation, allowed us to obtain relevant knowledge specific to the microbiology of food products.

Isolation of the species from dairy products of different varieties determined a favorable saprophytic microflora in the bacteriological study of microbial cultures on culture media in different periods of refrigeration and microscopic indices of streptococcal cells specific to the species.

Key words: Dairy products, Bacteriology, Streptococcus lactis, Staphylococcus, Microflora.

In the field of food microbiology, it is considered that microbial species have a saprophytic and pathogenic implication on dairy products. These are represented by the genus Streptococcus and other species with important characteristics. It participates in the production of different fermentations by presenting various categories of fermentations with an important role: lactic fermentation, alcoholic fermentation through which the fermentable products are metabolized by oxidation-reduction reactions under the action of enzymatic equipment [1;2;7;8].

Acidic dairy products are popular throughout the world both because of their pleasant sensory characteristics and their potential to maintain and even improve the health of consumers. From a microbiological point of view, the microorganisms used in the dairy industry must be viable, active and in significant numbers in the finished product at the time of sale to the consumer. Obtaining quality products at the world level, diversifying the assortment range of acidlacquered products presuppose the use of extensive and modern new biotechnological processes [3;4;10].

The manufacturing technology of fermented dairy products allows the use as raw material of uncontaminated quality milk obtained from different breeds of animals, free of pathogenic species of microorganisms. In this context, milk, due to its balanced chemical composition, is a suitable raw material for the manufacture of these products. Dairy products are of interest and are considered beneficial for the human and animal body due to their nutritional, tonic and anti-rickets, anti-anemic and anti-infectious effects. The taste and smell are specific, pleasant under the contribution of the nutritional assortment [5;11].

Some specialized studies reveal the involvement of lactic bacteria in lactic fermentations from dairy products with morphological heterogeneity: the main forms are derived from coccus, and can be presented in the form of streptococci (g. Lactococcus and g. Streptococcus), diplococci (g. Leuconostoc), of tetrads (g. Pediococcus); numerous other lactic bacteria, which present themselves in cylindrical form, sticks of variable sizes, isolated or in long chains, included in the genus Lactobacillus. However, lactic acid bacteria are nutritionally demanding and their multiplication takes place in environments with complex chemical composition [6:9:12:13:14].

From this point of view, the main objectives of these researches are the investigation of some microbiological aspects of the microflora of some assortments of dairy products in various periods of refrigeration according to the scheme of laboratory microbiological conduct.

¹ Technical University of Moldova

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Microbiological laboratory research of some dairy products sold in stores in Chisinau was carried out in samples of yogurt, kefir, cow's cheese and cream at 1, 3, 6 days of refrigeration according to the scheme of laboratory microbiological conduct, which found in the determination microbial species involved in lactic fermentations, concerning the incidence of Streptococcus lactis species after various periods of storage from a bacteriological and bacterioscopic point of view, coliform bacteria and staphylococci.

The development of lactic streptococcal species regarding their microbial cultures on simple and special culture media and their study were carried out by visualizing their characteristics. Microbial preparations were made from native dairy products and their cultures, Gram staining, counting of microbial colonies and microscopic visualization with immersion. objective 90. The forms of bacteria were determined by microscopy and their differentiation according to microbiological laboratory methods. The microbiological investigation of dairy products was carried out in accordance with the regulated requirements for the investigation of food products in the laboratory of microbiological investigations of food products within the Diagnostic Center in Veterinary Medicine in the municipality of Chisinau.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

Quantitative bacteriological investigations of the bacterial microflora of the species involved in lactic fermentation determined Streptococcus lactis regarding the assortments of dairy products allowed us to identify in comparative aspects the species Streptococcus lactis regarding its prevalence with fermentation activity in these research periods.

For the isolation of the Streptococcus lactis species, inoculations were carried out on culture media and the number of microbial colonies in the dairy products was investigated after 1 day of refrigeration was followed, figure 1.

The identification of Streptococcus lactis colonies during this period of refrigeration of dairy

product assortments after 1 day reveals that the highest number of microbial colonies were found in the dairy product kefir-10, followed by yogurt-8 lactic colonies, cheese of cow-6 lactic colonies and cream- 4 lactic colonies of Streptococcus lactis.

These microbial colonies were visualized and enumerated on Agar culture medium. Microbial colonies were not identified on Endo and Saburov special media.

As a result of the research carried out in the case of the results of figure 2 regarding the results of investigations of dairy products according to the number of colonies of the species Streptococcus lactis after 3 days of refrigeration, some important reports were also observed emerging from the visualizations of the microbial colonies observed and listed after 3 days of refrigeration.

The indices of figure 2 show us that, also compared to the indices of figure 1, the highest number of microbial colonies were identified as a result of the research in the kefir dairy product, which constituted 16 microbial colonies, followed by the cow's cheese dairy product, where the number of colonies microbial colonies constituted 12 microbial colonies, followed by the yogurt dairy product where the number of determined microbial colonies of the Streptococcus lactis species constituted 10 microbial colonies and the cream dairy product with 8 microbial colonies. Therefore, from what has been reported, we deduce the fact that the lactic fermentation processes accelerated more intensively after the 3-day refrigeration period.

Figure 3 shows, according to the results of investigations of dairy products, that the number of colonies of Streptococcus lactis species after the 6day refrigeration period varied, demonstrating important values. The results of the investigations show a predominance of the number of colonies in the kefir dairy product - 20 microbial colonies, compared to other dairy products, cow's cheese -16 lactic microbial colonies, yogurt - 14 microbial colonies and cream - 12 microbial colonies. As can be seen from the obtained results, the dairy products show higher values of the number of colonies after refrigeration, demonstrating that the lactic fermentation processes are very intensive days without major risks for the health of consumers.



Figure 1. Results of investigations of dairy products according to the number of colonies of the species treptococcus lactis after one day of refrigeration
Source: elaborated by the author



Figure 2. Results of investigations of dairy products according to the number of colonies of Streptococcus lactis species after 3 days of refrigeration Source: elaborated by the author



Figure 3. Results of investigations of dairy products according to the number of colonies of Streptococcus lactis species after 6 days of refrigeration

Source: elaborated by the author

The species Streptococcus lactis participates intensively in lactic fermentation, determining important fermentative processes. Considering that many strains of lactic acid bacteria isolated from natural spontaneous microflora during cultivation processes show intensive fermentation processes, it is important to deduce that lactic acid species prevails within these processes.

From figure 4, the information emerges that during the investigation of dairy products under the microscope of the Streptococcus lactis species after one day of refrigeration, the indices of the lactic microorganisms specific to the Streptococcus lactis species constituted 10 lactic streptococcal cocci cells in the dairy kefir dairy product, compared to cheese dairy products of cow-6; sour cream - 4 and yogurt - 3 lactic streptococci.

The analysis of the research determined by the evaluation of the results of the investigations of dairy products under the microscopy of the Streptococcus lactis species after 3 days of refrigeration are reproduced in figure 5, which highlights the values of the lactic microorganisms listed under immersion. The microscopicmorphological study of the lactic Streptococcus lactis species demonstrated that the bacteria listed under microscopy possess properties characteristic of the Streptococcus lactis species according to the shape and location of the cells, determining under microscopy after 3 days of refrigeration values of 16 lactic streptococcal microscopic cells in the kefir dairy product, compared to other dairy products wrapped after the 3-day refrigeration period.

The microscopic-morphological study of the lactic Streptococcus lactis species demonstrated that the bacteria listed under microscopy possess properties characteristic of the Streptococcus lactis species according to the shape and location of the cells, determining under microscopy after 3 days of refrigeration values of 16 lactic streptococcal microscopic cells in the kefir dairy product, compared to other dairy products wrapped after the 3-day refrigeration period.

Other studies investigating dairy products revealed in the dairy product cow's cheese 10 streptococcal lactic cells characteristic of this species according to the determined microscopic properties, compared to the dairy product cream one of which was observed under microscopy 8 microbial lactic cells and the dairy product yogurt, where under microscopy it was microscopically highlighted 4 lactic streptococcal cells.

A well determined stimulatory influence was best observed after the refrigeration period of 3 days however in the kefir dairy product, where similar to the number of bacterial colonies that we previously investigated were also at a growth level causing higher indices at the stages of microbiological research.

The analysis of the results of the comparative studies shown in figure 6 regarding the results of the investigations of dairy products under the microscope of the species Streptococcus lactis after 6 days of refrigeration indicates in the research results, that a clearly visible number of lactic streptococci after the period of 6 days of refrigeration was observed under microscopy in the dairy product similar to kefir-20 streptococcal cells, compared to dairy products, cow's cheese-16 streptococcus lactis microbial cells, sour cream - 12 microbial cells and yogurt-5 microbial cells.

In our opinion, these microbiological investigations in various refrigeration periods according to laboratory microbiological methodology that reveal values of the lactic species Streptococcus lactis responsible for the fermentation processes, the value of bacterioscopic and bacteriological microbiological investigations according to the quality norms of dairy products within the limits of quality norms are appreciable of food products of lactic origin.

Due to the mechanisms of action of some lactic stimulating species from dairy products on the human and animal body, they present the resistance mechanisms against infections that sometimes intervene on the human body. However, it is current for the purpose of their subsequent use in the composition of starter cultures for the manufacture of dairy products, the effective implementation of all the isolation and identification stages of the strains of lactic microorganisms.



Figure 4. Results of Streptococcus lactis microscopic investigations of dairy products after one day of refrigeration

Source: elaborated by the author









Figure 6. Results of Streptococcus lactis microscopy investigations of dairy products after 6 days of refrigeration

Source: elaborated by the author

CONCLUSIONS

- 1. The Streptococcus lactis species isolated from different types of dairy products determined a favorable saprophytic microflora in the bacteriological study on microbial cultures on culture media in different refrigeration periods.
- 2. The bacterioscopic analysis of the microscopic indices recorded important microbiological indices of streptococcal cells specific to the Streptococcus lactis species between 3-20 microbial cells characteristic of the samples of dairy products investigated.
- 3. The bacteriological and bacterioscopic study regarding the cultural characteristics of the pathogenic species E.coli and Staphylococcus in the dairy products investigated in various periods of refrigeration determined the absence of these strains in the dairy products.
- 4. The microbiological investigation of dairy products during various refrigeration periods regarding the quantitative study of the Streptococcus lactis species, as well as its importance in lactic fermentation, allows obtaining relevant knowledge specific to the microbiology of food products.
- 5. To prevent the contamination of food products with pathogenic bacterial microflora, it is recommended to transport and store these products in appropriate conditions.
- 6. The starter cultures, due to their competitiveness and advantageous development in relation to undesirable microflora in fermentation conditions, are recommended for use on an industrial scale in the process of manufacturing dairy products.

REFERENCES

- [1]BANU, C. Biotechnologies in the food industry. Technical Publishing House, Bucharest, 2000. 98p.
- [2]COSTIN, G. Fermented dairy products. Galati: Academic Publishing House, 2005, 384 p.
- [3]DAN, V. Food microbiology. Alma Publishing House, Galati, Treatise on biotechnology, vol I, Technical Publishing House, Bucharest, 2004, 45p.
- [4]GHEORGHESCU, Gh. Quality milk production management. Bucharest: Ed.ASAB, 2011, 189 p.
- [5]GEORGESCU, Gh. Milk and dairy products. Bucharest: Ed. Ceres, 2000, 57 p.
- [6]GEORGESCU, Gh., BANU, C. The milk producer's and processor's book. Bucharest: Ed. Ceres, 2005, 519 p.
- [7]GUGUIANU, E. General bacteriology. Jenus, Iasi, 2002, 206 p.

- [8]JOSAN, N. Microbiology and immunology. U.A.S.M. Chisinau, 2002, 638 p.
- [9].JURCOANE, S. Treatise on biotechnology. Vol. II, Technical Publishing House, Bucharest, 2005, 145 p.
- [10]. LEONTE, M. Biochemistry and bakery technology. Crigarux Publishing House, Piatra Neamţ, 2000, 85 p.
- [11].NEAMŢU, G. Food biochemistry. Ceres Publishing House, Bucharest 1997, 243 p.
- [12].TAŞBAC, B. General food microbiology. Bucharest: Larisa Campulung Muscel Publishing House, 2018, 225 p.
- [13].USTUROI, M. Control of milk and derived products. Iasi: PIM publishing house 2012. p.48
- [14].GEORGESCU, Gh., MILITARU, E. Analysis of milk and dairy products. Bucharest: Ceres publishing house, 2003, 64

BACTERIOLOGICAL RESEARCH ON THE INCIDENCE OF BACTERIAL MICROFLORA IN SOME VARIETIES OF FISH

Rita GOLBAN¹

e-mail:golbanrita@gmail.com

Abstract

The scientific research reflected in this study aimed to identify the bacterial microflora in different varieties of fish of different commercial categories through microbiological investigation. The microbiological assessment conditions of the examined fish varieties determined the presence of saprophytic germs, affirming a normal microflora according to the requirements of microbiological investigation standards and the identification of existing microbial species. The microbiological aspects of the assessment of the requirements of the presence of saprophytic germs, confirming a normal microflora favorable to the requirements of the microbiological investigation standards and the identification of existing microbial species.

Key words: Bacteriology, Microflora, Fish, Bacterioscopy, Assortment

At the present time, it is considered that a functional and balanced diet is important in human nutrition regarding the human-food interrelationship with an unprecedented impact worldwide. The aspects of primary production, the processing and placing of food on the market under the conditions of ever lower risks, represent a priority on the front line vis-à-vis the profound implications that food and nutrition have on the life and health of consumers . Therefore, food represents the most favorable vector of multiple risks of a biological, chemical or physical nature, as well as important nutritional problems, so the consumer is more concerned about the way of eating and has the desire to eat as healthy as possible [2.7].

Some specialist studies confirm that a food due to its nutritional content and dietary qualities is fish, considered one of the most valuable food products due to the easily assimilable nutrients necessary for human life, which it contains: proteins, vitamins, mineral elements, etc.[1,4].The importance of microbiological processes on fish as food can be variable and influence the physicochemical. nutritional and organoleptic characteristics. For these reasons, microbial activity is most often manifested in connection with enzymatic mechanisms. An important aspect is the fact that micro-organisms have the function of intervening during the formation of the raw material.

Microorganisms in the fish industry have a special role by modifying the organoleptic and

nutritional properties, which due to its structure constitute a beneficial environment for the development of different important species of microorganisms [3,6]. For these reasons, it is important to highlight and evaluate in time the pathogenic microbial germs, which pollute fish and contribute to various degradations of this food product [5,8,10]. At the same time, some microbial pathogenic species devalue food through mechanisms, making it unfit for human consumption. [9].

As a result of the studies carried out, we found it appropriate to carry out some scientific research in this field and for this reason we proposed the objective of identifying the aspects of the bacterial microflora in different varieties of fish of different commercial categories by investigating and identifying the microbial aspects.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

The study was carried out by performing microbiological research according to the classic bacterioscopic and bacteriological laboratory methods of Carp, Mintay and Hake fish varieties purchased from the store and market, Chisinau municipality.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

The results of the ongoing research allowed us to ascertain and evaluate the microbiological aspects based on the detection of the number of polluting microorganisms studied through their

¹ Technical University of Moldova

morphological, cultural activity, the mode of action and other properties that present complexity and importance. The organoleptic evaluation of the fresh and frozen fish assortments was carried out according to the organoleptic aspects: muscle stiffness, appearance of the mouth and eyes, gills, skin, scales, nose, musculature, assessment of the appearance of the viscera. For the frozen fish assortments, the assessment was carried out after thawing.

The organoleptic research on fresh fish of the Carp variety confirmed the presence of muscle stiffness, the mouth was closed, the appearance of the eyes was at the level of the orbits, the gills were reddish in color, without a characteristic smell, no characteristic mucus was observed. The appearance of the skin and scales showed natural glossy color, the scales were slightly shiny, well attached to the skin, and there was a negligible amount of mucus on the surface. The musculature showed elasticity, well held to the bones, grey, white to pink. The viscera were well examined and individualized, with a specific smell. Therefore, these organoleptic evaluations indicate the fact that the researched fish of the Carp variety presented the first freshness category according to the organoleptic investigation results.

The organoleptic researches of Mintay and Hake frozen fish varieties presented characteristic aspects through the organoleptic following organoleptic indicators: mouth slightly ajar; exophthalmic eyes; scales a little shiny and skin a little shiny. These aspects allowed us to deduce the fact that the frozen fish assortments that were purchased from the store are of a relatively fresh category. Microbiological research on the qualitative microbiology of the freshness of fish assortments of different categories reported differentiated indices according to several aspects of fish investigation. Thus, according to the specialized bibliographic information of food microbiology, it is considered that the microbiological analysis of the investigation of the freshness of the fish food product, evaluates this food product according to the number of microorganisms that pollute it. For these reasons, it is considered that if, under microscopy, on the surface of the microscopic field visualization of the fish fingerprint smears collected from the surface

layer, single cocci saprophytic bacterial cells are observed, then this assortment of fish is considered to be of the product category - first grade freshness.

At the same time, if between 10 - 30 saprophytic cocci are visible on the microscopic smears on the surface layer, then the fish is considered fresh and is allowed to be used in food. In the deep layer of the fresh category fish, there should be single insignificant microbial cells 1-2 saprophytic cells visualized under microscopy. Likewise, specialized bibliographic sources of the microbiology of fish food inform us that it is prohibited to use fish in food for the purpose of preventing food poisoning, if as a result of bacterioscopic and bacteriological investigations of the surface layer of the fish to be examined, microscopically from 40 and more microbial cells, and in the deep layer of the researched fish more than 10 microbial cells were enumerated on the microscope field.

The microbiological examination of the fish of different varieties Carp, Mintay and Hake followed the evaluation of the bacterial microflora in this food product by means of microscopic investigations on the microbial preparations regarding the enumeration of the total number of germs in the superficial and deep layers of this food product and the evaluation of the quality of its freshness.

Following the values of the germ indices on the microscopic fingerprints of the Carp fish assortment Figure 1, it is revealed that the degree of pollution of the microflora of the surface layer constitutes 8 bacterial cells in the form of single cocci, chaotically isolated, Gram positive.

Therefore, according to our research study regarding this assortment of fish that we investigated after the microbiological conduct of the laboratory, the following referential assessments follow, which show that both the microflora of the surface layer and the deep layer of the Carp fish meet the requirements of microbiological analysis and standards, and this assortment of fish constitutes a food product in the fresh category according to the quality of the fish.



■ surface ■ in depth

Figure 1. Bacterial microflora regarding the freshness of some varieties of fish during bacterioscopy Source: elaborated by the author







The Mintay variety fish, according to the studies of the microscopic visualization of the total number of germs, confirms to us an increased number of microscopic bacterial cells, characteristic of the surface and depth layers, which respectively constituted 14 and 5 bacterial cells from the cocci category. Microorganism rods were not visualized. And yet, we want to emphasize that the surface microflora is increased due to some aspects related to the ways of keeping the fish in the store where it was purchased.

Regardless of these preservation aspects, however, this variety of fish meets the marketing requirements, because the allowed norm of microbial cells on the microscopic field is 10-30 cells on The values of figure 1 confirm the bacterioscopy investigation of the germs in the footprint of the Hake assortment fish food product, reporting a higher number of microorganisms -21 cocci microbial cells chaotically isolated in the surface layer and 7 cocci cells in the deep layer of this food product. The reports demonstrated above confirm to us after differentiating from other fish varieties examined Carp and Pollock, that however microflora visualized the bacterial under microscopy according to the total number of germs in the Hake variety is higher regarding the surface layer and the deep layer of examination. However, these aspects are considered normal, considering the requirements for marketing the food product in the fish category.

Indexes 21 and 7, which correspond to the microscopic aspects of the Hake fish assortment, correspond to microbiological standards. The Hake variety fish is considered less fresh, but does not pose a danger to the health of consumers, because its pollution is determined by saprophytic cocci microorganisms.

The microbiological investigations through the passages of the three varieties of fish Carp, Mintay and Hake reflect us different values in figure 2, which confirm us the bacterial microbiological data of the highlighted number of bacterial colonies enumerated on Petri plates with simple culture media, their visual characteristic and the interpretation according to the cultural characteristics specific to the aspects of specialized bibliographic conduct.

The data obtained allow us to deduce that the surface layer of the Carp assortment is polluted with a number of 18 microbial colonies that developed on the agar/plates medium and 6 colonies that developed on the agar/tube medium, compared to the layer deep bacteriological investigation, which noted 6 colonies on agar medium/plates and 2 colonies on agar medium/tubes. On the Endo special medium, the development of pathogenic colonies specific to the development on this culture medium was not highlighted. So, these aspects of investigation indicate the fact that the number of 18 microbial colonies is not alarming, because it corresponds to the requirements of microbiological conduct, especially as we mentioned before in the subject of microscopic research, that no pathogenic bacterial cells were identified and in in the given case we have not observed and confirmed no development on the investigation medium.

The Mintay fish assortment regarding the number of microbial colonies shown in the table allow us to confirm in the result of the evaluation of the cultural aspects a number of 10 colonies and 9 colonies regarding the microflora on the agar medium on the plates regarding the surface and deep layers of this assortment of fish with an aspect of development of the cultural characters of sour/white colonies and absence of development on the Endo environment of microorganisms specific to the pathogenicity of some characteristic microbial species. Bacteriology results of tube passages showed 7 and 4 characteristic colonies on the agar medium/tubes at the corresponding surface and deep layers,

In this context, however, it must be taken into account that this assortment was procured in a frozen state and in order to be microbiologically researched according to the requirements, it was thawed. Possibly the freezing process was longlasting and in this way the physiological processes of the fish meat were slightly degraded, giving it an uncharacteristic pollution because according to the microbiological requirements the fish of the Pollock assortment corresponds to be used for the consumer.

The information regarding the bacteriological conduct of the microbiological investigation of the Hake variety according to the microbiological conditions shows us that this Hake fish variety, compared to the Carp and fish varieties, is more polluted with the microorganisms of the microbial colonies. Therefore, analyzing the number of colonies listed on plates and tubes with the corresponding culture media where the cocci species are trained, as we visualized under microscopy the highest number of colonies is observed: 18 and 15 regarding the surface layer and deep on the plates Petri of the fish to be researched from the Hake assortment. The bacteriology of this assortment of fish, regarding the passages in the tubes, determined 12 and 9 colonies in the examined layers. Therefore, these obtained results confirm that this category of fish is not of prime freshness. The previous research aspects indicate that the Carp fish assortment is the first freshness according to the number of colonies developed in the examined layers characteristic of this food product, followed by the Mintay fish assortment with a relative freshness and finally the Hake fish assortment with a dubious freshness, due to the increased number of microbial cells visualized on the microscopic fields and the number of the most highly developed microbial colonies on the usual culture media. Therefore, these aspects are obtained as a result of the investigations denote a larger number of colonies due to the unhygienic conditions of keeping the fish of the Carp assortment until it is made in market conditions.

The cultural characters of the cultures developed after the passages performed correspond to the respective characteristics of sour/white colonies on the agar medium both on plates and in tubes and aspects characteristic of the development in the broth medium in the form of sediment and turbidity. The laboratory conduct regarding the microbiology of different varieties of fish meat also aimed to identify coliform, salmonella and staphylococcal germs in fish, which frequently cause food poisoning. For this purpose, microbiological research laboratory determinations of the microbial agents of the Salmonella species were carried out. The germs of the suspected salmonella colonies were investigated from the samples of the fish to be investigated, later by passages on the Endo special culture medium and simple agar and broth media.

Bacteriological preparations were stained by Gram according to the classic staining method. Salmonella bacteria were not confirmed by microscopic visualization and also no Salmonella cultures were determined on the culture media when passages were performed. Therefore, all categories of fish varieties to be researched did not confirm the presence of the Salmonella species, conforming that these fish varieties meet the requirements. The samples of the fish assortments also did not determine the microorganisms of the Escherichia species on the usual and differential culture media. No colonies characteristic of this species were formed on the Endo culture medium, which would confirm the presence of E.coli. That is why knowing the microorganisms in the fish industry is important to know the changes in the organoleptic and nutritional properties of the fish, which due to its structure constitutes a beneficial environment for the development of For microorganisms. these reasons, the microbiological determination of pathogenic microbial germs, which pollute fish and contribute to various degradations of this food product, is important.

The scientific aspects, regarding the microbiology of this food product, reveal the importance of the safety of this food product, which confirms during the investigations certain aspects of not affecting the health of the consumer, and fish meat due to its varied chemical composition and richness in the main groups of nutrients necessary for the body is recommends that it be used in human food as often as possible.

CONCLUSIONS

- 1. The investigative fish assortments confirmed saprophytic germs, confirming a normal microflora favorable to the requirements of microbiological research standards.
- 2. Carp fish assortment confirmed the lowest number of saprophytic coccyx microorganisms both in the surface layers and in depth, ranking the fish meat of first freshness.
- 3. Mintay and Hake fish assortments revealed a variable bacterioscopic and bacteriological number of saprophytic microorganisms, ranking the fish meat of these assortments of relative freshness.
- 4. Investigations regarding the varieties of fish sold in the market and shops according to the microbiological conduct reveal that all categories of fish are edible.

REFERENCES

- [1]BÂRZOI, D., APOSTU, S.2002. Microbiology of food products. Cluj-Napoca: Risoprint Publishing House, 234p.
- [2]. DOBREA, M., 2014. Food biotechnologies. Vol. I. Bucharest: Printech Publishing House. 191 p. ISBN 978-973-718-917-2.
- [3]. DOBREA, M., 2014. Food biotechnologies. Volume II. Bucharest: Printech Publishing House. 187 p. ISBN 978-606-521-025-7.
- [4]. GOLBAN, R., 2015. Food microbiology. Course of lectures, UASM, Chisinau: uasm.moodle.md, 142p., 4.7 ca
- [5].GOLBAN, R., 2015. Biotechnologies in veterinary medicine. Course of lectures, UASM, Chisinau: uasm.moodle.md, 2015, 132p., 4.6 ca
- [6].SAVU, C., 2013. Laboratory control of food of animal origin. Bucharest: Transversal Publishing House. 406 p.
- [7]. TAŞBAC, B., TOGOE, Iu. 2017. Food microbiology. Vol.II. Bucharest: Larisa Campulung Muscel Publishing House. 101 p. ISBN 978-973-51-0274-6
- [8]. TAŞBAC, B., 2018. General food microbiology. Vol.I. Bucharest: Larisa Campulung Muscel Publishing House. 125 p. ISBN 978-973-51-0586-0.
- [9].TOFAN, C. Food microbiology. Bucharest: AGIR Publishing House, 294 p., 2004.
- [10]. ULEA, E., Lipşa F. Microbiology. Iasi: Ion Ionescu de la Brad, 202p., 2011.

HIND LIMBS PRESSURE ANALYSIS IN CHRONIC OSTEO-ATICULAR MODEL OF RABBITS

Ioan HUTU^{1,3}, Bianca Cornelia LUNGU^{1,2*}, Bratu Daniel¹, Spătaru Ioana-Irina^{1,2}, Torda Iuliu^{1,2}, Calin MIRCU^{1,2}

* e-mail of corresponding author: bianca.lungu@fmvt.ro

Abstract

Osteoarthritis (OA) is the most common joint disease. Animal models provide a clinically relevant way to study the efficacy and toxicity of potential treatments for OA. The aim of paper was to study the impact of some variables (housing conditions, treatments) on pressure exerted by the hind limbs of the rabbits as an indicators / control variables in chronic osteo-articular animal model (OA). A number of 38 (3-31/2 month old) rabbits in 4 groups (non-OA, OA-control, OA-treatment 1 and OA-treatment 2) where observed for 8 weeks period. Pressure and peak pressure were measured with MobileMatTM device. For both the left (FSX-L) and right hind limb (FSX-R), positively correlated (r=+0.693 and a p =0.000) the *Mann-Whitney Test* indicating a significant difference (p=0.028 and p=0.023) in the pressure exerted by those limbs depending on the post-operative or non-operative state of the rabbits. The peak pleasure for the right hind limb (FSX-R), was significant (p=0.019) in OA and non-OA comparison. Pressure exerted by this limb depending on the post-operative state of the rabbits. The peak pleasure peak pressure of left (FSX-L) and right (FSX-R) which are negative and significant (r=-0.425 and a p =0.008). In conclusion, the results of the study were not influenced by cage types and treatments but body mass and OA model are clearly associated with raw pressure and peak pressure on hind limbs.

Key words: osteo-articular rabbit model, pressure and peak pressure

Osteoarthritis (OA) is the most common joint disease (Sharma, 2021). As there is no proven disease-modifying treatment, it often results in chronic pain, physical disability, and impairment of life quality. It is a multifactorial chronic degenerative disease involving both genetic and environmental components (Goldring, 2006; Primorac et al, 2020). Due to an imbalance between cartilage cell catabolism and anabolism, cartilage proteoglycan at the surface is progressively lost, followed by collagen Type II degradation. As a result, cartilage fissures and cracks occur at the cartilage surface. As OA progresses, increased area of calcified cartilage and vascular invasion into the articular cartilage contribute to the decrease in articular cartilage thickness. Osteophyte formation and thickening of the subchondral bone are also hallmarks of OA (Goldring, 2006, Krasnokutsky et al 2007).

Animal models provide a clinically relevant way to study the efficacy and toxicity of potential treatments for OA. The rabbit model has been used in the past to evaluate the efficacy of various compounds in OA treatment (Rebai *et al*, 2020; Yan *et al*, 2021; Go *et al*, 2022; Wang *et al*, 2022). The rabbit offers the advantages of being easy to use and to have a similar gross knee appearance as humans (Pritzker *et al* 2010, Gregory *et al* 2012).

The aim of paper was to study the impact of some variables (housing conditions, treatments) on pressure exerted by the hind limbs of the rabbits as an indicators / control variables in chronic osteo-articular animal model (OA).

¹ Horia Cernescu Research Unit – USV Timisoara, RO.

² University of Life Science "*The King Michael I*" – Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, 119th Calea Aradului, Timisoara, 300645, RO.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

The Experimental Units of *Horia Cernescu* Research Unit are an authorised research infrastructure for using animal in the procedure of research projects where a number of 38 New Zealand micro-chipped females and males rabbits, aged 3 - 31/2 months, were used in a osteoarthrosis study. The study took place over a period of 8 weeks in the Experimental Units of the University of Life Science "King Michel I" from Timisoara under the Ethical Statement no. 87 07.05.2018 and Project authorization no. 002 25.06.2018.

A number of 38 animals were divided into 4 groups: A non-OA (12 rabbits), B –control OA (no treatments-9 rabbits), C – OA- treatment 1 (9 rabbits) and D – OA-treatment 2 (9 rabbits). After the accommodation period, in the first week of study the animal model was performed, followed in 2^{nd} week by first intra-articular treatment and in 7th week by last treatment.

The rabbits were kept individual in four different types of cages (LxlxH): standard (S) cages (713x716x476 mm, Techniplast®) with plastic floor with holes, cats (C) and dog (D) stainless steel cages (1490x640x1580 mm) with steel floor with holes and Guinea Pig (GP) doubled cages ($846\times610 \times 256+256$, Techniplast®) with plastic floor with square holes, in three rooms: rabbits room (14.69 m³), guinea pig room (10.52 m³) and rats room (11.35 m³).

The environment temperature and humidity were continuously monitored (every half an hour) by multi-functional wireless digital device Weather Station PCE FWS 20. The lighting program was 14 hours light /10 hours dark.

Each rabbit received daily 160 g of pelleted feed and water *ad libitum*.

During the trial, the body mass, feed consumption, average daily gain, feed efficiency pain scoring, the pressure of legs was measured weekly and clinical signs, telemetry temperature (Hutu si col. 2018) was observed daily.

Currently, the assessment of pain, suffering or distress in animals used in procedures is based on the physiological responses and behavioral changes that the animal exhibits. (Hutu, 2017; et all, 2020). SOPs, Mota-Rojas clinical Welfare Committee observation or controls together with principal investigator. In addition of pain scoring chart, when the trend of body weight is decreasing, below the lower action limit (LAL = X \pm 1.96x $\sqrt{2xSD}$ for two consecutive measurements in \leq 15 days) the animal is takeout form the study group.

The modified *MobileMat*[™] device was the instrument for measuring the i) pressure and ii) peak pressure exerted by the hind limbs of rabbits (Hall *et al*, 2022). Data were recorded in 10-second intervals, thereby ensuring a detailed capture of pressure variations. A number of 2 to 6

measurements were made for each animal during the last two weeks of trial.

In the data analysis, were considered the variable: the post-operative or non-operative state of the rabbits, housing conditions, administered treatment and the number of measurements taken for each individual. The statistical tests used were: ANOVA, t-test, GLM Analisys (Test of Equality of Covariance, Mauchly's Test. followed by Greenhouse-Geisser and / Huynh-Feldt) with reapeted measures using SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 17.0. (Chicago: SPSS Inc. USA). A P-value of <0.05 was considered to be statistically significant.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

Pressure results (*Figure 1*). The results of the statistical analysis revealed the impact of the OA animal model (operated at right knees) vs. Non-OA pressure exerted by the limbs of the rabbits. For both the left (FSX-L) and right hind limb (FSX-R), the *Mann-Whitney Test* indicating a significant difference (p=0.028 and p=0.023) in the pressure exerted by those limbs depending on the post-operative or non-operative state of the rabbits.



Figure 1. Pressure distribution on left (red) and right (green line) during 10 seconds of measurement (Group B, rabbit no 15)

By the results of *Mann-Whitney Test* the type of cage did not impact significant the level of pressure of legs (FSX-R, p=0.652 and FSX-L, p = 0.743. Also, the differences between pressures of legs in terms of absolute value (p=0.745) and percent (p=0.674) was not significant.

In complementing the previous analysis, it is essential to mention that the variable related to the treatment administered to the rabbits did not have a significant impact on any of the studied pressure on left (p=0.119) or right legs (p=0.133).

A significant *Pearson correlations* was observed between the pressure exerted by the left and right hind limbs, with a correlation coefficient of r=+0.693 and a p=0.000. The left and right hind limbs was positively correlated with body mass (r=+0.420 and a p=0.009 and respectively, r=+0.549 and a p=0.000).

For the FSX-L - FSX-R difference, the Box's test of equality of covariance indicates that the assumptions of homogeneity of covariance was met (p=0.480). The multivariate test demonstrated that the main effect of treatment was not statistically significant Wilks' Lambda = 0.892, F=1638 at p=0.213 on FSX-L - FSX-R but the time x group (treatment) interactions was statistically significant Wilks' Lambda = 0.813, F=3316 at p=0.050.

Peak pressure results (*Figure 2*). The results of the statistical analysis revealed the impact of the OA animal model (operated at right knees) vs. Non-OA peak pressure exerted by the limbs of the rabbits. For the right hind limb (FSX-R), the study finds a significant difference (p=0.019), in the pressure exerted by this limb depending on the post-operative or non-operative state of the rabbits. In the case of the left hind limb (FSX-L), peak pressure test, showed a p=0.053, nearly reaching the threshold for statistical significance. The pressure difference between FSX-L and FSX-R (p=0.447) and the percentage difference between pressure (p=0.269) of the two limbs showed no significant differences.



(red) and right (green line) during 10 seconds of measurement (Group B, rabbit no 15)

Regarding the results of *Mann-Whitney Test* the type of cage did not impact significant the level of pressure of legs (FSX-R, p=0.574 and FSX-L, p = 0.847). Also, the differences between peak pressures of legs in terms of absolute value (p=0.661) and percent (p=0.646) was not significant.

In complementing the previous analysis, it is essential to mention that the variable related to the treatment administered to the rabbits did not have a significant impact on any of the studied peak pressure on left (p=0.217) or right legs (p=0.069).

A significant *Pearson correlation* was observed between the peak pressure exerted by the left and right hind limbs, with a correlation coefficient of r=+0.694 and a p =0.000. The left and right hind limbs was positively correlated with body mass (r=+0.432 and a p =0.007 and respectively, r=+0.531 and a p =0.001). The most relevant correlation is between peak pressure of left (FSX-L) and right (FSX-R) which are negative and significant (r=-0.425 and a p =0.008).

For the peack pressures the GLM analyses did not show any effects in our study.

One of the limitations of study was related with the short period of using pad pressure – last two weeks of the study. Perhaps, the longer periods between measurements will give more significant results. Thus, the pressure appear to be a better indicator than peak pressure in OA rabbit models but a real challenge is to keep the animals motionless on the pressure pad, which is possible with gentile training to avoid any pain in OA models.

CONCLUSIONS

Both pressures and peak pressure exerted by the limbs of the rabbits can be use for monitoring the OA model in rabbits. In a chronic model the operating (right in our case) leg is less used and the peak pressure of the body is greater on left part but the investigator have to chose a strong statistical model, recommended repeated measures in order to find the effects of treatments.

ACKNOWLEGMENTS

The research was financed by Extension Unit, ONG, in Research Contract no 6584 from 19.10.2015 – *Const analysis and evaluation of needs in Horia Cernescu Reseach* and Contract no. 8359 of 26.06.2018 conducted under condition of Ethical Statement no. 87 07.05.2018 and Project authorization no. 002 25.06.2018.

REFERENCES

- Benato L., Rooney N. J., & Murrell J. C., 2018 Pain and analgesia in pet rabbits within the veterinary environment: a review. Veterinary Anaesthesia and Analgesia. doi:10.1016/j.vaa.2018.10.007
- Davidson J. Spreadb d., 1975 Nutrition of the New Zealand White rabbit. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society, 34(1), 75-83, doi: 10.1097/PNS19750013
- Go EJ, Kim SA, Cho ML, Lee KS, Shetty AA, Kim SJ. A Combination of Surgical and Chemical Induction in a Rabbit Model for Osteoarthritis of the Knee. Tissue Eng Regen Med. 2022 Dec;19(6):1377-1388. doi: 10.1007/s13770-022-00488-8.
- Goldring, S. R. & Goldring, M. B. Clinical aspects, pathology and pathophysiology of osteoarthritis. *J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact* 6, 376–378 (2006).
- **Gregory, M. H.** *et al.* A review of translational animal models for knee osteoarthritis. *Arthritis* 2012, 764621–14 (2012).
- Hall P., Stubbs C., Anderson D.E., Greenacre C., Crouch D.L. 2022. Rabbit hindlimb kinematics and ground contact kinetics during the stance phase of gait. PeerJ 10(1):e13611 DOI: 10.7717/peerj.13611
- Huţu I., 2018 Manual de bune practice în unitățile experimentale. Editura Agroprint Timișoara, Vol. II, cap. VI, 207-234. ISBN: 978-606-785-036-9
- Hutu, I., Patras,I Gherghel D., Lungu, B., Mircu, C, Application of infrared thermography in rabbit

orthopaedic models, Lucrări științifice - Medicină veterinară, 2018, Vol. 61. Partea a 3-a.9-14, Editura "Ion Ionescu de la Brad".

- Krasnokutsky, S., Samuels, J. & Abramson, S. B. Osteoarthritis in 2007. 65, 222–228 (2007).
- Laverty, S., Girard, C. A., Williams, J. M., Hunziker, E.
 B. & Pritzker, K. P. H. The OARSI histopathology initiative recommendations for histological assessments of osteoarthritis in the rabbit. in Osteoarthr. Cartil. 18 Suppl 3, S53–65 (Elsevier, 2010).
- Mota-Rojas D, Olmos-Hernández A, Verduzco-Mendoza A, Hernández E, Martínez-Burnes J, Whittaker AL. The Utility of Grimace Scales for Practical Pain Assessment in Laboratory Animals. Animals (Basel). 2020 Oct 9;10(10):1838. doi: 10.3390/ani10101838. PMID: 33050267; PMCID: PMC7600890.
- Pelletier J.P., Kapoor M., Martel-Pelletier J. 2015. 174 - Animal models of osteoarthritis. Rheumatology (Sixth Edition), Volume 2, Pages 1454-1461
- Primorac D, Molnar V, Rod E, Jeleč Ž, Čukelj F, Matišić V, Vrdoljak T, Hudetz D, Hajsok H, Borić I. Knee Osteoarthritis: A Review of Pathogenesis and State-Of-The-Art Non-Operative Therapeutic Considerations. Genes (Basel). 2020 Jul 26;11(8):854. doi: 10.3390/genes11080854.
- Rebai MA, Sahnoun N, Abdelhedi O, Keskes K, Charfi S, Slimi F, Frikha R, Keskes H. Animal models of osteoarthritis: characterization of a model induced by Mono-Iodo-Acetate injected in

rabbits. Libyan J Med. 2020 Dec;15(1):1753943. doi:10.1080/19932820.2020.1753943.

- Sharma L. Osteoarthritis of the Knee. N Engl J Med. 2021 Jan 7;384(1):51-59. doi: 10.1056/NEJMcp1903768.
- Wang L, Zhao L, Shen L, Fang Q, Yang Z, Wang R, Wu Q, Xie Y. Comparison of the effects of autologous and allogeneic purified platelet-rich plasma on cartilage damage in a rabbit model of knee osteoarthritis. Front Surg. 2022 Jul 15;9:911468. doi: 10.3389/fsurg.2022.911468.
- Yan F, Zhao X, Duan S, Maimaiti A, Qi Y, Li M, Maimaiti M, Li W. High fibular osteotomy ameliorates medial compartment knee osteoarthritis in a rabbit model. J Biomech. 2021 Nov9;128:110734.doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2021.11 0734
- Yoshioka M., Coutts R.D., Amiel D., Hacker S.A. Characterization of a model of osteoarthritis in the rabbit knee Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 1996 Jun;4(2):87-98. doi:10.1016/s1063-4584(05)80318-8.
- ***FELASA working group on revision of guidelines for health monitoring of rodents and rabbits; Mähler Convenor M, Berard M, Feinstein R, Gallagher A, Illgen-Wilcke B, Pritchett-Corning K, Raspa M. FELASA recommendations for the health monitoring of mouse, rat, hamster, guinea pig and rabbit colonies in breeding and experimental units. Lab Anim. 2014 Jul;48(3):178-192. doi: 10.1177/0023677213516312. Epub 2014 Feb 4. Erratum in: Lab Anim. 2015 Jan;49(1):88. PMID: 24496575.

IN VITRO BISPHENOL A EFFECT ON TFAM AND SIRT1 GENE EXPRESSION IN PORCINE OOCYTE MITOCHONDRIA

Ioana-Irina Spătaru¹, Oana-Maria Boldura¹, Bianca Cornelia Lungu¹, Simona Marc^{1,} Iuliu Torda¹, Bratu Daniel¹, Gabriel Otavă¹, Ioan Huțu¹, Călin Mircu¹

e-mail: oanaboldura@usvt.ro

Abstract

Mitochondria are the main cellular organelle responsible for energy production, having an essential role in maintaining cellular homeostasis. In this study, the gene expression of *TFAM* (Transcription Factor A Mitochondrial) and *SIRT1* (Silent Information Regulator) in sow oocytes cultured in vitro was assessed using the RT-qPCR reaction. The primers were tailored after our own design. The groups were: V1 (matured oocytes, control group), V2 (matured oocytes with hormones), V3 (medium supplemented with Bisphenol A), V4 (medium supplemented with Bisphenol A and hormones). Our findings reveal a reduction in *SIRT1* activity following maturation in all experimental groups, while *TFAM* activity displayed more elevated levels, seemingly independent of the *SIRT1* gene expression. The highest values of gene expression for *TFAM* and *SIRT1* were obtained in V2 (supplemented with FSH and LH, - 0.277 and 0.010) and V4 (FSH, LH and bisphenol A - 0.272 and 0.015) without significant differences (p=0.941). Bisphenol A alone generated low values, presumably due to its endocrine disruptor action. We concluded that FSH/LH addition might rescue some of the *TFAM* expression during bisphenol treatment, but the mechanism might be independent of *SIRT1*.

Key words: sow oocyte mitochondria, TFAM and SIRT1 expression, bisphenol A

Mitochondria is the maternally inherited cell organelle that uses highly efficient oxidative phosphorylation pathways to supply ATP. Except for the nucleus, mitochondria are the only cellular organelles with their own genetic information called mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA).

For transcription and translation, the availability of a sufficient number of functional mitochondria is very important, because oocyte maturation requires a large amount of ATP. Given that the mitochondria of immature oocytes do not provide sufficient energy, it is likely that the energy to support oocyte maturation is mainly carried out by cumulus cells and granulosa cells.

In the case of oocytes that have ovulated, they lose their connections with the cumulus cells that have provided them with energy so far and must activate their own mitochondria. By the time of final maturation of the oocytes, a sufficient number of mitochondria has accumulated.

In both humans and animals, the mid-cycle LH surge activates the luteinizing hormone receptor (LHR), also known as the luteinizing hormone/chorionic gonadotropin receptor (LHCGR). LHR is mainly expressed in the cells of the granulosa wall of the ovarian follicle.

FSH can indirectly influence cellular processes, including the expression of genes such

as *SIRT1* and *TFAM*, which are involved in mitochondrial function and other cellular functions. While FSH is not directly involved in mitochondrial function, the energy demands of follicular growth and maturation may indirectly impact mitochondrial activity. Increased energy requirements may influence the expression and activity of *SIRT1*, which is a regulator of mitochondrial function and cellular metabolism. FSH's role in ovarian follicle development may indirectly affect *TFAM* expression, as healthy mitochondria are crucial for follicular growth.

The biological actions of LH are necessary for oocyte maturation, ovulation and corpus luteum function. In the ovarian follicle, these actions are mediated by LHR which is coupled to Gs, the G protein that activates adenylate cyclase and cAMP. This results in an increase in follicular cAMP levels that affects multiple molecules of the follicle LH signaling pathway. These pathways ultimately activate maturation-promoting factor (MPF) in the oocyte inducing oocyte maturation, resumption of meiosis, and the first meiotic division.

LH primarily functions in the context of the reproductive system and ovulation. Its indirect effects on genes like *SIRT1* and *TFAM* are mediated through hormonal changes associated

with the estral cycle, such as progesterone and estradiol fluctuations.

Supplemented FSH and LH in the IVM medium could promote the maturation rate, reduce the apoptosis rate of ovine oocytes and increase FSH concentrations in the IVM medium fluid. In addition, FSH and LH enhanced the expression levels of FSHR, LHR and GnRHR mRNA of ovine COCs. Wei et al. (2013) reported that FSHR, LHR and gonadotropin-releasing hormone receptors (GnRHR) are expressed in sheep ovaries.

The *SIRT* gene family encodes a cluster of proteins called sirtuins, which engage in an extensive array of cellular processes such as DNA repair, gene expression regulation, metabolism, and responding to cellular stress. Despite their vital functions in various cell types and processes, their specific roles within oocytes (immature eggs) remain less elucidated compared to their roles in other cell types.

SIRT1, in particular, has garnered attention in oocyte research. It is presumed to play a role in regulating various facets of oocyte development and maturation, encompassing DNA repair, mitochondrial function, and modifications to epigenetic markers. These processes are pivotal for fostering the development of a healthy oocyte capable of fertilization and supporting the growth of a viable embryo.

In contrast, *TFAM* (Transcription Factor A Mitochondrial) gene is not commonly associated

MATERIAL AND METHOD

In vitro maturation of sow cumulusoocyte complexes

The ovaries (n=25) were obtained from slaughterhouses. To collect the oocytes we used the follicle aspiration method. Follicular fluid was aspirated into a 5 ml syringe and then placed into sterile 50 ml tubes containing PBS (D8662, Sigma Aldrich).

Using sterile pipettes, the sediment was removed and transferred to Petri dishes containing PBS for the first washing. For the third and fourth washing, the oocytes were transferred to TCM solution and finally, to 400 μ l of TCM medium without any supplement (group V1), supplemented with hormones (group V2), with bisphenol A (group V3) and with hormones and bisphenol A (group V4).

In this study, 50 COCs were obtained and classified according to their morphological aspects using a stereomicroscope (Stemi 2000-C, ZEISS) with a hot plate (33.4° C), as follows: class I - (COC with unexpanded and compact cumulus, with full or at least 5 layers of cumulus cells, clearly visible cytoplasm, dense and homogeneous, class II – (COC with compact, thick cumulus, 2-4 layers of cumulus cells, covering all zona pellucida, dense cytoplasm,

with explicit functions in oocytes. Instead, TFAM is chiefly recognized for its indispensable role in governing mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) within cells, especially in the context of mitochondrial function and the creation of new mitochondria (mitochondrial biogenesis).

Bisphenol A (BPA) is an industrial compound widely used in the manufacture of various polycarbonate plastic products and which, once in the body, interferes with the proper functioning of the endocrine system, exerting effects of the type induced by the action of estrogens, widespread with estrogen-like characteristics and is widely used. Long-term exposure to BPA can affect the normal functioning of the mammalian reproductive, immune, and neuroendocrine systems.

Following an in vivo experiment on mice, Zhang et al. (2017) found that certain concentrations of BPA can disrupt spindle formation, chromosome synapsis, and kinetochore microtubule assembly. Thus, these events can affect the release of the first polar globe, disrupting the meiotic process and ultimately affecting the reproductive capacity of mammals.

In our study, we highlighted the effect of hormones together with that of bisphenol A added to the oocyte culture medium, an effect that was later expressed by the expression levels of the two genes: *SIRT* and *TFAM*, both genes influencing mitochondrial activity.

with uniform granulation).In this study, only class I and class II were used.

The TCM 199 maturation medium was prepared in our lab and consisted of 1510 mg TCM199 with Earle's salts (M2520, Sigma Altrich); 220 mg NaHCO3, 2.2 mg sodium pyruvate, 5 μ l gentamicin added to 100 ml sterile water, with final pH 7.2, filtered within 0.2 μ m filter (Fresenius Kabi) and kept at 40C, ready to use.

Maturation plates with TCM-199 medium were equilibrated at a temperature of 39°C and an atmosphere of 5% CO2 for 24h without the addition of hormones, these being added later on the day of using the medium. In each well of the plate, 400 µl of TCM medium were introduced, as follows: no supplement added (group V1), supplemented with 10 IU PMSG (Folligon, Intervet), 10 IU HCG (Chorulon, Intervet) (group V2), with bisphenol A (group V3) and with hormones and bisphenol A (group V4).

The maturation was carried out for 22h in the medium with hormones, then they were washed once in the PBS washing medium and inserted into eppendorf tubes, following which they were subjected to gene expression analyses.

Gene expression analyses

For isolating total RNA, we have washed the matured oocytes with PBS buffer and the mixture was subsequently centrifuge for 10 minutes at 2500G. basically it was used the SV Total RNA

Isolation System kit (Promega, Oregon, USA) with respect to producer s instructions. For synthesizing cDNA we have used High Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Thermo Scientific, Lithuania).

Following this step, cDNA served as a template for RT-qPCR reaction run on Stratagene Mx3000P real-time PCR equipment (Agilent) based on the protocol accompaning the qRT-PCR Brilliant III SYBR Master Mix kit (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA. USA), with beta-actin as reference gene.

The primer sequences used in this study were designed online, based on reference mRNA sequences from NCBI databases, using Primer 3 software with the pick primers function. Thus, for the *SIRT1* gene, the sequence Sus scrofa sirtuin 1 (*SIRT1*) mRNA, accession number EU030283.3 was used as matrix and for the TFAM gene was used as matrix, the sequence Sus scrofa transcription factor A, mitochondrial (TFAM), mRNA, accession number NM_001130211.1.

The primers sequences designed and used in this study were: *SIRT1* Forward 5' TGGCGGCTGAGAGGGAG 3' and Reverse 5' CCCGGCCCATTGTTTCCT 3'. The reference gene was β -actine with the sequence Forward 5' CTCGATATGAAGTGCGACG 3' and reverse 5' GTGATCTCCTTCTGCATCCTGTC 3'.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

As we know, both SIRT1 and TFAM are involved in the regulation of mitochondrial biogenesis, which is the process of generating new mitochondria. *SIRT1*, through its deacetylase activity, can regulate the activity of various transcription factors, including PGC-1 α (Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor Gamma Coactivator 1-alpha), which plays a central role in mitochondrial biogenesis.

TFAM, as a transcription factor itself, is responsible for regulating the expression of mitochondrial genes, including those involved in replication and transcription of mtDNA. The coordination between *SIRT1* and *TFAM* is essential for the proper regulation of mitochondrial biogenesis.

SIRT1 and *TFAM* contribute to maintaining mitochondrial function. SIRT1's deacetylase activity can regulate the function of proteins involved in mitochondrial energy production and oxidative phosphorylation.

TFAM's role in maintaining mtDNA integrity and promoting mitochondrial gene expression ensures the production of proteins required for mitochondrial function.



Figure 1. Level of gene expression for SIRT1 and TFAM

For the *SIRT1* gene, hormones have hastened the maturation process because SIRT1 is low in group V2 (supplemented with hormones) and nearly absent in group V4. Based on the expression of *SIRT1* (the gene involved in the maturation process), we can conclude that hormones have partially countered the effect of bisphenol A. In group V3, the maturation process was slowed down.

The fact that they are higher in *TFAM* (groups V2 and V4) and lower (group V3) means that bisphenol A has counteracted the gene's effect.

In group V2 (where only hormones were added), the expression is increased because TFAM is involved in other processes. First, this protein maintains mtDNA copy number by regulating mtDNA replication. The mtDNA copy number correlates with Mt gene expression levels, but also with Mt respiratory activity.

TFAM may also exhibit a structural function that refers to the fact that it fully wraps mtDNA to form a nucleoid structure, like histones in the nucleosome.

Specific binding of *TFAM* to the two mtDNA promoters results in the activation of transcription by recruiting mitochondrial RNA polymerase (POLRMT) and mitochondrial transcription factor B2 (TFB2M). Nonspecific binding of *TFAM* enables the packaging of the mitochondrial genome into protein-DNA complexes for the formation of the mitochondrial nucleoid. (Hillen., 2017)

In group V4, hormones manage to maintain the gene's activity even in the case of bisphenol A treatment.

In all experimental groups, we observed a reduction in *SIRT1* activity after the maturation process, while for the *TFAM* gene the levels were higher, seemingly independent of the SIRT1 gene expression.

The highest values of gene expression for *TFAM* and *SIRT1* were obtained in group V2 (supplemented with FSH and LH, - 0.277 and

0.010) and V4 (FSH, LH and bisphenol A - 0.272 and 0.015) without significant differences (p=0.941). Bisphenol A alone generated low values, presumably due to its endocrine disruptor action.

As a metabolic and endocrine-disrupting chemical, BPA can affect oxidative homeostasis through direct and indirect mechanisms, including increasing oxidative mediators and reducing antioxidant enzymes, causing mitochondrial dysfunction, altering cell signaling pathways, and inducing apoptosis. BPA induces oxidative stress by decreasing antioxidant enzymes, such as superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase, glutathione reductase (GR), and glutathione peroxidase (GSH-Px). (Ma Y., 2019)

Guo et al. (2017) found that bisphenol A influences oxidative stress in embryonic development in sows. Thus, the embryo obtained in vitro is of low quality. Excessive production of free radicals and exposure to oxidative stress are the main obstacles in the development of embryos in vitro. When ROS production exceeds the antioxidant capacity of embryos, oxidative stress occurs. In early embryonic development, ROS production is important and excess will induce apoptosis and metabolic disturbances.

Doshi et al. (2011) observed that administration of bisphenol A to rats during the first five days of life induced hypermethylation of

REFERENCES

- Doshi, T.; Mehta, S.S.; Dighe, V.; Balasinor, N.; Vanage, G., 2011 - Hypermethylation of estrogen receptor promoter region in adult testis of rats exposed neonatally to bisphenol A. Toxicology, 289, 74–82.
- Dumollard R., Campbell K., Halet G., Carroll J., Swann K., 2008 - Regulation of Cytosolic and Mitochondrial ATP Levels in Mouse Eggs and Zygotes. Developmental Biology, 316, 431–440.
- Ekstrand M. I., Falkenberg M., Rantanen A., Park C.
 B., Gaspari M., Hultenby K., Larsson, N. G.,
 2004. Mitochondrial transcription factor A regulates mtDNA copy number in mammals. Human Molecular Genetics, 13(9), 935-944.
- Guo J., Zhao M.H., Shin K.T., Niu Y.J., Ahn Y.D., Kim N.H., Cui X.S., 2017 - The possible molecular mechanisms of bisphenol A action on porcine early embryonic development. Scientific Reports, 7, 8632.
- Hillen H.S., Morozov Y.I., Sarfallah A., Temiakov D., Cramer P., 2017 - Structural basis of mitochondrial transcription initiation, Cell 171.
- Kang D., Kim S., H., Hamasaki, N., 2007 -Mitochondrial transcription factor A (TFAM): Roles in maintenance of mtDNA and cellular functions. Mitochondrion, 7(1-2), 39-44.
- Larsson N.G.,. 2010 Somatic mitochondrial DNA mutations in mammalian aging, Annual Review of Biochemistry., 79, 683–706.

the promoter regions of estrogen receptors in the testes, thus leading to disruption of fertility and spermatogenesis.

We consider that FSH/LH addition might rescue some of the *TFAM* expression during bisphenol treatment, but the mechanism might be independent of *SIRT1*.

The melting curve analysis performed in the real-time RT-qPCR and also the obtained gene expression are entitling us to consider that we have done the correct primer design.

CONCLUSIONS

SIRT1 and *TFAM* are interconnected in the regulation of mitochondrial function, biogenesis, and maintenance. *SIRT1*'s deacetylation of *TFAM* and its impact on mitochondrial gene expression, combined with *TFAM*'s role as a transcription factor for mitochondrial genes, highlight their cooperative roles in ensuring proper mitochondrial function and health.

Dysregulation of either *SIRT1* or *TFAM* can have detrimental effects on mitochondrial function and overall cellular health.

Based on our working protocol and outcome of the RT-qPCR, we conclude that we have correctly designed the primers.

- Li, K., Ni, H., Zhao, Y., Liu, Y., Qu, Y., Li, X. & Guo, Y., 2011 - LH plays a role in enhancing the nuclear and cytoplasm synchronization during i maturation of ovine oocytes. Agricultural Sciences in China 10(1), 136-141.
- Ma R., Zhang Y., L. Zhang, J. Han, R. Rui., 2015 -Sirt1 protects pig oocyte against in vitro aging. Animals Science Journal, 86, 826–832.
- Ma Y., Liu H., Wu J., Yuan L., Wang Y., Du X., et al., 2019. The adverse health effects of bisphenol A and related toxicity mechanisms. Environmental Research.
- Tavakkoli A., Abnous K., Vahdati Hassani F.;, Hosseinzadeh H., Birner-Gruenberger, R., Mehri S., 2020 - Alteration of protein profile in cerebral cortex of rats exposed to bisphenol a: A proteomics study. Neurotoxicology, 78, 1–10.
- Vegetti W., Alagna F., 2006 FSH and folliculogenesis: from physiology to ovarian stimulation. Reproductive BioMedicine Online, 12(6), 684–94.
- Wang K., Zha Z., Ji, W., 2019 Bisphenol A induces apoptosis, oxidative stress and inflammatory response in colon and liver of mice in a mitochondria-dependent manner. Biomed Pharma, 117, 109-182.
- Zhang, M., Dai, X., Lu, Y., Miao, Y., Zhou, C., Cui, Z., et al., 2017 - Melatonin protects oocyte quality from Bisphenol A-induced deterioration in the mouse. Journal Pineal Research
SARS-COV-2 INFECTION IN CATS AND DOGS: CLINICAL ANALYSES

Serban MOROSAN^{1,2*}, Andreea COZMA³, Anca Dascalu³

Department of Public Health, Iasi University of Life Sciences, Romania¹ Department of Exact Sciences, Iasi University of Life Sciences, Romania³ UMS28, Sorbonne Université/INSERM, Paris, France² Pierre Louis Institute of Epidemiology and Public Health, Paris; and Pitié-Salpêtrière University Hospital, Paris⁴ *E-mail: serban.morosan@uaiasi.ro

Abstract

The zoonotic origin of the SARS-CoV-2 requires surveillance on animals. We report the potent active and previous infection with SARS-CoV-2 of household cats and dogs from COVID-19 owners in Romania, during 2021 and 2022. These results are in accordance with those reported globally, confirming the cross-species transmission of SARS-CoV-2 variants. However, there is no evidence that pets are involved in the spread of SARS-CoV-2 in humans, but are instead accidental hosts.

Keywords: dogs, cats, SARS-CoV-2, infection

INTRODUCTION

Since the first report of COVID-19 human case in Wuhan City, China, in December 2019, the SARS-CoV-2 were described as a generalist virus with a wide host tropism. Concerns were raised about the SARS-CoV-2 potency to transmit between pets and their owners

MATERIAL AND METHODS

50 pets (cats and dogs) that had direct contact with owners diagnosed with COVID-19 were sampled as follows: plasma samples, rectal swabs (RS), oropharyngeal swabs (OPS) and nasal swabs (NS). All plasma samples were tested for the presence of anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibodies by ELISA (ID Screen® SARS-CoV-2 Double Antigen Multispecies). Active infection was also screened from all RS, OPS and NS by RT-PCR (Thermofisher TaqPathTM Covid-19 RT-PCR kit 1.0).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

Out of plasma samples (5%) were found positive by ELISA. From the total ELISA positive samples, five were coming from clinical healthy animals (3 dogs – case CP20, case 22999 and case 23 and 2 cats – case 16504 and case 19195) that shared direct contact with their positive COVID-19 owners. With respect to the SARS-COV-2 positivity of the owners, the main symptoms described by them were consisting in respiratory (cases CP20, 23, 16504) and digestive signs (case 16504), while two cases were asymptomatic (cases 22999, 19195).

Other 3 samples (cases 21454, 21596 and 21526) were originated from dogs diagnosed with Canine Parvovirus (CPV) (n=2) and Canine Distemper virus (CDV) infections (n=1), further confirmed by immunocromatographic tests. Moreover, these 3 dogs shared a direct contact with their owners diagnosed with COVID-19 infection (all of them with respiratory signs), since they lived in the same premises.

The dog case 21454, CPV positive, was admitted to the clinic with the following clinical signs: vomiting, bloody diarrhea, lethargy and loss of appetite, symptoms characteristics for the CPV infection. The blood cytological analysis revealed monocytosis and neutrophil left shift, while the complete blood count (CBC) analysis indicated a decreased mean corpuscular haemoglobin concentration (MCHC). The dog fully recovered after the supportive treatment. The dog was in direct contact with the positive COVID-19 owner, presenting respiratory symptoms. The dog case 21596 confirmed with CPV infection, was

presented to the clinic with similar simptomatology: bloody diarrhea, lethargy and loss of appetite. The cytological examination of the blood revealed leucopoenia, eosinophenia, neutropenia, monocytosis and lymphopenia. Moreover, the case was confirmed to be Mycoplasma haemocanis positive, while the CBC analysis showed lymphopenia, hypochromia and anisocytosis. The dog fully recovered after the supportive treatment. The dog was in direct contact with the positive COVID-19 owner, presenting respiratory symptoms. For both cases of CPV infections, a simultaneous immunocromatographic was performed for enteric canine testing coronavirus (CCoV), resulting in negative status. The decrease of the white blood cells (WBCs) with leukopenia, along with lymphopenia and trombocytopenia are significantly frequent among dogs infected with CPV (Castro TX et al., 2013; Schoeman JP et al., 2013). The CBC analysis of the first case of CPV infection (case 21454) did not revealed the aforementioned changes, due to an early stage of infection.

The dog case 21526 diagnosed with CDV infection was presented with the following clinical signs: ataxia, incoordination and loss of appetite, symptoms specific for the nervous manifestation. The CBC analysis revealed anaemia. thrombocytopenia and a decreased of MCHC. Given the lifelong neurological symptoms, the dog underwent euthanasia at the owner request. The dog was in direct contact with the positive COVID-19 owner. presenting respiratory symptoms. The persistence of the CDV in the bone marrow is known to cause depletions, which affect the hematopoietic precursors, leading to a decreased production of the total leukocytes. Moreover, the decrease of white blood cells (WBCs) with leukopenia, along with the inhibition of lymphocytes, decreased in MCHC, anaemia and thrombocytopenia is well documented in CDV infection, as reported by Bohn AA, 2013, Carter CM, 2018 and Saaed and Al-Obaidi, 2021. The last 4 ELISA positive samples were coming from a cat (case 14754) diagnosed with lung adenocarcinoma, a cat (case CP14) with pulmonary strongyloidiasis, a dog (case 20687) with haem pericardium, hydro pericardium, splenic and bladder tumours and a dog (case 18476) with infiltrative myocardial pathology.

Therefore, the cat (case 14754) diagnosed with lung adenocarcinoma was presented to the clinic with the following clinical sings: low appetite, somnolence, hoarseness, dyspnoea and abdominal breathing. The CBC analysis showed lymphopenia, while the cytological examination revealed lymphopenia, eosinophenia and neutrophilia. For this case, there is no follow up information available. The cat was in direct contact with the positive COVID-19 owner, which in turn displayed body weakness and anaemia.

The cat (case CP14) diagnosed with pulmonary strongyloidiasis was presented to the clinic with chronic dry cough and suffocation, lasting for approximately 6 months. The diagnosis was confirmed by pulmonary radiography and parasitological stool examination. The cytological exam revealed neutropenia and lymphocytosis. The cat fully recovered after the specific treatment. The cat shared direct contact with their positive COVID-19 owners, which presented a mild disease with symptoms of fever, myalgia, sore throat, malaise, rhinorrhoea and nasal congestion.

The dog (case 20687) diagnosed with haem pericardium, hydro pericardium, splenic and bladder tumour was presented to the clinic with a poor body condition. Due to the unfavourable clinical outcome of the patient, the owner accepted euthanasia. The cytological exam, revealed eosinopenia, neutrophilia and lymphopenia. The CBC analysis revealed leucocytosis, neutrophilia and thrombocytopenia. The dog shared direct contact with the positive COVID-19 owner, who showed an asymptomatic infection.

The dog (case 18476) came at the clinic with the suspicion myocardial of hypertrophy. Echocardiography revealed significantly a increased thickness of the interventricular septum (10 mm, normal < 8.2 mm) and left ventricular free wall (8.7 mm, normal < 8.3 mm) in diastole with a reduced left ventricular interval diameter (12.2 mm, normal > 1.91 mm). The left atrium size was normal (LA/Ao of 1.35, normal < 1.6). The diastolic function assessed by trans-mitral flow pattern revealed a type 1 diastolic dysfunction with a E/A ratio of 0.64. Color Doppler interrogation of the valves revealed a trivial regurgitating jet over the mitral valve with a maximum velocity of 0.6 m/s. Aortic and pulmonary flows were laminar with normal peak velocities. Troponin level was mildly increased with a value of 0.19 ng/ml. There were no signs of pulmonary hypertension nor pericardial abnormalities. The CBC analysis revealed leucocytosis, monocytosis and neutrophilia. The dog shared direct contact with the positive COVID-19 owner, who showed an asymptomatic infection.

Similar results were found in a study from Italy in 2020 by Patterson et al., reporting a seroprevalence of 12.8% (6/47) in dogs in COVID-19 positive households. Several studies (Sit et al., 2020; Chini M, 2020; Government of Hong Kong, 2020; Davidson M, 2020; Volz A., 2020; Vlasov N., 2020 and Matthews S and Chalmers V., 2020) highlighted the fact that pets became infected by SARS-CoV-2 following exposure to infected humans in New York, Hong Kong, Belgium, Germany, Spain, France, and Russia.

The results obtained in the present study, are in concordance with those reported all around the world, confirming the fact that SARS-COV-2 infection can cross the species barrier.

CONCLUSIONS

This is the first study that highlights the potent active and previous infection with SARS-CoV-2 of household cats and dogs of COVID-19 owners in Romania. These results are in concordance with those reported all around the world, confirming the fact that SARS-CoV-2 infection can cross barrier-species. However, there is no evidence that pets are involved in the spread of SARS-CoV-2 in humans, but are instead accidental hosts.

REFERENCES

- 1. Tatiana X Castro, Rita de Cássia N Cubel Garcia, Luciana P S Gonçalves, Erika M Costa, Gracy C G Marcello, Norma V Labarthe, Flavya Mendes-de-Almeida. Clinical, hematological, and biochemical findings in puppies with coronavirus and parvovirus enteritis. Can Vet J. 2013 Sep;54(9):885-8.
- J P Schoeman, A Goddard, A L Leisewitz. Biomarkers in canine parvovirus enteritis. N Z Vet J. 2013 Jul;61(4):217-22. doi: 10.1080/00480169.2013.776451.
- 3. **C.M. Carter**. Alterations in Blood Components. Comprehensive Toxicology. 2018: 249–293. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-801238-3.64251-4
- 4. Andrea A Bohn. Diagnosis of disorders of iron metabolism in dogs and cats. Vet Clin

North Am Small Anim Pract. 2013 Nov;43(6):1319-30, vii. doi: 10.1016/j.cvsm.2013.07.002.

- Muhanad M. Saaed1 & Qaes T. Al-Obaidi. Clinical, Hematological and Some Biochemical Changes In Dogs Infected With Canine Distemper. IOSR Journal of Agriculture and Veterinary Science (IOSR-JAVS) e-ISSN: 2319-2380, p-ISSN: 2319-2372. Volume 14, Issue 5 Ser. II (May 2021), PP 26-33.
- Patterson, E.I., Elia, G., Grassi, A. et al. Evidence of exposure to SARS-CoV-2 in cats and dogs from households in Italy. Nat Commun 11, 6231 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-20097-0.
- Sit, T.H.C., Brackman, C.J., Ip, S.M. et al. Infection of dogs with SARS-CoV-2. Nature 586, 776–778 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2334-5.
- 8. **M. Chini,** COVID-19 update (58): Belgium, animal, cat, clinical case. The Brussels Times, 27 March 2020. archive no. 20200327.7151215.
- Government of Hong Kong, COVID-19 update (70): China (Hong Kong) animal, cat, pets & stock. Press release 0200402.7173286 (31 March 2020).
- 10. **M. Davidson**, COVID-19 update (124): USA (NY) animal, cat, lion, OIE, 20200423.7259119 (22 April 2020).
- 11. **A Volz,** COVID-19 update (181): Germany (BY), France (AC), cat, OIE animal case definition, 20200513.7332909 (13 May 2020).
- 12. **N. Vlasov,** COVID-19 update (212): Russia (Moskva) animal, cat, OIE, 20200526.7379578 (26 May 2020).
- 13. **S. Matthews, V. Chalmers,** COVID-19 update (334): Animals, Netherlands, mink, spread, UK, cat, first case, OIE identification number 20200727.7617582 (27 July 2020).

THE 3RS IN TUMOR MICRO-ENVIRONEMENT STUDIES: EMPIRICAL BASES OF THE ETHICAL REGULATION

Serban MOROSAN^{1,2*}, Andreea COZMA³, Anca Dascalu³

Department of Public Health, Iasi University of Life Sciences, Romania¹ Department of Exact Sciences, Iasi University of Life Sciences, Romania³ UMS28, Sorbonne Université/INSERM, Paris, France²

*E-mail: serban.morosan@uaiasi.ro

Abstract

With the general goal to provide a rationale for the application of the 3Rs rule (Replace, Reduce, Refine), we aim to study the effect of the tumor microenvironment (TME) on the tumor response to a chemotherapeutic agent and use this research as a series of case studies in which to assess the application of the 3Rs rule from an epistemological point of view. In particular, by comparing reiterated experiments using 2D and 3D tumor cell cultures with murine models of cancer, we aim to assess to which extent mice can be **R**eplaced or their number **R**educed. In addition, we propose to further characterize a novel, **R**efined model of cancer that better mimics humans in respect to classical murine models.

Keywords: 3R, tumor, ethical studies

The relevance of the tumor microenvironment (TME) for both clinical and mechanistic, biological studies on tumor pathophysiology is now established, albeit being a recent achievement. Indeed, the behavior of tumors and their interaction with the host, ranging immune response to cancer-induced from cachexia, are so deeply affected by the TME that current studies on cancer progression and response to chemotherapy cannot ignore this issue any longer. While it is obvious that tumor cells are within a three-dimensional environment in living organisms, recreating the correct tissue architecture in vitro to mimic the TME is not a straightforward endeavor. Since there are noteworthy limitations with two-dimensional cell cultures experiments, a major effort has been done toward the creation of 3D cultures, as they allow to understand how microenvironmental cues affect tumor biology (Hutmacher 2014). 3D constructs typically include extracellular matrix (ECM, Senthebane 2018), stromal cells (Vickman 2020), and/or immune cells (Di Modugno 2019) in such a way that goes far beyond standard cocultures approaches. The rationale for the in vitro approaches to study tumor biology stems from the regulations of animal experimentation (directive 2010/63/EU On the protection of animals used for scientific purposes) that require any experimental plan to undergo the review by

Refinement - which indirectly encourages in vitro approaches, as better detailed below. Indeed, current guidelines recommend that researchers dealing with animal experimentation must wonder whether and by what alternative setup the animals they plan to use might be replaced, whether and how their number can be reduced, and whether and how animal experimentation might be refined, i.e. transformed in such a way as to obtain better information with a lower number animals. This process either results in the use of *in vitro* models that are used in preliminary studies and even in the replacement of the animal models or it culminates with the argumentation that animals are essential for a specific research project and cannot be replaced. More fundamentally, the ethical advice given by ethical committees is based on a rather weird cost-benefit analysis. Cost is assessed on ethical grounds: the number and the well-being of animal models are the currency for the computation; benefit, on the other hand, is assessed in epistemic terms, namely, in terms of resulting knowledge. However, ethical and epistemic currencies are difficult to compare; importantly, the resulting knowledge is only assessed, in the published research papers, based

an ethical committee, before being approved by

requirement to pass this peer review is to follow

the 3Rs rule - namely Replacement, Reduction,

of Research: a mandatory

Ministry

the

on the research project as defined by the researchers, not on whether the 3Rs have been complied with. There is, thus, a gap between the way scientific knowledge results from the research process, on the one hand, and the ethical features of the process, when it comes to animal experimentation, on the other hand. How can this gap be filled? Probably by re-connecting more closely the ethical side of animal experimentation, based on compliance with the 3Rs, with the scientific goals of the researchers using animal experimentation. This may be done by relying on literature growing analyzing the the epistemological aspects of the use of animal models in animal experimentation (Ankeny & Leonelli 2011, Baetu 2016, Burian, 1992, 1993, Geison & Creager 1999, Leonelli & Ankeny 2012, Levy & Curie 2015, Weber 2014).

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Within TME and cancer cachexia research. the justification that animal experimentation cannot be replaced is usually based on the fact that in vitro experimentation on cell cultures is unable to capture the holistic feature of the interactions (I) within TME and (ii) of TME with other systems or organs, like muscles. Cell culture seem indeed does not adequate to investigate the complexity of these interactions. However, the latter idea is usually assumed rather that demonstrated: it represents, therefore, a prejudice. With the goal to provide a rationale for the application of the 3Rs rule, we had five specific aims. The biological part will aim to assess whether and to what extent the 3Rs can be applied to the context of TME, chemotherapy and cancer cachexia. The philosophical branch of the project analyzed the methods used to compute the number of animals required to test a given hypothesis and, a posteriori, the results obtained with the experimentation from the biological branch; in addition, the philosophical branch will address the issue of the correct way to formulate hypotheses for projects dealing with TME and cancer cachexia studies. The experimental models used in this study consisted, for the biomedical part, in 2D and 3D C26-tumor cell cultures, as well as in tumor-bearing mice (BALB/c mice subcutaneously grafted with the C26 colon carcinoma and the KPP mice, which represent an inducible model of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma). The fact that tumor-bearing mice are already in use in

the laboratory for studies on cancer-induced muscle wasting will avoid adding up a significant amount of extra animals to the experimental plan, since the analyses of these mice will simply be extended to the tumor mass in addition to the musculature.

The aim of the project was to investigate on the reproducibility of the murine models by cell culture models, which requires to drive conclusions from the comparison of results issuing from very different models; to do so, each set of data obtained from a given experiment was analyzed by comparison with its inner control (e.g. non-treated population) and expressed as fold-induction; negative controls was provided along with the positive controls, represented by some well-known outputs, such as the cytotoxic effects of chemotherapy on tumor cells (see below for further details). Thus, first the sets of data coming from the experimental groups was compared with each other, secondly the "behavior" of the data in different experimental models will be rivalled, and ultimately conclusions will be drawn based on the latter analysis. The epistemological analyses was rely on the experimental process in its integrity and will differentiate the kinds of reasoning involved at each step: comparison with inner control, with negative controls, among groups: construction of overall conclusions: assessment of the validity of the whole process. It is important to pay attention to involved inferences, because, in spite of being blinded, so to speak, in ethical agreement forms, they impact the way the 3Rs are complied with.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

The cytostatic and cytotoxic effects of cisplatin on C26 tumor cells are known and expected. However, we expect that the TME will affect the C26 cell response to chemotherapy and that the comparison of *in vitro* and *in vivo* results will show significant differences. This will say if, which one, and to which extent an *in vitro* model can replace the use of the mice. All of the above will represent an empirical proof of principle on the validity of the Replace principle. While performing and analyzing experiments in a reiterative way along the project, we expect the statistical significancy level to reach a plateau, indicating the existence of a minimum number of replicates necessary to demonstrate an effect (reduction of the number of experiments to a

minimum). We also expect that the different experimental models will reach this plateau in different moments, suggesting that one approach is more sensitive (refined) that others for this specific test. This task, also dealing with refinement, will complete the characterization of a novel animal model of cancer, in which the TME is closer to the clinical practice, being the tumor orthotopically and not ectopically localized and determining host (mouse) responses closer to humans: in particular the functional studies will show how cachexia drives the loss of skeletal muscle force and the increase in fatigue in this animal model. By comparing what researchers say in ethical agreement forms about animal experimentation and what kind of research results they obtain therefrom, we discovered ways to improve the mobilization of the researchers' knowledge about model animals in their implementation of the 3Rs.

CONCLUSIONS

Altogether, these results will showed the complexity of the TME can be recapitulated in vitro and to which extent; in addition, they will validate (or not) pre-clinical models of cancer cachexia in terms of muscle impairment, an issue that is particularly important on a clinical point of We will design a typology of the view. hypotheses that are characteristic of the TMEcancer cachexia field based on the degree to which complexity of interactions is involved (synchronically and diachronically) in order to assess their exploratory versus immediately testable features and the adequacy of the associated computation of number of needed animals.

REFERENCES

- 1. Aulino P, et al. Molecular, cellular and physiological characterization of the cancer cachexia-inducing C26 colon carcinoma in mouse. BMC Cancer. 2010 Jul 8;10:363. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-10-363.
- 2. Bruggeman AR, et al. Cancer Cachexia: Beyond Weight Loss. J Oncol Pract. 2016 Nov;12(11):1163-1171. doi: 10.1200/JOP.2016.016832.
- Damrauer JS, et al. Chemotherapyinduced muscle wasting: association with NF-κB and cancer cachexia. Eur J Transl Myol. 2018 Jun 6;28(2):7590. doi: 10.4081/ejtm.2018.7590.
- 4. **Daou N, et al.** Displaced Myonuclei in Cancer Cachexia Suggest Altered

Innervation. Int J Mol Sci. 2020 Feb 6;21(3):1092. doi: 10.3390/ijms21031092.

- 5. **Di Modugno F, et al.** 3D models in the new era of immune oncology: focus on T cells, CAF and ECM. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 2019 Mar 22;38(1):117. doi: 10.1186/s13046-019-1086-2.
- Domengé O, et al. Efficacy of epicardial implantation of acellular chitosan hydrogels in ischemic and nonischemic heart failure: impact of the acetylation degree of chitosan. Acta Biomater. 2021 Jan 1;119:125- 139. doi: 10.1016/j.actbio.2020.10.045.
- 7. Fiamingo A, et al Chitosan Hydrogels for Regeneration Infarcted of the Myocardium: Preparation, Physicochemical Characterization, and Biological Evaluation. Biomacromolecules. 2016 May 9;17(5):1662-72. doi: 10.1021/acs.biomac.6b00075. Epub 2016 Apr 25.
- Guttridge DC. A TGF-β pathway associated with cancer cachexia. Nat Med. 2015 Nov;21(11):1248-9. doi: 10.1038/nm.3988.
- 9. Hutmacher DW and Edna Cukierman. Engineering of tumor microenvironments. Adv Drug Deliv Rev . 2014 Dec 15;79-80:1-2. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2014.11.001
- 10. Leung M, et al. Chitosan-alginate scaffold culture system for hepatocellular carcinoma increases malignancy and drug resistance. Pharm Res. 2010 Sep;27(9):1939-48. doi: 10.1007/s11095-010-0198-3.
- 11. Li J, et al. A Novel 3D in Vitro Tumor Model Based on Silk Fibroin/Chitosan Scaffolds To Mimic the Tumor Microenvironment. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces. 2018 Oct 31;10(43):36641-36651. doi: 10.1021/acsami.8b10679.
- 12. Muscaritoli M, et al. Consensus definition of sarcopenia, cachexia and pre-cachexia: joint document elaborated by Special Interest Groups (SIG) "cachexia-anorexia in chronic wasting diseases" and "nutrition in geriatrics". Clin Nutr. 2010 Apr;29(2):154-9. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2009.12.004.
- 13. Senthebane DA, et al. The Role of Tumor Microenvironment in Chemoresistance: 3D Extracellular Matrices as Accomplices. Int J Mol Sci. 2018 Sep 20;19(10):2861. doi: 10.3390/ijms19102861.
- 14. Vickman RE, et al. Deconstructing tumor heterogeneity: the stromal perspective. Oncotarget. 2020 Oct 6;11(40):3621-3632. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.27736.

- 15. **Talbert EE, et al.** Modeling Human Cancer-induced Cachexia. Cell Rep. 2019 Aug 6;28(6):1612-1622.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.07.016.
- 16. **Tanaka Y, et al.** Experimental cancer cachexia induced by transplantable colon 26 adenocarcinoma in mice. Cancer Res. 1990 Apr 15;50(8):2290-5.

Article https://doi.org/10.61900/SPJVS.2023.02.17

DOGS AS SENTINELS FOR WEST NILE VIRUS? IASI, ROMANIA EXPOSURE

Serban MOROSAN^{1,2*}, Andreea COZMA³, Anca Dascalu³, Luciana Crivei³

Department of Public Health, Iasi University of Life Sciences, Romania¹ Department of Exact Sciences, Iasi University of Life Sciences, Romania³ UMS28, Sorbonne Université/INSERM, Paris, France² Regional Center of Advanced Research for Emerging Diseases, Zoonoses and Food Safety (ROVETEMERG), Iasi University of Life Sciences, Romania³

*E-mail: serban.morosan@uaiasi.ro

Abstract

West Nile virus (WNV) is an important zoonotic flavivirus responsible for mild fever to severe, lethal neuroinvasive disease in humans, horses, birds, and other wildlife species. Since its discovery, WNV has caused multiple human and animal disease outbreaks in all continents, except Antarctica. Infections are associated with economic losses, mainly due to the cost of treatment of infected patients, control programmes, and loss of animals and animal products. This cross-sectional study explored the feasibility of domestic dogs as sentinels to better understand risks of mosquito-borne diseases in Iasi city.

Keywords: virus, zoonotic, WNV, sentinels

INTRODUCTION

The One Health Commission defines One Health as "the collaborative effort of multiple health-science professions, together with their related disciplines and institutions-working locally, nationally, and globally-to attain optimal health for people, domestic animals, wildlife, plants, and our environment" [1]. The focus of One Health research and activities has largely stemmed from zoonotic disease activities and prediction of pathogen emergence at the animalhuman interface, such as avian influenza and severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS); however, the multifaceted and wide-approach scope of this concept extends to "megaconcerns", such as food security, food safety, antimicrobial resistance, and climate change, as well as the human-animal bond and socioeconomic fields [2,3]. While the One Health concept has attracted interest across veterinary, medical, conservation, and socioeconomic domains, concerns have been raised over the lack of governance in global health issues, and the difficulties of breaking down the siloed approach to health and translating ideas into action, particularly in developing countries [4–6]. Sentinel surveillance can provide a useful framework for enhancing collaboration across

sectors. Sentinel surveillance involves surveillance of targeted subpopulation(s), which may improve both detection of disease and cost effectiveness [13]. In simple terms, a sentinel may be defined as "an indicator of the presence of disease" [14]. Animals may be used as sentinels for various health risks, and a classic example would be 'the canary in a coal mine' [15]. Several positive attributes of the domestic dog

(*Canis familiaris*) have been described in the context of utilizing them as sentinels for human disease. In many countries they are ubiquitous, with free-roaming and scavenging lifestyles, thus exposing them to multiple pathogens and making them an ideal "sampling tool" [20].

The West Nile virus was the most described viral pathogen, with eight references whose publication dates were in the range of 2001–2017. Countries of data collection were Canada (1), China (1), USA (3), Morocco (1), and Senegal (1) as individual studies, and one study compared data from France, Chad, Djibouti, Senegal, Côte d'Ivoire, Republic of the Congo, and Gabon [30].

MATERIAL AND METHODS

We tested blood samples from 97 dogs (predominantly mixted breeds) coming from

lasi, Romania region. All plasma samples were tested for the presence of antiantibodies by ELISA (ID Screen® West Nile Competition species). Out of 97 plasma samples, 28 were found positive by ELISA, which means 28,8%. All this positive samples will be confirmed by seroneutralisation reaction.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

Our preliminary results confirmed the dogs infection with flavivirus.

Translating the theoretical idea of sentinel surveillance into a feasible and practical surveillance system requires examination of several factors. Firstly, the objective of the surveillance must be clear; for example, whether the objective is to measure frequency of disease or to provide a warning of disease emergence or expansion will determine which regions and dog populations will be most useful. The region(s) should be selected based on known or estimated prevalence of disease, or presence or risk of vector emergence, and sentinel units (e.g., veterinary clinics, shelters, and laboratories) selected to maximize the included population. Dog populations utilized would depend on the specific pathogen of concern and might include live sampling of dogs or the use of samples already taken for other diagnostic tests. Sampling strategy would be formed based on the objective of the study as well. For example, if the objective is to detect a new wave of viral transmission, then repeatedly testing naive juvenile dogs would provide an ideal sample, whereas, if measuring prevalence of a rare disease, dogs at high risk for exposure should be selected. The selected dog populations should be based on their availability for sampling, increased susceptibility to the pathogen in question, relationship to the pathogen and human population they are to represent, and the number of dogs available to sample. It is also important to note that, when samples represent a subset of clinically ill dogs, measured prevalence cannot be used to estimate regional prevalence.

CONCLUSIONS

Different studies suggests that the dogs can be a sentinel for West Nile virus infection but in our study, we can't conclude yet. These preliminary results have to completed with confirmation of the positives samples by seroneutralisation reaction and the human seroprevalence of West Nile virus in the Iasi region. We will use the same methods for human samples who are already collected.

REFERENCES

- 1. **One Health Comission**. One Health Commission: What Is One Health? Available online: https://www. onehealthcommission.org/en/why_one_h ealth/what_is_one_health/ (accessed on 31 May 2018).
- Gibbs, E.P.J. The evolution of one health: A decade of progress and challenges for the future. *Vet. Rec.* 2014, 174, 85–91. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Lerner, H.; Berg, C. The concept of health in one health and some practical implications for research and education: What is one health? *Infect. Ecol. Epidemiol.* 2015, *5*, 1–7. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 4. Welburn, S. One health: The 21st century challenge. *Vet. Rec.* 2011, *168*, 614–615. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Zinsstag, J.; Mackenzie, J.S.; Jeggo, M.; Heymann, D.L.; Patz, J.A.; Daszak, P. Mainstreaming one health. *EcoHealth* 2012, 9, 107–110. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Lee, K.; Brumme, Z.L. Operationalizing the one health approach: The global governance challenges. *Health Policy Plan.* 2013, 28, 778–785. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Woolhouse, M.E.J. Population biology of emerging and re-emerging pathogens. *Trends Microbiol.* 2002, 10, s3–s7. [CrossRef]
- Millar, B.C.; Moore, J.E. Emerging pathogens in infectious diseases: Definitions, causes and trends. *Rev. Med. Microbiol.* 2006, *17*, 101–106. [CrossRef]
- Taylor, L.H.; Latham, S.M.; Woolhouse, M.E.J. Risk factors for human disease emergence. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 2001, *356*, 983–989. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Jones, K.E.; Patel, N.G.; Levy, M.A.; Storeygard, A.; Balk, D.; Gittleman, J.L.; Daszak, P. Global trends in emerging infectious diseases. *Nature* 2008, 451, 990–993. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Cleaveland, S.; Laurenson, M.K.; Taylor, L.H. Diseases of humans and their domestic mammals: Pathogen characteristics, host range and the risk of emergence. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 2001, 356, 991–999. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 12. Woolhouse, M.; Gowtage-Sequeria, S. Host range and emerging and reemerging pathogens. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 2005, *11*, 1842–1847. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- McCluskey, B.J. Use of sentinel herds in monitoring and surveillance systems. In Animal Disease Surveillance and Survey Systems: Methods and Applications; Salman, M.D., Ed.; Iowa State Press: Ames, IA, USA, 2003; pp. 119–133.
- 14. **OED.** Oxford English Dictionary Online; Oxford University Press: Oxford, UK; Available online: https://en. oxforddictionaries.com/definition/sentinel (accessed on 17 September 2018).
- Schmidt, P.L. Companion animals as sentinels for public health. Vet. Clin. North Am. Small Anim. Pract. 2009, 39, 241– 250. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Halliday, J.E.B.; Meredith, A.L.; Knobel, D.L.; Shaw, D.J.; Bronsvoort, B.; Cleaveland, S. A framework for evaluating animals as sentinels for infectious disease surveillance. J. R. Soc. Interface 2007, 4, 973–984. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

PILOT STUDY REGARDING REPRODUCTION AND GROWTH IN SAINT BERNARD AND CAUCASIAN SHEPHERDS DOG BREEDS

Mihai BORZAN¹, Zoltan GAL¹

e-mail: mihai.borzan@usamvcluj.ro

Abstract

This retrospective, observational, descriptive study includes two large dog breeds, the Caucasian Shepherd breed and the Saint Bernard breed belonging to a kennel in Romania, and was carried out for three consecutive years, to improve breeding practices and obtain canine specimens according to the international FCI recognized standards. The fertility, fecundity and prolificacy, stillbirth, survival at 28 days, the average daily gain and weekly growth rate were recorded and compared.

Key words: canine reproduction, Saint Bernard breed, Caucasian Shepherd breed

Introduction

The study addresses to two large dog breeds, Caucasian Shepherd and Saint Bernard.

The Saint Bernard is a molossoid mountain dog of considerable size, with a strong, muscular body and an impressive head with an expressive face. The dog has a calm, friendly temperament, being used as a pet and guard. This breed of Swiss origin has two varieties: long-haired and shorthaired. the breed standard, being subject to constant changes over the years, the last version being published on 03.06.2016 (FCI-Standard N° 61, 2016).

The Caucasian Shepherd is a Russian, rustic, large-sized breed with a strong, harmonious body, with well-developed skeleton and musculature, almost rectangular in shape. Sexual dimorphism is well defined. Characteristic of males is the mane around the neck. The temperament of the Caucasian Shepherd is balanced, fearless, independent and devoted to the master, making the Caucasian Shepherd an excellent guard dog (Mars Pamela, 2010). (FCI-Standard N° 61, 2016 and FCI-Standard N° 328, 2011).

This work aims to evaluate some reproductive indices in the two breeds, such as fertility, fecundity, prolificacy, stillbirth rate and survival of puppies up to the 28th day of life, as well as calculating the average daily weight gain and the growth curve. The study also recorded the incidence of dystocia, the cause of dystocia, as well as the need for specialized assistance during parturition. The motivation of the study is represented by the lack of data published in the specialized literature regarding the two breeds, Saint Bernard and Caucasian Shepherd, as well as the small number of studies in the specialized literature regarding large dog breeds.

For dog owners, breeders and for Cynological Associations, it is important to diversify the database regarding the reproduction and breeding of pet and guard dogs, to provide, at national and international level, some information necessary for the standardization and permanent revision of existing standards, which bring the possibility of breed improvement, to the advantage of the animal, but also for the breeder.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

The conducted study was observational, descriptive, retrospective and was carried out for 3 years in an attested FCI kennel in Uriu village, Bistrița Năsăud county, on a number of 23 dogs, representing all the adult specimens kept in the kennel, respectively 7 females and 6 males from Saint Bernard breed and 6 females and 4 males Caucasian Shepherd. Breeding of females in the kennel was done by artificial insemination. The evaluation of puppies development, including weighing, was carried out daily, in the first week of life, as well as in the 2, 3, 4 weeks of life. The average weight gain was calculated as average ± standard deviation, based on the weights recorded at the times established in the research. The fertility, fecundity, prolificacy, newborn mortality and survival to 4 weeks were assessed. Based on the results of weighing the puppies, the evolution of weight and the average daily gain rate in the first four weeks of life (28 days), were calculated.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The results of the study are presented in Table 1. During the study, the analysis focused on reproductive indices, thus only the bitches were taken into the calculation of these indicators. The batch of females was similar in number of specimens, Saint Bernard 7 females, respectively, Caucasian Shepherd 6 females (Table1). The number of litters registered during the studied period was double in the Saint Bernard breed compared to the Caucasian shepherd breed, and the resulting gestations had the same distribution by breed, in favor of the Saint Bernard.

The average length of gestation in each of the two breeds was almost similar, all gestations being completed with parturition (there were no abortions during this 3 years period).

It should be noted that, although in the Saint Bernard breed the number of gestations was almost double, the number of puppies was almost half of the total number of puppies. (Table 1).

The number of live puppies resulting from gestations was almost equal in both breeds, and the number of dead puppies represented almost twothirds of the total number of dead puppies, for the Saint Bernard breed. In the Caucasian Shepherd breed, the number of stillborn puppies was lower, representing less than a quarter of the total number of puppies born for this breed. (Tab.1.)

In the Saint Bernard breed, 40 male puppies (live and dead) were born, of which 15 were stillborn and 44 females (live and dead) of which 15 were stillborn. At Caucasian Shepherd, 31 males were born, of which 7 were stillborn, respectively 38 females, of which 10 were stillborn.

Analyzing the number of puppies according to gender, a female majority is recorded in both breeds. The total number of females puppies born was higher, both in the Saint Bernard breed and in the Caucasian Shepherd breed. No major differences were observed between the genders. Out of a total of 71 males (St. Bernard and Caucasian) born, 22 died, resulting in a stillbirth rate of 30.99%. In females (St. Bernard and Caucasian) out of a total of 82 newborns, 25 were dead, the stillbirth rate being slightly lower 30.49% compared to males. The stillbirth compared to the sexes and the breeds was higher in the Saint Bernard breed, both in males and females, compared to the Caucasian Shepherd. In Saint Bernard, the stillbirth rate was higher in males compared to females (males 37.50% and females 34.09%), and in terms of stillbirth in Caucasian Shepherds, the rate was higher in females compared to males (females 26.32% and males 22.58%).

The stillbirth was higher in the St Bernard breed and the fertility, fecundity and prolificacy were higher in the Caucasian Shepherd breed. It should be mentioned that fertility in the Caucasian Shepherd breed had almost double values compared to the St Bernard breed.

During the studied period, most parturitions were natural, in both breeds, but there were also situations where the cesarean section was required. More than two-thirds of caesarean sections were performed in the St Bernard breed (Table 1). The reasons for these interventions were diverse, but mostly were due to uterine atony (Figure 1).



Figure 1 Reasons for the caesarean sections

			•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	,					
Total	Saint	Caucasian	Average duration	Saint	Caucasian	Total females in the kennel		Saint	Caucasian
kennel	Bernard	Shepherd	of gestation	Bernard	Shepherd			Bernard	Shepherd
23	13	10	61,57	61,81	61,33	Fertility	75,75	72,72	81,81
100%	56,52	43,48	Total parturitions	Saint	Caucasian	Fecundity	463,63	381,80	627,27
Total	Saint Bernard		Total parturnions	Bernard	Shepherd	Prolificacy	6,12%	5,25%	7,66%
	Males	Females	25	16	9	Total caocarians	Saint	Caucasian	
13	6	7	100%	64,00	36,00	TOTAL CAESALIALIS	Bernard	Shepherd	
100%	46,15	53,85	Total number of	Saint	Caucasian	14	10	4	
Total	Caucasian Shepherd		puppies	Bernard	Shepherd	100%	71,43	28,57	
	Males	Females	153	84	69	Stilbirths	Saint	Caucasian	
10	4	6	100%	54,90	45,10		Bernard	Shepherd	
100%	40,00	60,00	Total number of	Saint	Caucasian	30,72%	35,71%	24,64%	
Total	Saint	Caucasian	live puppies	Bernard	Shepherd	Survival rate at	Saint	Caucasian	
females	Bernard	Shepherd	106	54	52	4 weeks	Bernard	Shepherd	
13	7	6	100%	50,94	49,06	87,74%	81,48%	94,23%	
100%	53,85	46,15	Total number of	Saint	Caucasian	Total live	Saint	Caucasian	
Total	Saint	Caucasian	dead puppies	Bernard	Shepherd	puppies	Bernard	Shepherd	
matings	Bernard	Shepherd	47	30	17	106	54	52	
33	22	11	100%	63,83	36,17	100%	50,94	49,06	
100%	66,67	33,33	Total number of	Live	Dood nunnios	Dead puppies at	Saint	Caucasian	
Total	Saint	Caucasian	St Bernard	puppies	Deau puppies	4 weeks	Bernard	Shepherd	
pregnanci	Bernard	Shepherd	84	54	30	13	10	3	
25	16	9	100%	64,29	35,71	100%	76,92	23,08	
100%	64,00	36,00	Total number of	Live					
			Caucasian	puppies	Dead pupples				
			69	52	17				
			100%	75,36	24,64				

Summary table of studied parameters

Table 1

The survival of the puppies at 4 weeks was over 85% for both breeds, Caucasian Shepherd registered a survival rate of almost 95% (higher than those for the St Bernard breed). More than three quarters of dead puppies up to 4 weeks belonged to the St Bernard breed.

The share of caesareans sections for the total number of gestations was 56%, in St Bernard breed the caesarean sections had a share of 62.5% of the total gestations registered in this breed, and in Caucasian Shepherd it represented 44.44% of the total gestations per breed.

Mortality at 4 weeks was 15.47%, most of the puppies that died at 4 weeks belonged to the St Bernard breed (Table 1).

Analyzing the survival rate of puppies at 4 weeks, its value is higher in Caucasian Shepherd, (almost 95%), while for the St Bernard breed this indicator had lower values (respectively, slightly over 80%) (Table1).

After weighing the puppies, calculating the average weight \pm standard deviation, the values presented in Figure 2 and 3 were obtained.

It should be noted that, from birth, the males of the St Bernard breed had a lower average weight than those of the Caucasian Shepherd breed, until the 3rd week of life, their average weight constantly recorded lower values than those of the Caucasian Shepherd breed, but, in the 4th week they had a more pronounced increase in weight, so that by the end of the surveillance period, they exceeded the average weight values recorded in males from the Caucasian Shepherd breed. (Figure 2)



Figure 2 Body weight evolution of male puppies in the first months of life (grams)

The evolution was also similar in the case of the female puppies of the St Bernard breed: although throughout the studied period, the average weight of the female puppies of the Caucasian Shepherd breed had higher values than that found in the St Bernard females, the fourth week recorded more important values, so that at the end of the period, the average weight of St Bernard females exceeded the average weight of those from the Caucasian Shepherd breed (Figure 3).



Figure 3 Body weight evolution of female puppies in the first months of life (grams)

In the first three weeks of life, female St Bernard puppies recorded the lowest values in the average daily gain per week, but in the fourth week they had higher values than Caucasian Shepherd females and males. Although males and females from the Caucasian Shepherd breed had higher average daily growth rates per week, even from parturition, at the end of the fourth week, they had the lowest values (Figure 4).



Figure 4 Daily weight gain in each week of the puppies in the kennel (grams)

In our study, the average duration of gestation, for both breeds, was 61.57 days, roughly equal to St Bernard (61.81) and Caucasian Shepherd (61.33) and is similar to the data from the specialty literature (Linde Forsberg C. *et al*, 2007)

A retrospective study carried out by Bobic Gavrilovic on Drever dog breed, out of 285 mounted females resulted in 224 gestations, with a fertility rate of 78.6%, and the incidence of dystocia being 6.25%, the need for caesarean section being 5.36%. During the study, the stillbirth rate was 7.6%. In terms of female age, fertility decreased in 5-year-old bitches, bitches between 4-5 years of age had a fertility of 5.18%, and over 7 years of age fertility decreased to 4.24%. Drever dogs are a breed of Swedish origin, with short legs, used for deer hunting (Gavrlilovic B. *et al*, 2008).

In our study, the average fertility in the kennel was 75.75%, the lowest value being recorded in the St Bernard breed (72.72%), with lower values than those found in literature, but compared to the Caucasian Shepherd breed (81 .81%), a higher fertility rate was recorded than that reported in the studies found in the literature. We have to observe that there are no specific studies according to breeds from this point of view for the two studied breeds in the current specialized literature.

In a retrospective study carried out in Kenya, over a period of 15 years, 594 females of the German Shepherd breed were analyzed, and from 798 mattings, 594 pregnancies and 3592 pups resulted. The information was verified through the East African Kennel Club registries. 73.7% of the females were mounted, fertility being 95.5%, prolificacy 6.4, stillbirth 2.3% and mortality 11.4%. The average length of gestation was 60.6 ± 5.1 days (Mutenbei H.M. *et al*, 2000).

In our study, mortality in the first 4 weeks of life was 15.47%, in the first week of life the highest number of dead puppies was recorded (11 out of 13 deaths for the entire studied period).

The size of the litters in the canine species varies, from a single litter, especially in miniature breeds, to 22 litters in large breeds. The number of offspring is lower in 1-2-year-old females, at 3-4 years the number of offspring increases, and from the age of 5-6 the prolificacy decreases. Gestations with only one or two pups are prone to dystocia and subsequent stillbirth (fetal death) due to insufficient stimulation of the uterus and usually the increased size of the fetus, "single pup syndrome". This can occur in dogs of any size (Linde Forsberg C. *et al*, 2007).

The mortality rate in newborns is influenced by the following maternal factors: breed (large breeds have a higher degree of risk), nutrition (the diet of the female influences the physical condition and quality of the colostrum), lactation (if the female experiences difficulties with lactation or feeding the pups, they face a higher degree of mortality) (Mila H. *et al*, 2014). A study carried out in France, shows a mortality rate after birth of 22.8% of a total of 2288 puppies born, 70% of them died in the first week, and the stillbirth was 10% (Belin M. *et al.*, 2013).

Stillbirth, according to some studies, varies in the canine species between 10-35%, the average being 12%. More than 65% of the cubs died at birth and in the first week of life. The main cause of mortality was attributed to fetal asphyxia (42.5%), most pups, 82.2% dying during birth or within the first 24 hours (Linde Forsberg C. *et al*, 2007).

In Australia, from a total of 500 litters, 2574 puppies were born from 44 different dog breeds, with an overall stillbirth of 20.2%. (Gill M.A. 2001).

In our study, the stillbirth rate for the kennel was 30.72%, higher proportions being recorded in the St Bernard breed (35.71%), compared to the Caucasian Shepherd (24.64%).

Another study included 100 pregnant females of different breeds, resulting in 514 puppies (280 males and 234 females). Mortality in the first 21 days was 20.6%, of which 34.9% of the puppies died in the first 2 days post partum. The average weight of the puppies at birth was 514g, on day 2 the weight was 477g. Birth weight was influenced by litter size, with an increased number of pups at birth negatively influencing their weight. Mortality was associated with low body mass, with 81.1% of dead puppies having low body weight (Mila, et al., 2015). The main causes of dystocia in bitches are maternal in 75.3% (complete primary atony 38.9%, partial primary atony 23.1% and uterine torsion 1.1%), and fetal, in proportion of 24.7% (malposition 15.4%, malformations 1.6 % and fetal death 1.1%) (Walett D. and Linde-Forsberg C., 1994).

In our study, the main cause was primary atony, which determined the highest number of caesarean sections in the St Bernard breed. A study carried out in Great Britain shows an incidence of cesarean sections in the Saint Bernard breed of 41.2% (Jerold S. Bell *et al*, 2012). In our study, the share of caesareans in the total number of births was 56%, with St Bernard being higher (62.5%) compared to Caucasian Shepherd (44.44%).

CONCLUSION

The research represents a pilot study for the Saint Bernard and Caucasian Shepherd breeds, the type of research carried out does not allow the extrapolation of the results to the entire canine population of the two breeds.

During the studied period, 25 pregnancies were registered, resulting in 153 puppies (106 live births and 47 stillbirths.)

The prolificacy in Caucasian Shepherd breed was 7.66%, fecundity was 627.27% and fertility was 81.82%.

In St. Bernard breed, the prolificacy was 5.25%, fecundity 381.80% and fertility 72.72%.

Among the 14 diagnosed dystocia, uterine atony ranked first (7 cases). It is recommended to prevent uterine atony by ensuring a balanced diet and freedom of movement of females during pregnancy. Also, further surveillance is needed, a predisposition of the breed for uterine atony might be identified, but this was not the subject of our study.

Specialized assistance and monitoring throughout gestation and at parturition is recommended to reduce stillbirths and the increased number of cesarean sections in large breeds.

Survival at 4 weeks was higher in Caucasian Shepards, 94.23%, compared to 81.48% in St. Bernard. The number of dead pups at 4 weeks, compared by sex, was higher in females compared to males (5 males and 5 females in St. Bernard, respectively 0 males and 3 females in Caucasian Shepherd). It is recommended to carefully monitor the puppies, especially in the first week of life and ensure the optimal temperature and, if necessary, supplement the food with milk replacer.

In our study, the main cause that determined the pregnancy to end by caesarean section was uterine atony, which determined the highest number of caesarean interventions in the St Bernard breed, the share of caesareans in the total pregnancies was 56%, with St Bernard being higher (62.5%) compared to the Caucasian Shepherd (44.44%). In these large dog breeds, the study confirmed the high need for veterinary assistance at parturition. Because both breeds belong to the same kennel and they are kept under the same conditions (food, space, climate, care, etc), we can assume that the differences that we identified can be attributed to breed and genetic factors and not the environmental ones.

Although the males and females of the Caucasian Shepherd breed had higher values of the average daily gain rate per week, since parturition, at the end of the fourth week, they had the lowest values in the kennel.

Weight gain was generally higher in males than in females, for both breeds studied.

During the study, more females were born (44 St. Bernards and 38 Caucasian Shepherds), a fact that helps the selection and improvement of the breeds, through the easier possibility of refreshing the selected lines.

The different results obtained by other authors compared to our own may be due to different climatic and living conditions, different breeds differently adapted to local conditions, as well as the popularity of dog breeds in a certain place and year.

REFERENCES

Belin M. 2013 - Croissance et mortalité du chiot en élevage, Thèse d'exercice, Médecine vétérinaire, Ecole Nationale Vétérinaire de Toulouse - ENVT, pag. 80

- Catharina Linde Forsberg, Gunilla Persson, 2007 A survey of dystocia in the Boxer breed, Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica,;49(1):8., doi: 10.1186/1751-0147-49-8.
- Jerold S. Bell, Kathleen E. Cavanagh, Larry P. Tilley, Francis W. K. Smith, 2012 - Veterinary Medical Guide to Dog and Cat Breeds, CRS Press, USA, pag. 400
- Gavrilovic B. Bobic, K. Andersson, Catharina Linde Forsberg, 2008 - Reproductive patterns in the domestic dog - A retrospective study of the Drever breed, Theriogenology 70 (2008) pag. 783–794
- Gill Marilyn Ann, 2001 Perinatal and late neonatal mortality in the dog, PhD Diss., Sydney Univ., Australia
- Jerold Bell, Kathleen Cavanagh, Larry Tilley, Francis W. K. Smith - Veterinary Medical Guide to Dog and Cat Breeds, 2012, ISBN 9781591610021, Published February 1, 2012 by Teton NewMedia
- Marilyn Ann Gill Perinatal and late neonatal mortality in the dog, Phd thesis 2001, University of Sydney
- Mars Pamela, 2010 Dog Encyclopedia, Diffo Print, Italia, pag. 124
- Mila H., A. Feugierb, A. Grelletb, J. Annea, M. Gonniera, M. Martina,L. Rossiga, S. Chastant-Maillarda, 2014 - Inadequate passive immune transfer in puppies: definition, risk factors and prevention in a large multi-breed kennel, Preventive Veterinary Medicine
- Mila H., A. Grellet, A. Feugier, S. Chastant-Maillard, 2015 - Differential impact of birth weight and early growth on neonatal mortality in puppies, J. Anim. Sci. 2015.93:4436–4442
- Mutembei H.M., Mutiga E.R., Tsuma V.T., 2000 A retrospective study on some reproductive parameters of German Sheperd bitches in Kenya, Journal of South African veterinary association, Jun.71 (2000) (2), pag. 115-7
- Walett A. Damelid, Catharina Linde-Forsberg, 1994, Dystocia in the bitch: a retrospective study of 182 cases, Journal of Small Animal Practice 35 (1994), pag. 402-407

*** - www.fci.be FCI-Standard N° 328, 02.03.2011/EN

*** - www.fci.be FCI-Standard N° 61, 03.06.2016/ EN